TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES NO.

Remediation of Sites with Dispersed Radioactive Contamination



REMEDIATION OF SITES WITH DISPERSED RADIOACTIVE CONTAMINATION

The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAIJAN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURKINA FASO CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA CYPRUS CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA **ESTONIA** ETHIOPIA FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY GHANA GREECE

GUATEMALA HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA **INDONESIA** IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAQ IRELAND ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN **KAZAKHSTAN KENYA** KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT **KYRGYZSTAN** LATVIA LEBANON LIBERIA LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MOROCCO MYANMAR NAMIBIA NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA NORWAY PAKISTAN PANAMA PARAGUAY

PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL OATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA AND MONTENEGRO SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE **SLOVAKIA SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA SUDAN **SWEDEN** SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAJIKISTAN THAILAND THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

© IAEA, 2004

Permission to reproduce or translate the information contained in this publication may be obtained by writing to the International Atomic Energy Agency, Wagramer Strasse 5, P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria.

Printed by the IAEA in Austria June 2004 STI/DOC/010/424 **TECHNICAL REPORTS SERIES No. 424**

REMEDIATION OF SITES WITH DISPERSED RADIOACTIVE CONTAMINATION

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2004

IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Remediation of sites with dispersed radioactive contamination. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2004. p. ; 24 cm. — (Technical reports series, ISSN 0074–1914 ; no. 424) STI/DOC/010/424 ISBN 92–0–114603–5 Includes bibliographical references.

1. Radioactive decontamination. 2. Hazardous waste site remediation. I. International Atomic Energy Agency. II. Technical reports series (International Atomic Energy Agency); 424.

IAEAL

04–00357

FOREWORD

The IAEA attaches great importance to the dissemination of information that can assist Member States with the development, implementation, maintenance and continuous improvement of systems, programmes and activities that support a sustainable nuclear fuel cycle and nuclear applications, including the legacy of past practices and accidents. The IAEA has therefore initiated a comprehensive programme of work covering all aspects of environmental remediation:

- (a) Technical and non-technical factors influencing a decision on environmental remediation;
- (b) Site characterization techniques and strategies;
- (c) The assessment of remediation techniques;
- (d) The assessment of technical options for the cleanup of contaminated media;
- (e) Post-restoration compliance monitoring;
- (f) The assessment of the costs of remediation measures.

Dispersed low level contamination poses a particular challenge to those charged with its remediation. Many techniques are not efficient below certain concentration thresholds or entail more severe impacts on certain environmental compartments than the contamination itself. In such cases justification for remediation may not be given on radiation protection grounds, but remediation may still be demanded by the public.

This report examines a variety of technological options for dealing with dispersed low level contamination. The approaches are broadly grouped into the three categories of:

- (1) Non-intervention;
- (2) Containment;
- (3) Removal.

The techniques related to the above three categories may need to be chosen in conjunction or consecutively for any given site in order to arrive at an efficient and long term solution. These techniques are briefly outlined and their advantages and limitations are discussed. The need for a holistic design for the remedial action is stressed.

The extensive body of references provided will help the reader to find more detailed information.

The IAEA officer responsible for the preparation of this report was W.E. Falck of the Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management.

EDITORIAL NOTE

The use of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of names of specific companies or products (whether or not indicated as registered) does not imply any intention to infringe proprietary rights, nor should it be construed as an endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

CONTENTS

1.	INT	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1.	Backg	round		1	
	1.2.	Scope	· · · · · · · · ·		6	
	1.3.	Struct	ure		6	
2.	DIS	PERSE	D RADI	OACTIVE CONTAMINATION	6	
3.	FAG	CTORS	INFLUE	NCING TECHNOLOGY SELECTION	8	
	3.1.	Fundamental technical choices				
	3.2.	Technology sources				
	3.3.	. Effectiveness				
	3.4.	Cost			12	
	3.5.	Occupational safety and health				
	3.6.	Secondary environmental impacts 1				
	3.7.	Prior experience 1				
	3.8.	Socioe	economic	considerations	14	
4.	NO	NON-INTERVENTION				
	4.1.	Basic considerations				
	4.2.	Dilution and dispersion				
	4.3.	Natural attenuation				
		4.3.1.	Principle	es	15	
		4.3.2.	Physical	processes	16	
			4.3.2.1.	Radioactive decay	16	
			4.3.2.2.	Filtration	16	
			4.3.2.3.	Volatilization	16	
		4.3.3.	Chemica	al processes	18	
			4.3.3.1.	Precipitation	18	
			4.3.3.2.	Co-precipitation	18	
			4.3.3.3.	Sorption	19	
			4.3.3.4.	Complexation by organics	19	
		4.3.4.	Biologic	al processes	20	
		4.3.5.	Definitio	ons and applicability	20	
	4.4.	Alternative land uses 2				
	4.5.	Agricultural countermeasures 26				

5.	COI	NTAINMENT	29		
	5.1.	Enhanced attenuation	29		
	5.2.	Low permeability barriers	30		
	5.3.	Permeable reactive barriers	31		
	5.4.	Immobilization	38		
	5.5.	Biological barrier walls (biowalls)	40		
	5.6.	Phytostabilization	42		
	5.7.	Constructed wetlands	45		
6.	REMOVAL				
	6.1.	Preconditions and constraints	49		
	6.2.	Immobilization and solidification (ex situ)	49		
	6.3.	Surface and groundwaters: pump and treat	50		
	6.4.	Enhanced recovery	52		
	6.5.	Chemical extraction (ex situ)	54		
	6.6.	Hydrometallurgical methods	55		
	6.7.	Segregation	56		
	6.8.	Biosorption	56		
	6.9.	Bioleaching	59		
	6.10	Phytoextraction	63		
		6.10.1. Overview	63		
		6.10.2. Uranium removal	67		
		6.10.3. Strontium removal	68		
		6.10.4. Caesium removal	69		
		6.10.5. Phytoextraction project in Belarus	71		
	6.11	Rhizofiltration	72		
7.	SUN	MARY AND CONCLUSIONS	75		
RE	FERE	NCES	79		
GL	OSSA	RY	115		
CO	NTRI	BUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	117		

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

To respond to the needs of Member States, the IAEA launched an environmental remediation project to deal with the problems of radioactive contamination worldwide.

The term 'remediation' is used in this report to encompass all activities leading to reduced exposure to radiation and to an improved environmental and/or economic value of a site; it does not necessarily imply restoration to a pristine environmental state. The terms 'rehabilitation' and 'restoration' are often used interchangeably. In the context of this report remediation is taken to mean management of contamination (i.e. removal, containment and monitored non-intervention).

The IAEA environmental remediation project includes an IAEA Coordinated Research Project [1], as well as the participation of IAEA experts in concrete remediation projects when requested by individual Member States.

The IAEA has prepared several documents dedicated to particular technical or conceptual areas (see Table 1), including documents on the characterization of contaminated sites [8, 14], technical and non-technical factors relevant to the selection of a preferred remediation strategy and technique [3, 17], overview of applicable techniques for environmental remediation [5], options for the cleanup of contaminated groundwater [10] and planning and management issues [19, 20]. In addition, a number of other IAEA publications dealing with related aspects have been compiled under different IAEA projects; these include TECDOCs on the remediation of uranium mill tailings, the decontamination of buildings and roads and the characterization of decommissioned sites.

Detailed procedures for the planning and implementation of remedial measures have been developed over the past decade or so. A critical element is the characterization of the contamination and of the various environmental compartments in which it is found, in order to be able to evaluate the applicability of remediation techniques [8]. The chemical or mineralogical form of the contaminant will critically influence the efficiency of the remediation technique chosen. Careful delineation of the contamination will ensure that only those areas or volumes of material that are actually contaminated are treated [8]. This, in turn, reduces the amount of any secondary waste generated. Understanding the processes of migration and dispersal is particularly important when natural attenuation is to be relied upon as a mechanism for remediation and dose prevention (see Section 4.1).

TABLE	1.	RELATIONSHIP	BETWEEN	RELEVANT	TOPICAL
DOCUM	ENTS	PRODUCED OR U	UNDER DEV	ELOPMENT	

Safety	Management	Databases	Technology	Special topics
Management of Radioactive Waste from the Mining and Milling of Ores [2]	Factors for Formulating a Strategy for Environmental Restoration [3]	A Directory of Information Resources on Radioactive Waste Management, Decontamination and Decommissioning, and Environmental Restoration [4]	Technologies for the Remediation of Radioactively Contaminated Sites [5]	Extent of Environmental Contamination by Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) and Technological Options for Mitigation [6]
Monitoring and Surveillance of Residues from the Mining and Milling of Uranium and Thorium [7]	Characterization of Radioactively Contaminated Sites for Remediation Purposes [8]	Design Criteria for a Worldwide Directory of Radioactively Contaminated Sites (DRCS) [9]	Technical Options for the Remediation of Contaminated Groundwater [10]	The Long-term Stabilization of Uranium Mill Tailings: Final Report on the Co-ordinated Research Project 2000– 2004 [1]
Remediation of Areas Contaminated by Past Activities and Accidents [11]	Compliance Monitoring for Remediated Sites [12]	A Worldwide Directory of Radioactively Contaminated Sites (DRCS), http://www- drcs.iaea.org [13]	Site Characterization Techniques Used in Environmental Restoration Activities [14]	Remediation of Sites Contaminated by Hazardous and Radioactive Substances [15]

Safety	Management	Databases	Technology	Special topics
Derivation of Remediation Values for Areas with Radioactive Residues from Past Activities and Accidents and their Implementation [16]	Non-technical Factors Impacting on the Decision Making Processes in Environmental Remediation [17]		This report	
Removal of Sites and Buildings from Regulatory Control Upon the Termination of Practices [18]				

TABLE 1.RELATIONSHIPBETWEENRELEVANTTOPICALDOCUMENTSPRODUCEDORUNDERDEVELOPMENT (cont.)

Although contamination may originally be dispersed, secondary processes may concentrate, fractionate or otherwise redistribute the radionuclides; for example, it was observed that Chernobyl fallout was concentrated in geomorphological depressions by near surface migration processes (Fig. 1) [21]. Conversely, erosion may lead to the dispersion of radionuclides, particularly in mining environments.

The application of a remediation technique requires holistic studies examining the technical feasibility of the proposed measures, including analyses of their impact. Consequently, input from various scientific and engineering disciplines, including the health sciences, chemistry, physics, geology, microbiology and environmental engineering, is necessary in order to develop technical solutions. It is also necessary to include information on the political, social and economic context. Factors such as the overall project cost versus availability of resources over time, public perception and the availability of skilled workers need to be considered [17].



FIG. 1. Schematic representation of radionuclide accumulation in topographical depressions due to near surface migration, soil erosion, etc. [21].

It is essential that the process of decision making be transparent, as this makes the decision taken more defensible to possible public scrutiny and is also an essential element of quality control. Formal methods to aid decision making have been developed over the years. A recent IAEA document describes these in more detail [17]. A generic scheme of decision making and technology assessment is given in Fig. 2.

Techniques for remediating sites with well defined contaminated areas containing relatively high concentrations of contaminants are well established. The remediation of dispersed contamination, however, still constitutes a challenge when considering factors such as expected dose, cost, public perception and anxiety, and minimal disturbance of the environment. Any remedial action in an area containing dispersed contamination has to be justified, in that it must remove or reduce the source term or prevent the likelihood of exposure to a harmful dose. In order to optimize the intervention, a reasonable balance has to be found between the risk of exposure due to the potential radiation dose and the cost of the remedial action [22]. Similar considerations apply to further lowering the residual contamination over larger areas following prior remedial measures.

As large scale remediation operations can be disruptive to agriculture, natural ecosystems or (engineered) waste management sites, suitable implementation strategies that take into account the socioeconomic boundary conditions need to be developed [20]. An earlier IAEA publication, which was developed following the Chernobyl accident, focused on the planning of emergency response and remediation measures [20]. Since its publication in 1991, extensive experience in related fields has been gained [23]. One of the main conclusions from this experience is that the answer to the problem should



FIG. 2. Phases of decision making in remediation strategies and technologies [17].

be sought in low cost, low intensity, low maintenance ('passive') and often low technology solutions. Treating the contamination typically gave rise to the problem of having to dispose of large quantities of slightly contaminated material, mostly topsoil [24]. In the case of short lived nuclides, in situ methods to prevent direct exposure or uptake via the food pathway have been successfully developed [25].

1.2. SCOPE

This report describes remediation techniques that are applicable to dispersed radioactive contamination at a variety of sites, including surface soil, the vadose zone, surface water, sediments and groundwater. This report does not consider protective actions or emergency countermeasures to reduce uptake in humans and domestic animals through the food pathway, for example by feeding Prussian blue to cattle [26]. Strictly speaking, these are not remediation measures, since they only disrupt certain exposure pathways; they may, however, be needed in intervention situations to supplement remedial measures. Guidelines on their application have been published elsewhere [27].

This report is intended for individuals interested in the design, selection, review or approval of projects to remediate sites containing dispersed radioactive contamination and provides a basic overview of the state of knowledge for decision makers in government and at the community level and for consultants.

1.3. STRUCTURE

This report is divided into seven sections. Section 2 outlines the nature of dispersed radioactive contamination. Section 3 explains the fundamental technical choices in making decisions about remediation and outlines basic evaluation criteria influencing technology selection. Section 4 discusses the monitored natural attenuation and other non-intervention options. Section 5 describes the technical options for containing dispersed contaminants, while Section 6 is devoted to removal techniques. A summary evaluation of the technological choices is provided in Section 7.

2. DISPERSED RADIOACTIVE CONTAMINATION

A variety of activities and accidents may result in dispersed (non-point) sources of radioactive contamination. For the purpose of this report, dispersed

contamination refers to the occurrence of concentrations of radioactive isotopes distributed over a wide area, where complete removal and disposal of the source is not practicable. Such contamination may present a hazard to humans and the environment. Examples of sources include inadequate practices for the management and disposal of radioactive waste, accidental radioactive releases to the environment, major nuclear accidents, nuclear weapon tests and incidents involving radionuclides at nuclear installations or other user establishments (such as hospitals and industrial and research facilities) [28]. A practice is any human activity that potentially introduces additional sources of exposure or exposure pathways or extends exposure to additional people or modifies the network of exposure pathways from existing sources so as to increase the exposure or the likelihood of exposure of people or the number of people exposed. Past practices that were not adequately controlled have led to significant radioactive contamination of areas in Member States. Some old facilities that processed radioactive material when radiation protection criteria were not as stringent as they are today are sources of radioactive contamination. Radioactive contamination can also result inadvertently from human activities involving processes in which naturally occurring radioactive material (NORM) can be concentrated, in areas not normally controlled by regulatory bodies, to levels beyond the limits set for practices [6]. Such activities include conventional ore mining and processing (such as copper ore mining, phosphogypsum production or mineral sands processing).

Contamination may take various forms and have different impacts on human health and environmental media; for example, a deliberate or accidental discharge of material produced during mining tends to produce dispersion plumes [28–31]. Conversely, accidents involving nuclear power plants have, in the past, led to isolated but widely dispersed hot spots of activity distributed across otherwise uncontaminated areas (e.g. Dounreay and Chernobyl). The two cases are distinct and pose very different problems for workers engaged in remediation.

International Commission on Radiological Protection Publication 60 stipulates that "remediation measures shall be justified by means of a decision aiding process requiring a positive balance of all relevant attributes relating to the contamination. In addition to the avertable annual doses, both individual and collective, other relevant attributes shall be assessed" [32]. Thus "remediation shall (a) reduce the doses to individuals or groups of individuals being exposed; (b) avert doses to individuals or groups of individuals that are likely to arise in the future; (c) prevent and reduce environmental impacts from the radionuclides present in the contaminated area" [12]. A generic reference level for aiding decisions on remediation is an individual existing annual effective

dose of 10 mSv from all sources, including natural background radiation. At existing annual effective doses of less than 10 mSv, remediation would not normally be justified on radiation protection grounds. An existing annual equivalent dose of 100 mSv (inclusive of all existing contributions, including doses due to the natural background radiation) to any organ will justify intervention under almost any circumstances [22]. Decisions on remediation will usually have to take into account other factors besides radiation protection and, in particular, the views of those groups of the public that may be affected by the situation and by any remediation action. In this context, the selection of non-intrusive and less environmentally disruptive techniques will be preferable [17].

Finally, whether the contamination remains dispersed over time will depend on the chemical and mineralogical characteristics of the contaminant, environmental transport processes and receptors. Physical, chemical and biological processes leading to the concentration and fractionation of radioactive species are discussed further in Section 4.

3. FACTORS INFLUENCING TECHNOLOGY SELECTION

3.1. FUNDAMENTAL TECHNICAL CHOICES

The objective of any technique used in a remediation project is either to remove or reduce the source term or to block the exposure pathways. This can be achieved in a variety of ways and needs to be tailored to the contaminants and pathways of interest. It may be necessary to use a suite of techniques to achieve the remediation objectives, especially for source term isolation or removal.

In the case of dispersed contamination, a rigorous assessment of the actual and potential pathways is required to determine the optimal action. This assessment begins with the identification and consultation of records, if available. The historical assessment needs to be confirmed by a physical site characterization, for example by walk-over gamma ray measurements. Detailed sampling and analysis may be needed to more clearly identify hot spots and to delineate materials that do not require further attention. In recent years, a variety of strategies and techniques for efficient site characterization have been developed [8, 33, 34].

Discrimination between zones containing different levels of activities is a major challenge in reducing the areas and volumes of material to be considered [8, 35]. Once a site has been characterized, the decision makers are faced with their first fundamental choice for the intended remedial action. They must decide whether they will:

- (a) Leave the site undisturbed, while establishing a monitoring scheme for determining the evolution of the site. This option relies on natural processes to prevent significant exposure. The entire process needs to be carefully monitored so that alternative action can be initiated if required.
- (b) Contain or restrict the mobility of the radioactive contaminants: this involves immobilizing the contaminants inside the area in which they already exist, reducing the potential for further migration or entry into active pathways of exposure.
- (c) Remove the radioactive contaminants from the site, using an appropriate treatment scheme: this involves extracting, concentrating and then safely disposing of the contaminants at another location.

The three generic options that represent the fundamental technical choices for remediation can be summarized as monitored non-intervention, containment and removal. Each of these fundamental technical choices will direct decision makers to follow substantially different paths with regard to their subsequent choices, actions and potential results, making available significantly different technological options for application (Fig. 3). In addition, since a variety of remediation techniques exist for containing, reducing or removing contamination, the technologies illustrated in Fig. 3 are grouped by the primary emphasis of the technology into containment and separation or extraction. The groupings are not necessarily mutually exclusive; for example, a barrier system may be used to contain and extract a contaminant, and, in some cases, the use of a particular technique may occur on or off the site.

This choice, as discussed in Refs [3, 17], cannot be made solely on the basis of scientific or engineering considerations. In addition to technical constraints, there may be a wide range of regulatory and socioeconomic constraints on the selection of an appropriate remediation or disposal strategy [17, 36]. Regulations in Member States may favour certain techniques and prohibit or discourage others. International agreements may also preclude or restrict some strategies. As has been discussed in detail elsewhere [29], the local population may want to participate in the remediation decision making process; public acceptability can be a major factor in selecting a particular remediation technique. Active inclusion of the public will increase their knowledge and awareness of the problem, increase acceptance of the



FIG. 3. Classification of remediation technologies by function (adapted from Ref. [34]).

remediation technique selected for deployment and increase acceptance of restrictions on land use that may result. Participation may also enhance the public's willingness to support the long term maintenance of remediation measures and related installations.

Once these points have been clarified, measures may be chosen taking the considerations described in Sections 3.2–3.8 into account.

3.2. TECHNOLOGY SOURCES

A wide variety of remediation techniques are now commercially available or at the demonstration stage. Although most of these techniques are generic in nature, others use proprietary formulations of reactants and other agents or applications that are protected by patents or similar means. Since the field is continuously developing, formal methods to assess the applicability and effectiveness of techniques have been developed [37]. Decision aiding tools make clearer the evaluation criteria used to support the selection of a technique to meet the remediation objectives [3, 5, 12, 38].

Approaches to selecting techniques vary from country to country. Some countries regularly undertake technology assessments to help ensure that

proposed projects are effective and efficient [39–49]. The findings typically are made accessible in technology directories [50–54] or bibliographies [55, 56]. There are also international, semi-governmental, industry or research community sponsored initiatives [57–65]. Technology and technology suppliers directories are available [66, 67]. Other Member States and organizations rely on informal approaches, for example based on personal judgement by experts and managers, to select techniques.

Once measurable remediation objectives have been established, several factors affect the decision making process [3]. These basic evaluation criteria include engineering and non-engineering considerations:

- (a) Effectiveness in remediating the contamination;
- (b) The costs associated with the remediation programme;
- (c) Occupational safety and health risks associated with the technique;
- (d) Prior experience with application of the technique;
- (e) Sustainability of any institutional control required;
- (f) Socioeconomic considerations.

3.3. EFFECTIVENESS

The use of the term 'effectiveness' in this section refers to the ability of the technique to contain, reduce or remove the contaminant in order to prevent exposure of humans or undue harm to other properties of the site. Typically, an overarching objective is that the remediation improves the radiological situation by removing or reducing the source term or eliminating exposure pathways that entail a health risk and that it is not detrimental to the environment [68]; for example, the annual dose is decreased, or the functionality of soils is retained or future land uses are not unnecessarily restricted.

Site specific considerations exert a significant influence on the effectiveness and efficiency of the chosen remediation method. Since the mineralogical and geochemical characteristics of the contaminant vary among contaminated sites, remediation methods are not universally effective and efficient. Methods to model and predict the effectiveness of techniques under consideration have been developed [69, 70]. The anticipated performance of a given technique can be simulated and compared with similar results from other techniques to facilitate the selection [71]. The remediation action will be complemented by a post-remediation assessment and monitoring programme to ensure its efficacy [72] and that also may be part of any institutional control required for residual contamination [13, 33, 73]. Steps have already been undertaken to incorporate remediation activities into the ISO 9000/14000 quality management systems [71, 74]. Record keeping is an integral part of quality assurance and/or quality control. It is essential that records be kept of remedial actions undertaken, so that at any later point in time their performance can be evaluated against the original design. Having comprehensive documentation available also facilitates intervention in the event of unsatisfactory performance.

3.4. COST

The term 'cost' in this section covers the direct expenditure of funds associated with the remediation technique. These include funds for licensing fees for the technique, for equipment, labour and materials to deploy the technique, for design, construction management and treatability studies, for operation and maintenance, and for monitoring and the disposal of residual waste. Standard engineering cost principles can be applied to develop cost estimates for remediation techniques. Major cost elements can be long term monitoring, surveillance and maintenance. Depending on the time for which institutional control is required, provisions need to be made for funding these activities over periods of decades or even centuries.

Cost data for a wide variety of remediation techniques are available from various sources; for example, the appendix of a recent IAEA document [17] provides an overview of remediation costs, drawing on national directories such as the Historical Cost Assessment System (HCAS) [75] in the United States of America, which provides useful material for a relative cost assessment of the techniques listed.

3.5. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The term 'occupational safety and health' in this section covers the potential hazards and risks to workers involved in implementing the remediation technique [3]. Safety risks may result from accidents during deployment. Health risks may result from workers being exposed to radionuclides. Occupational risks vary substantially among techniques and may be an important consideration in selecting a given technique.

Information on safety and health risks can be obtained from standard reference sources, regulatory standards, medical surveillance, safety studies, toxicological data and epidemiological studies [76, 77].

3.6. SECONDARY ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

The implementation of a remediation project may result in a variety of environmental impacts in addition to those resulting from the contamination itself. Environmental risk involves adverse impacts on ecological receptors located on or off the site due to a significant disturbance to the site ecosystem and its surroundings as a result of remediation; for example, certain techniques, such as the removal of topsoil or soil washing, may remove surface contamination at the cost of destroying the soil ecosystem.

Depending on the size of the site, an area larger than the actual contamination may be required for installations, the intermediate storage of waste and so on. The removal, transport and disposal of residual waste may result in environmental impacts and risks at locations other than those of the original contamination. There is, for example, little benefit in removing a contaminant that is well fixed on a low volume of soil, only to produce a high volume of an aqueous waste with the contaminant in a soluble or mobile form. In addition, the remediation techniques chosen may generate large quantities of secondary waste and may pose risks of exposure of the public or operators that exceed the risks of quiescent contamination [78].

Environmental risk resulting from the implementation of remedial actions may also extend to possible impacts on natural resources such as surface water, groundwater, air, geological resources or biological resources. The potential for environmental risk may be an important factor in decision making, since remediation technologies are more likely than others to produce adverse impacts on ecological receptors, including habitat disruption, or to generate damage to natural resources.

3.7. PRIOR EXPERIENCE

The term 'prior experience' in this section covers experience of implementing the remediation technique at other sites. It can be very useful to know whether the technique has been used successfully in the past. Information on previous deployments is available from a number of sources, including vendors, regulatory authorities, professional organizations, Internet databases, trade associations and publications (see Section 3.2).

3.8. SOCIOECONOMIC CONSIDERATIONS

The term 'socioeconomic considerations' in this section covers political, social and economic factors that may influence the selection of a remediation technique and its application at a site with dispersed radioactive contamination. The legal and institutional framework, prevailing socioeconomic boundary conditions and public perceptions can influence the choice and deployment of techniques to remediate sites with dispersed radioactive contamination [17]. The level of public reassurance generally increases with the degree of intervention and hence cost of the operation [29].

4. NON-INTERVENTION

4.1. BASIC CONSIDERATIONS

A decision not to intervene in site cleanup implies reliance on the capacity of natural media (rocks, soils, sediments and groundwater) to retard contaminant migration (i.e. natural attenuation) or on physical, chemical and biological processes to reduce activity levels to below those of concern (i.e. dilute and disperse). In either case, environmental monitoring is required to verify that such an approach is effective for the system under investigation. It should be noted that, ultimately, all remediation options that do not entail complete removal of the contaminant source would de facto revert to this solution if the half-lives of the radioactive species exceed a few hundred years.

It is also important to draw a distinction between those radioelements that occur naturally and those that do not, such as technetium and the transuranics. In the case of the former, reference may be made to the known geochemistry of the element in a given environmental medium. This provides a degree of confidence in predicting future migration behaviour. For artificial radioelements, experience is generally limited to laboratory data or small scale field trials. The use of 'chemical analogies' in this context may be necessary but is far from ideal [79].

4.2. DILUTION AND DISPERSION

Radioactive materials are discharged routinely into the air and surface waters, both fresh and marine, from nuclear facilities worldwide. Prior to 1985, dilute and disperse was also used for solid nuclear waste, although this practice has since ceased following the London Convention [80] and OSPAR (Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic) Convention agreements [81]. Fewer restrictions apply to non-nuclear radioactive waste, including effluents from mining and industrial activities producing NORM. In the North Sea, for example, radioactive scale from pipe work is removed in offshore facilities, milled and released with no further treatment [82].

The effectiveness of dilution in aqueous media is critically dependent on the speciation of the radioelement under the prevailing environmental conditions [83, 84]. This will control factors such as solubility, adsorption to surfaces, bioavailability and toxicity. Many radiologically important elements may be concentrated by geochemical and/or biological processes, leading to secondary sources of potential contamination [85–87]. Similarly, physical dispersion of solids may not always be effective if the size and density of the particles differ significantly from the ambient environment.

There is no doubt that, even where not proscribed by legislation, the dilute and disperse option is opposed by regulators, environmental groups and the public at large.

4.3. NATURAL ATTENUATION

4.3.1. Principles

The concept of natural attenuation has received a great deal of attention in recent years [88–91]: it constitutes the least invasive approach to environmental restoration. The concept is not new; for example, it forms an integral component of the design criteria for geological repositories that depend on geochemical processes to retard radionuclide migration to the biosphere. It is not entirely without financial cost. Reliance on natural attenuation requires adequate monitoring, owing to the evolution of natural systems with time and our incomplete understanding of the processes operating. The effects of any change in land use or in water abstraction would also need to be assessed, hence the increased use of the term 'monitored natural attenuation' in the literature [92–94]. A large number of processes can contribute to natural attenuation, as discussed below. Figure 4 illustrates the effect of some of these processes on the migration and concentration distribution of radionuclides. In order to be effective, they must prevent or delay the arrival of a radionuclide at a receptor until such time that it will have decayed to an insignificant level.

4.3.2. Physical processes

4.3.2.1. Radioactive decay

The half-lives of radionuclides now present in the environment range from microseconds to many millions of years. For higher members of the natural series (²³⁴U, ²³⁵U, ²³⁸U, ²³²Th), together with some transuranics (e.g. ²³⁹Pu) and fission products (e.g. ⁹⁹Tc, ¹²⁹I), no substantial decay will have occurred even on the longest assessment timescale. However, many other isotopes produced by nuclear fission (e.g. ⁶⁰Co, ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³⁷Cs) or contained in industrial NORM will not persist beyond a few hundred years. Clearly, it is therefore essential that a detailed radionuclide inventory be compiled before deciding to adopt natural attenuation as a management policy at any given site. The extreme fractionation between members of a decay series caused by chemical processing precludes the assumption of secular equilibrium in the majority of cases [95].

4.3.2.2. Filtration

In most situations the dominant exposure pathway is via flowing water. Resistate minerals (e.g. monazite, zircon and barite), other insoluble materials, for example cement, or particulate matter on to which radionuclides have become bound may be retarded by filtration. This will depend on the relative size of the particles and the pore distribution of the host medium, although even small colloids may be removed by fine grained clay matrices or fibrous peat. In the case of aquifer transport, adequate characterization of the hydrogeological flow regime (permeability, hydraulic conductivity, heterogeneity, fracture distribution) is a prerequisite for a quantitative assessment. Variably saturated conditions and geotechnical issues also have to be taken into account for surface deposits.

4.3.2.3. Volatilization

Radon produced by decay of parent radium isotopes will escape from well ventilated soils or heaps, and hence the progeny will be subject to



FIG. 4. Transport mechanisms effecting dilution and attenuation.

atmospheric dispersion. Methylated and permethylated forms of bismuth, lead, polonium and selenium (e.g. Ref. [96]) microbially generated in the subsurface can also be volatilized.

4.3.3. Chemical processes

4.3.3.1. Precipitation

Relatively few natural series radioelements and no artificial isotopes will exist in sufficient mass concentrations to precipitate as a pure phase from surface, pore or groundwaters: the exceptions are uranium, lead and thorium.

Uranium is a relatively mobile element in the near surface zone, owing to the stability of U(VI) aqueous complexes. However, it may be precipitated by reduction to U(IV) or in the form of uranyl minerals, principally phosphates, silicates, arsenates, vanadates and oxyhydroxides, several of which may occur simultaneously at the same locality [97]. Around 150 such phases have been identified and their formation represents the dominant fixation mechanism for uranium in weathering environments [97]. It follows that the amount of uranium released to groundwaters or surface waters from these secondary sources will depend on the solubility and dissolution rate of the phases as a function of pH and water composition. Unfortunately, too few quantitative data exist at present to allow predictive modelling [98, 99], an issue that needs to be addressed.

Lead, for example, may precipitate as the insoluble sulphide galena (PbS) that will incorporate ²¹⁰Pb by isotopic substitution. Thorium occurs only in the tetravalent state and is substantially insoluble except at very low pH. Where mobilized, for example in acid mine drainage (AMD), fixation occurs rapidly, often within a few micrometres, via the formation of silicates or, in the absence of silica, oxyhydroxides [100].

4.3.3.2. Co-precipitation

Radionuclides present at very low mass concentrations can nevertheless form solid phases by co-precipitation in mineral lattices. An important example from both a nuclear and a NORM perspective is the high selectivity shown by radium for barite, a mineral that has been very well characterized [101] and is also exploited in a remediation context (e.g. Refs [102, 103]). It is likely that transuranic isotopes would be similarly incorporated in uranium and lanthanide bearing minerals. There is evidence that this would be the case from extensive laboratory studies [104], although it remains to be confirmed in the field. Establishing the geochemical controls on migration of artificial radioelements is the major challenge to workers involved in the remediation of legacy nuclear sites.

Co-precipitation on ferric oxyhydroxide flocs is an extremely efficient removal mechanism for a large number of radioelements in solution. As the contaminants tend to be released upon crystallization to goethite, the process is often classified under the more general heading of sorption.

4.3.3.3. Sorption

In its strictest sense, sorption refers to the non-specific and reversible uptake of ionic species at charged surface sites. Used loosely, it has come to encompass aspects of co-precipitation, ion exchange and a number of ion specific interactions that are more appropriately termed complexation. The distinction is not made here other than in the case of co-precipitation, described above, as the latter clearly extends beyond the surface, resulting in the formation of a defined mineral phase [105].

Clay minerals typically show a strong affinity for radionuclides in the cationic form. Geological media with a high clay mineral content are therefore more likely to effect attenuation. Adsorption and ion exchange would be expected to play an important role in retarding the migration of soluble monovalent and divalent ions. Examples include the pronounced retention of caesium on zeolites (e.g. clinoptilolite) and the substitution of strontium for interlayer cations in smectites. Surface sorption is an important transient for multivalent ions in the formation of new mineral phases.

4.3.3.4. Complexation by organics

A number of radionuclides exhibit significant migration potential in the presence of aqueous, low molecular weight organic compounds [106]. Equally, however, immobile organic matter in the form of peat [107–109] or organic rich horizons in soils and sediments may provide an excellent substrate [107, 110] for radionuclide retention. These phenomena have been studied extensively in the context of 'natural analogue' studies for the performance assessment of radioactive waste repositories [86, 111–113]. Uranium approaching percentage levels has been reported in peat from Canada and northern Europe, whereas iodine, often considered to be a conservative tracer in such assessments, has been shown to be fixed in organic rich lacustrine deposits [114].

4.3.4. Biological processes

Biomineralization, 'biosorption' and microbially mediated phase transfer also can effect attenuation. These processes are discussed in more detail in Sections 5.5–5.7, 6.8 and 6.11. The complex biogeochemical processes effecting the fixation or mobilization of metals, including radionuclides, in various types of soil ecosystems have been studied with increased intensity in the aftermath of the Chernobyl accident [115] and in other remediation contexts [116].

4.3.5. Definitions and applicability

Whether to intervene or to rely on natural attenuation can only be determined on a site by site basis [117]. Factors militating against intervention include:

- (a) The areal extent of the contamination;
- (b) The accessibility of the site;
- (c) The proximity to sensitive receptors;
- (d) The radionuclide inventory;
- (e) The time frame;
- (f) The presence or absence of co-contaminants;
- (g) The chemical and mineralogical characteristics of the material;
- (h) In the case of surface deposits, the geotechnical stability;
- (i) The transmissivity of the host medium.

A comprehensive site investigation programme is essential to determine these factors.

The degree of confidence that can be ascribed to natural attenuation in preventing harmful exposure or environmental damage is proportional to the level of characterization of that site. Developing an understanding of the physical, chemical and biological processes operating is more crucial in the case of natural attenuation than if the contamination were to be removed physically from the site.

A decision to apply monitored natural attenuation (Fig. 5) as the preferred management strategy will invariably be made by considering a combination of scientific, economic and political criteria. Ideally it should be based on a prior risk analysis of the specific site and follow an established technical protocol [118]. Models exist for evaluating the likely performance of such systems, for designing the monitoring programme and for the interpretation of monitoring data [112, 113]. Given a backdrop of scarce resources, various initiatives are under way to promote the acceptance of natural



FIG. 5. The principle of monitored natural attenuation.

attenuation as a part of a cost effective and environmentally sound solution for radioactively contaminated sites worldwide (e.g. Ref. [119]).

It may be possible to modify some property of the media hosting the contamination in such a way that the retention capacity of the site is substantially enhanced. Examples include the addition of certain minerals, revegetation (see Section 5.6) and the creation of wetlands [120] (see Section 5.7). Strictly, any attempt to modify the characteristics of a contaminated site represents a form of intervention; for this reason, such measures are discussed further in the next section.

4.4. ALTERNATIVE LAND USES

When extensive areas have been contaminated, many of the discussed remediation methods may be too expensive to carry out or too intrusive. In particular, when the land was used for agricultural purposes, alternative uses may need to be considered. Such alternative uses may range from switching to different crops to turning to completely different uses, such as parkland. When selecting an appropriate countermeasure for a given area and contamination problem, the optimum solution will depend, apart from radio-logical criteria, as much on economic, social and political factors as on sound scientific considerations [121].

Many studies have been targeting possible agricultural countermeasures in response to concentration levels in food and agricultural crops exceeding the applicable standards. Most studies have been conducted to test the effect of different physical and chemical countermeasures. However, information on the long term effect of countermeasures, and especially of a change to non-food crops, is still scarce.

When investigating alternative crops, the principal questions to be addressed are:

- (a) Can an alternative crop be found that is suited to the climate and soil conditions prevailing in the contaminated area?
- (b) What is the fate of the radionuclide in the cultivation system and along conversion routes?
- (c) How does the radionuclide in question behave during biomass processing and what is the expected radionuclide concentration in the end products?
- (d) What is the exposure during biomass cultivation and processing?
- (e) Would production and utilization of the alternative crop be economically feasible?
- (f) What are the overall prospects for the chosen alternative crop as an alternative land use for large contaminated areas?

In order to understand the fate of the various radionuclides and their distribution in products, residues and waste, one needs to know the various radionuclide fluxes. These depend on the initial deposition levels, crop accumulation factors, which in turn depend on plant and soil characteristics, and the radionuclide accumulation in the produce (e.g. wood, rape or beetroot). Whether residues and waste need to be treated as radioactive waste depends on the radionuclide concentration and the applicable exemption limits.

Crops used for liquid biofuel (oils, alcohol) production, such as rape, wheat, sugar beet, barley, potatoes and winter rye, may be suitable alternative crops.

The data in Table 2 indicate that crops with a low transfer factor (TF) to the useable product can be found and that the resulting liquid biofuels are almost free from activity, and that ¹³⁷Cs levels in the waste and residues are generally of no concern.

Examples from Belarus, however, show that caesium levels in oil cake from rapeseed oil (\sim 2000 t/ha) and the pulp and vines from sugar beet (\sim 4000 t/ha)

Сгор	Plant component	Caesium TF (10^{-3} m ² /kg)
Spring wheat	Straw	0.23-0.36
	Grain	0.13-0.16
Winter wheat	Straw	0.27-0.44
	Grain	0.08-0.18
Rye	Straw	0.43-0.60
	Grain	0.17-0.29
Spring rape	Green mass	0.33-0.81
	Straw	0.38-0.92
	Seeds	0.27-0.66
Brassicaceae	Seeds	0.037–3.4ª
Peas	Seeds	0.69–1.25
	Straw	0.82–1.45
Leguminosae	Seeds	94 (12–750) ^a
Sugar beet	Root	0.43 ^b
Root crops	Root	0.025–11 (1.1–110) ^a
Green vegetables	Leaves	$0.07 - 4.86^{a}$
	Leaves (peaty)	260 (25–2700) ^a
Sunflowers	Straw	1.48–2.88
	Seeds	0.43–0.82

TABLE 2. CAESIUM TRANSFER FACTORS TO DIFFERENT PLANTPARTS OF SOME POTENTIAL BIOFUEL CROPS [122]

^a From Ref. [123] (average and 95% confidence limits).

^b From Ref. [124].

may be too high for use as animal fodder and for incineration and that they may have to be disposed of as radioactive waste [125]. This, however, applies primarily to cases of high contamination levels, since only about 3% of the total ¹³⁷Cs and 6% of the total ⁹⁰Sr taken up will be potentially involved in the soil–plant–fodder–animal–human chain [126]. Moreover, oil cake and sugar beet pulp usually constitute only 10% of fodder, and hence generally animal fodder can be used without restriction [126]. The actual cost of liquid biofuel typically is significantly higher than that of fossil fuels, and hence a price subsidy or other measures may be needed [125, 126].

On the other hand, the production of rapeseed and processing to edible rapeseed oil are profitable technologies [122, 126], and the levels of caesium and strontium in the rapeseed oil after three filtrations and bleaching are below the detection limit [126].

The feasibility of valorization of contaminated land by willow short rotation coppice (SRC) for energy production has been addressed in various studies [125, 127–129]. Coppicing is a method of vegetative forest regeneration by cutting trees at the base of their trunk at regular time intervals. Fast growing species of the Salix genus (willows) are frequently used in a coppice system because of the ease of their vegetative reproduction and the large biomass produced. The harvested biomass is converted into heat or power (with an appropriate off-gas treatment). As such, this non-food industrial crop is a potential candidate for the valorization of contaminated land that has use restrictions. SRC may be preferred over traditional forestry since revenues come sooner after establishment and more regularly (every 3-5 years). SRC vields are also high on good agricultural soils, and its use is not a drastic change in land use; SRC is easy to introduce and it is easy to return the land to the production of food crops. SRC may also be considered as complementary to forestry, given the different culture requirements of both vegetation systems. Forests perform well on sandy soils, whereas SRC requires soils with a sufficient water retention capacity. SRC has additional potential advantages in a contamination scenario: since it is a perennial crop, dispersion of radionuclides will be limited. Harvest can be in winter, when the soil may be covered by snow, resulting in radiation protection of the workers. Finally, SRC cultivation is not too labour intensive, which is also an advantage with respect to exposure.

Willow SRC may be a suitable rehabilitation tool for highly contaminated land, but only if the radionuclide levels in the wood are below the exemption limits for fuelwood, if the average yearly dose received during coppice cultivation and coppice wood conversion is acceptable, if SRC can be grown successfully in the contaminated territories (soils, climate), if the cultivation of SRC is technically feasible and if SRC production and conversion are economically profitable.

It has been shown [125, 127–129] that for soils with a medium to high fixation (finer textured soils) and sufficient potassium availability, the TF ratio of concentration in plant biomass to concentration in soil is $<10^{-5}$ m²/kg, and wood can be safely burnt and the ashes can be disposed of without concern. For light textured soils, however, with a low radiocaesium fixation and low soil potassium, the TF to wood is around 10^{-3} m²/kg, and concentrations in wood may be elevated enough that the prevailing exemption limits are reached. Given that TFs for common forestry and for straw of winter wheat and rape are comparable, the same applies for burning wood or straw for energy.

SRC has generally a high annual yield of about 12 t/ha, but sandy soils are only suitable for SRC production if well fertilized and irrigated. Only during the conversion phase and when burning highly contaminated wood (3000 Bq/kg) do doses in the vicinity of ash collectors exceed the level of 1 mSv/a for a member of the general public [125]. Contributions from other possible exposure pathways are negligible (external exposure during cultivation and transport, inhalation dose in the combustion plant and doses to the public following wood burning).

Crop yield and the capital cost of the conversion units are among the most important parameters affecting system profitability. At the production site, a minimum yield of 6 t/ha/a is required for Belarus production conditions and of 12 t/ha/a for western European conditions, if all other parameters are optimal [125, 128]. Heating schemes may be a viable option for wood conversion in Belarus, whereas electricity generation schemes are not. Subsidies would be required in Europe to make wood conversion economically feasible. It has also been concluded that the existence of a contamination scenario does not necessarily hamper the economic viability of the energy production schemes studied. The cost associated with the disposal of contaminated ashes was estimated as less than 1% of the biofuel cost and will not affect economic feasibility.

Forestry can also be considered to be an adequate alternative land use [130, 131]. Soil to wood TFs to coniferous and deciduous wood are around 10^{-3} m²/kg [132] and are hence comparable with the TFs to willow wood observed for low fertile soils with limited caesium fixation. They are high compared with the TFs observed for willow in finer textured soils and soils with an adequate potassium status. Moreover, the annual biomass increase is only 6 t/ha for forests and may attain 12 t/ha for SRC grown on soils with an adequate water reserve and fertility status. SRC may hence be a more promising land use option on these types of soil than traditional forestry. On soils with a low water reserve (e.g. sandy soil), however, willow yield without irrigation is too low to be economically feasible, and forestry may hence be the preferred option [129].

Fibre crops are also potential alternative crops for agricultural land with restricted use. Potentially suitable crops are the annual fibre crops hemp (*Cannabis sativa* L.) and flax (*Linum usitatissimum* L.). Hemp and flax are well known arable crops that have been cultivated for centuries. Ukraine has a legacy of flax and fibre hemp cultivation, but in Belarus there is only some flax production. Since the early 1990s the acreage for production of flax and hemp has declined dramatically in Ukraine. Establishment of fibre crops on contaminated arable land is generally of no radiological concern [133]. The TFs observed to hemp fibres are a factor of 4 to 50 higher than the TFs observed to flax. Cultivation is hence generally restricted to not too contaminated areas

(<1000 kBq/m²). For both crops it holds that contamination levels in the waste products (oil seed cake, chaff, ash after burning of straw) may, however, be high enough that they should be considered as radioactive waste. The economics of this land use has not, however, been investigated [133].

The introduction of alternative crops in a contamination scenario may be a feasible and adequate remedial option. Although there are some scenarios in which energy production from SRC and potentially other alternative crops on contaminated arable land is radiologically safe and economically feasible, installing this cultivation system on a large scale requires extensive logistics, infrastructure and initial investment. Implementation is likely only to be successful with adequate political support.

There are a number of additional types of alternative land use, such as the creation of parkland. Such measures, however, would largely be administrative and would amount to 'institutional control' and therefore are not considered further in this report.

4.5. AGRICULTURAL COUNTERMEASURES

Many studies have been concerned with possible agricultural countermeasures in response to concentration levels in foodstuffs and agricultural crops exceeding the permissible levels in the wake of the Chernobyl accident; for example, the efficiency of countermeasures for radioactively contaminated natural and agricultural ecosystems was evaluated recently in the context of Chernobyl in Ref. [134]. To this end, a database of 5261 experiments carried out during 1987–1999 and their respective results was compiled by participants from Belarus, the Russian Federation and Ukraine [134]. The main evaluation criterion was the efficiency of experimental treatments in reducing radionuclide concentrations in final products as compared with untreated controls. It is important to note, however, that the majority of countermeasures do not intend to influence soil or groundwater concentrations, but aim to break exposure pathways.

Countermeasures can be based on a selection of crops that exhibit smaller radionuclide uptake than crops used previously, on food processing to reduce radionuclide contents or on choosing non-food crops, resulting in either case in a produce from the contaminated land that is radiologically acceptable [25, 121, 135]. Impacts on the dose received by people and on the ecology and economy of the affected area may vary enormously: a change in crop variety will have a much smaller impact than more radical changes such as the substitution of vegetables by cereals or changing from arable land use to animal husbandry.

Assessments have shown that substituting crops and fertilization are the most effective countermeasures in plant production. The efficiency of countermeasures, expressed by the reduction factor of radionuclide concentration in final products, was found to be of the order of 3 to 9, depending on the soil and individual crops [134]. Substituting crops may not be expensive, but its viability depends on a variety of economic conditions; for example, on contaminated sandy soils in Belarus it would be possible to grow rye that has an acceptable concentration of ¹³⁷Cs, but market demand for rye is poor and recently has been tending to zero. Another example are the impediments for the utilization of sugar beet: there is no sugar processing industry in the contaminated area in Belarus and no agricultural infrastructure, such as suitable farm machinery, for cultivating the plants.

Fertilizer application will suppress the uptake of certain radionuclides, mainly due to competitive effects. Thus potassium dosages will generally decrease the soil to plant transfer of ¹³⁷Cs, certainly when the soil is low in potassium. Reported reduction factors have varied between studies, but overall reduction factors ranging between 1.1 and 5.0 have been obtained [25, 134, 136–138]. The efficiency of potassium additions strongly depends on the exchangeable potassium content in the soil. For soils with a low to optimal potassium content, high dosages of potassium fertilizer are very effective and profitable. For soils with a high potassium content, only moderate dosages of potassium fertilizer are recommended to replace the potassium removed with crop yields [139, 140].

The behaviour of ⁹⁰Sr and its uptake by plants are controlled by its similarity to calcium. Many investigators have found a significant correlation between strontium TFs and the reciprocal of the exchangeable calcium content [141]. Consequently, much of the research and actions to reduce strontium uptake by plants has centred on the use of lime as a soil based countermeasure. The use of lime has reduced strontium uptake by up to 40%, the use of limed compost by up to 60% [141]. Generally, the reduction factor of radionuclide uptake by agricultural crops varies widely, from 1.1 to 3, depending strongly on the initial soil pH. The liming effect is most pronounced for acid soils [27].

Countermeasures that aim to provide the optimum (from the plant production point of view) rates of fertilizer application are the most viable, since the investment on fertilizer is paid back in the form of additional crop yields, and frequently profits are made. It has to be noted that the addition of nitrogen fertilizer should be moderate, as high dosages appear to stimulate the accumulation of ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr in plants [142–145]. Phosphorus dosages should be in accordance with crop responses and the phosphorus content of the treated soil, and should be crop specific.
The humus content of a soil is important because of its tendency to form co-ordinate bonds with calcium and strontium, which are stronger than the binding by ion exchange sites on soil minerals. Organic matter addition has resulted in strontium TF reductions by a factor of 1.2 to 7. The latter value was obtained after the addition of 15% organic matter to a sandy soil [141]. Field experiments on a podzoluvisol (loamy sand) soil in Belarus that increased humus content from 1.5% to 3.5% resulted in a reduction of 137 Cs and 90 Sr activity in perennial grass by a factor of 2 [142, 144].

Chemical amendments, such as zeolites, ammonium hexacyanoferrate (AFCF) or clay minerals, also reduce radionuclide uptake by plants, since the radionuclides are trapped and so rendered less available for plants [146–149]. A reduction factor of 4.6 in ⁹⁰Sr transfer has been obtained for a sandy soil after the addition of 1% zeolites [149], and a factor of 25 by applying 10 g AFCF per square metre [146]. However, the investigation of zeolites and clay amendments in field trials on a loamy sand soil in Belarus resulted in only a rather low reduction of activity in cereals [150]. Taking into account the high cost of transport and application of amendments at reasonable rates, for example 15 t/ha, this type of countermeasure is generally not affordable in conventional agriculture.

A more radical improvement of private hay land and meadows in all Chernobyl affected rural settlements of Belarus, the Russian Federation and Ukraine (where the total annual dose is above 1 mSv or the activity per unit area exceeds 555 kBq/m^2) is recommended. This countermeasure combines the liming of acid soils, fertilization (including the basic application of organic fertilizers), destruction of old turf, sowing of new grass stand and regulation of soil water (drainage), if needed; for example, radical meadow improvement has resulted in a reduction of grass activity by a factor of 1.7 to 3.5 [151], but other applications have achieved reduction factors for ¹³⁷Cs of up to 16–20 [134]. The reduction factor of surface meadow improvement is lower, and is 3.5 on average.

Although strictly speaking not remediation techniques, certain livestock management measures are effective in reducing public exposures. Such measures include feeding complexants, such as Prussian blue, to dairy animals to prevent ¹³⁷Cs transfer into the milk, or changes in pasture or fodder at critical times to reduce uptake. Achieved reduction factors vary widely between 2 and 15 [134].

Similarly, use and access restrictions for forests are more emergency responses than remediation measures.

Food processing can significantly reduce radionuclide concentrations in products. The efficiency depends on the type of processing and varies widely,

	Activity reduction in rape products	
	¹³⁷ Cs	⁹⁰ Sr
Liming to 6 t/ha	14%	42%
Application of $N_{90}P_{90}K_{180}$ fertilizer	42%	27%
Liming to 6 t/ha + $N_{90}P_{90}K_{180}$ fertilizer	45%	59%
Variety selection	2.5 times	3.0 times
Rapeseed oil processing (crude oil)	250 times	600 times

TABLE 3. EFFECTS OF VARIOUS COUNTERMEASURES ON RAPERADIOACTIVITY [126]

removing 50–98% of the 137 Cs or 90 Sr during the production of butter or casein from milk [134].

The relative efficiency of different agricultural countermeasures can be seen from the experiments in which rape was grown on radioactively contaminated land in Belarus (Table 3). The effect of liming is mainly due to a rise of the soil pH and hence the increased availability of exchangeable calcium. Choosing a rape variety with less uptake offers activity reductions of up to three times. The most efficient removal of activity is offered by oil processing, resulting in a reduction of up to 600 times. Concentrations of radionuclides after a three stage filtration and bleaching are below the limits of detection. The combination of oil seed processing with several agricultural countermeasures therefore allows the production of food grade oil practically free from radionuclides and produces a valuable protein by-product (cake as animal fodder) with permissible concentrations of radionuclides [126].

5. CONTAINMENT

5.1. ENHANCED ATTENUATION

Although contaminated media sometimes provide sufficient attenuation capacity, normally these attenuation mechanisms must be enhanced through technical measures. Enhancement of attenuation may be targeted at particular exposure pathways; for example, plant uptake may be minimized or blocked to prevent contaminants from entering the food chain [27, 152].

Simple ploughing or deep soil mixing is not an efficient means of reducing direct surface gamma exposure [153], as such an approach will result in a dispersal of radionuclides over a larger area, thereby increasing the volume of contaminated soil.

Studies subsequent to the Chernobyl accident found that deep ploughing with digging, combined with liming and potassium fertilizer application, can decrease caesium and strontium transfer from soil to plants by a factor of 3 to 4 [23, 150]. The objective of deep ploughing is to skim off the upper 0–5 cm contaminated soil layer and burrow it beneath the turned over arable layer (30–50 cm), thereby preserving most of the soil fertility. Subsequent cultivation practices have to be limited to shallower depths to prevent the contaminated soil layer from being dug up or roots from reaching this layer. This quite cost effective countermeasure had only limited application after the Chernobyl accident because of the thin humus horizon of the predominantly light textured soils in the region [143, 150].

Changing the pH and redox conditions in contaminated zones can enhance attenuation [119, 120, 154–157], particularly in situations in which treatment is otherwise difficult, such as the presence of fractured rock [152]. Oxidation or reduction can be achieved by injecting aqueous solutions of appropriate agents, or by bubbling gases through the contaminated zone [156, 158]. Long term sustainability is uncertain, and competing geochemical processes need to be evaluated carefully [152, 159]. Environments with relatively low redox potential and high organic matter content (e.g. wetlands) tend to trap metals naturally [120], a property that can be utilized (Section 5.7).

The number of sorption sites may be increased by adding clay or zeolites [160] to soils. The addition of reactive minerals, such as lime, apatite [160–162] and its derivatives, such as bone meal [163, 164], may lead to immobilization through the formation of sparingly soluble mineral phases incorporating the contaminating radionuclides.

5.2. LOW PERMEABILITY BARRIERS

Low permeability barriers, which include slurry walls, sealable-joint sheet piles and curtains created by injection grouting [165–167], interrupt water flowpaths and may delay the migration of radionuclides. The construction of soil–bentonite slurry walls and cement–bentonite slurry walls to serve as low permeability barriers is a well established technique, has been demonstrated in civil construction and has been transferred to provide containment at contaminated sites [168]. The efficacy of low permeability barriers, however, depends critically on strict quality control during construction. Such low permeability



FIG. 6. Sketch of a permeable reactive wall in combination with a Funnel-and-Gate system.

barriers may be used in isolation or as a component of a suite of techniques (Fig. 6).

5.3. PERMEABLE REACTIVE BARRIERS

The use of permeable reactive barriers or walls is distinguished from outright containment by the fact that the contaminant carrier as such (i.e. the groundwater) is not prevented from movement [169–172]. The objective is rather to remove the contaminants from the mobile phase. Permeable reactive barriers are installed by excavating a portion of the aquifer, disposing of the excavated material and replacing it with a permeable material designed to react with the contaminant and remove it from the flowing water (Fig. 6). The advantages over pump and treat systems are that no active pumping or process operation and maintenance is required, thus reducing energy and operation and maintenance costs, no treatment sludges are produced, thus reducing waste disposal costs, and no surface facility is required, which allows the land to be returned to productive use. The systems typically rely on the natural gradient of the groundwater table as the driving force. The barrier material must be designed to remain reactive for periods of many years to decades. Furthermore,

the barrier permeability must be sustained throughout the duration of the groundwater treatment. The performance of permeable reactive barrier systems must therefore be monitored so that corrective action can be taken when required.

Permeable reactive barriers have been designed and implemented for the treatment of dissolved metals [169, 173, 174], acid mine drainage [175–177], radionuclides [178–181] and dissolved nutrients [182–184]. Contaminant removal can be effected in a variety of ways [185–187]. Treatment processes include adsorption [188, 189], simple precipitation [190], adsorptive precipitation [183], reductive precipitation [169, 176, 179] and biologically mediated transformations [175, 176, 182].

Changing the redox state can be a very effective method of immobilizing certain radionuclides (e.g. uranium and technetium). These radionuclides have two or more oxidation states, and the more reduced oxidation states are less mobile; for example, reduction of the hexavalent uranyl ion UO_2^{2+} to the tetravalent U(IV) state results in the precipitation of sparingly soluble precipitates, including $UO_{2(s)}$ or mixed U(VI)–U(IV). Zero valent iron is an abundant and inexpensive reducing agent that has been observed to reduce and precipitate uranium and technetium in laboratory studies [178, 179, 191–193]. The oxidation products generated (e.g. ferric hydroxides) can provide a high capacity sorption substrate also for non-redox sensitive species [194], but their long term stability in relation to changes in redox conditions has to be carefully evaluated [195].

Permeable reactive barrier systems containing zero valent iron have been installed for the treatment of uranium, technetium and other metals [179, 180, 196, 197]; these barriers demonstrate excellent removal of uranium and technetium. Examination of the reaction products has been conducted at a series of sites of permeable reactive barriers [179, 198, 199]. Although the results of these characterization studies are inconsistent, all the reports indicate that a portion of the uranium entering the barrier system is reduced to U(IV), whereas some portion may remain in the U(VI) oxidation state. Other metals commonly associated with uranium mine waste, including arsenic, molybdenum, selenium, vanadium and zinc, are also removed from the groundwater, possibly as reduced phases (e.g. V_2O_3) or as sulphide minerals (As₂S₃, ZnS) [180, 200].

Organic reductants, such as sawdust, have also been used to promote the reduction and precipitation of uranium. Passive treatment systems containing organic carbon have been used to remove both uranium and nitrate from groundwater at sites where these two constituents coexist as a result of releases from nuclear weapon production facilities [201].

Sorption can remove contaminants from groundwater and can maintain low concentrations of radionuclides. Sorptive materials that have been evaluated or deployed in permeable reactive barrier systems for treating radionuclides include zeolites (e.g. clinoptilolite [202]), phosphate based adsorbents (e.g. bone char apatite [196] and Apatite II [203]) and hydrous ferric oxides (e.g. amorphous ferric oxyhydroxide (AFO)) [188, 196].

The majority of the reactive barriers installed to date have been continuous barriers installed across the entire width of the plume. Contaminant fluxes also can be focused on the reactive barrier by an array of non-reactive barriers, such as slit or slurry walls [166], to form a Funnel-and-Gate system [204, 205]. Funnel-and-Gate systems reduce the physical length of the treatment portion of the barrier and prevent contaminants from circumflowing the treatment zone. The volume of reactive material required to treat contaminated groundwater is determined by the contaminant concentrations, groundwater geochemistry and flow rate. For many contaminant plumes, the volume of reactive material will be similar, whether a continuous barrier or Funnel-and-Gate configuration is employed. Since the installation of continuous barriers is typically less expensive than that of Funnel-and-Gate systems, this installation technique has been preferred. Furthermore, because Funnel-and-Gate installations focus the flow to across a small cross-sectional area, there is greater potential for clogging by the formation of secondary precipitates.

Depending on the reactive material to be used, deployment techniques may include injection wells (for grouts, gels and soluble reactants) or trenches (see Fig. 7) cut by a suitable excavator (for grouts and particulate material such as granular iron, sawdust, etc.). Development work on efficient methods to emplace reactive barriers with minimal disturbance, even in awkward places, is ongoing. Adaptation of more novel civil engineering techniques, such as directional or horizontal drilling, the use of guar gum slurries for barrier installation [177], hydraulic fracturing [206] and jet grouting techniques [207], can be used for the emplacement of barriers at depths beyond the capabilities of conventional excavation techniques (Fig. 8).

In December 1998 a reactive barrier incorporating a novel wall and curtain design was installed at the Atomic Energy of Canada Limited (AECL) research facility in Chalk River, Ontario, Canada, about 200 km west of Ottawa [202]. The wall and curtain design directs contaminated groundwater to the treatment media, and excludes the overlying uncontaminated groundwater from the treatment zone (Fig. 9). The treatment zone in the wall and curtain barrier contains clinoptilolite, a naturally occurring zeolite mineral that removes ⁹⁰Sr from the plume via a sorption reaction. Preliminary monitoring of



(b)



FIG. 7. (a) Continuous trenching machine used to install the 46 m long, 7.3 m deep and 0.6 m wide granular iron permeable reactive barrier; (b) simultaneous excavation and replacement of aquifer material with granular iron as the horizontal trencher advances [193].



FIG. 8. The principle of directional drilling and grouting.

the barrier performance has suggested excellent removal of 90 Sr, from initial concentrations of 0.1–100 Bq/L to below the Canadian drinking water limits [189]. The ongoing monitoring programme has shown that the barrier has treated more than 1.85×10^7 Bq of 90 Sr.

A three component Funnel-and-Gate reactive barrier system was installed at a former uranium upgrading site at Fry Canyon, Utah, USA, in



FIG. 9. Trench and gate system [202].

1997 [196]. One of the permeable reactive barrier components contains AFO, and a second contains bone char apatite. Both of these components are intended to assess the potential for uranium treatment by sorptive processes. The third component contains zero valent iron, intended to reduce and precipitate uranium as a reduced uranium oxide. The performance of the barriers has been monitored over three years and 1650 pore volumes. The zero valent iron component demonstrated the greatest removal efficiency ($C/C_0 = 0.007$), followed by the AFO system ($C/C_0 = 0.271$) and the bone char system ($C/C_0 = 0.412$).

Computer simulations conducted using reactive solute transport models can be used to determine design parameters for barrier installation, to predict the potential for barrier clogging and to assess the potential benefits of barrier performance. The performance of a reactive barrier installed at the Elizabeth City US Coast Guard Support Centre [208] was simulated using the reactive solute transport model MIN3P [209]. Comparison of the simulation results with subsequent measurements showed good agreement (Fig. 10). The performance of the permeable reactive barrier installed at Monticello Canyon, Utah, USA, was simulated using the PHREEQC model [180].

The limitations on permeable reactive barrier performance and lifespan include constraints on the reactive material longevity and the barrier permeability. Of these concerns, the potential for barrier clogging and the permeable reactive barrier evolving into an impermeable reactive barrier is the most significant. Since the total mass of contaminant that accumulates in the barrier is modest, the principal precipitates resulting in clogging are the products of reactions between the barrier material and the major ions present in the water, or between the barrier material and the water itself. The use of zero valent iron (Fe⁰), the most commonly used reactive material, results in the reduction of water and an increase in the pH to between pH10 and pH11. This increase in pH favours the precipitation of carbonate minerals, principally calcite ($CaCO_3$) and siderite (FeCO₃). Over periods of several years to decades, the accumulation of these precipitates potentially may be sufficient to reduce the pore space of the reactive material and limit barrier permeability. Reactive barrier technology has evolved recently, and the oldest barriers are now approaching ten years of operation. Clogging to a degree that is sufficient to impair barrier performance has yet to be observed, although long term monitoring programmes are required to assess this concern.

The long term fate of the reactive barrier after remediation is complete or after the barrier becomes ineffective depends on the nature of the contaminant and on the characteristics of the barrier. Concerns include the potential for remobilization of contaminants retained in the barrier and the potential for clogging in the barrier to alter natural groundwater flow conditions. In many



FIG. 10. Simulated heterogeneous reactions at a permeable reactive barrier at the Elizabeth City US Coast Guard Support Centre [209].

barrier systems, the contaminant is converted to a form that is stable in the geochemical environment that prevails in the aquifer. Furthermore, because the mass of contaminant is small relative to the mass of the barrier material, the residual barrier material may be classified as non-hazardous. In these systems, it may be acceptable for the barrier to remain in place. In other cases, the mass of contaminant may exceed soil guidelines, the contaminant may have the potential for remobilization or the contaminant may be sufficiently hazardous to warrant excavation of the reactive material and placement in a secure waste disposal facility. In these cases, excavation of the barrier, or a portion of the barrier, may be required.

Although considerable research on the performance of reactive walls is continuing worldwide, some techniques have reached commercial maturity [210, 211].

5.4. IMMOBILIZATION

Immobilization, unlike physical containment, is intended to affect the contaminated material itself. The objective of immobilization is to change the contaminant form into one that is less susceptible to migration. Two basic options can be distinguished: in situ and ex situ treatment [212, 213].

In situ treatment effects immobilization without the contaminated material being removed. Three major methods to effect in situ immobilization can be distinguished, based on chemical, biochemical or thermal treatments.

Chemical immobilization is based on the injection of a variety of grouts [214] or on changing pH and/or redox conditions in the groundwater, for example [120, 154, 155, 215]. These grouts can be based inter alia on ordinary Portland cement (OPC), water glass (sodium silicate), gypsum or organic polymers, for example acrylic or epoxy resins. The suitability of immobilizing agents via injection depends largely on the hydraulic properties of the contaminated material. OPC and epoxy resins typically have a high viscosity, while water glass and gypsum solutions, or acrylic acid suspensions, can be made up with viscosities equal to that of water. The long term stability of the polymer stabilized material has to be carefully assessed. Breakdown products containing functional groups, such as carboxylic or phenolic groups, may actually act as a vehicle to facilitate transport of radionuclides.

Injection of chemical reductants, including calcium polysulphide, has been used to promote contaminant reduction and precipitation within aquifers. Contaminants that are well suited to remediation using this approach include metals with a lower solubility under reduced conditions. Injection techniques have been used to treat Cr(VI), through reduction to Cr(III) and precipitation of Cr(III) hydroxides. In situ redox manipulation (ISRM) [155, 215] is a variation on a chemical injection system (Fig. 11). When using ISRM, a strong reductant is pumped into the aquifer, converting oxidized Fe(III) bearing minerals to Fe(II) bearing minerals. These reduced phases remain stationary, and react with oxidized dissolved contaminants that migrate through the treated zone in the aquifer [215]. This approach has been demonstrated on a pilot scale to treat groundwater contaminated by Cr(VI) at the Hanford Site in southeastern Washington State, USA [215].

Biochemical or biological methods are based on the introduction or stimulation of microorganisms that change the chemical environment [216].



FIG. 11. In situ redox manipulation (courtesy of Batelle).

Depending on the circumstances and intentions, a (enzymatic) reductive or oxidative precipitation of radionuclides can be effected. The application would be similar to creating a biowall, as discussed in Section 5.5.

Thermal treatments use heat processes to immobilize the contaminant. Thermal treatment, however, generally is not economically efficient for dispersed radioactive contamination [5, 15].

Ex situ treatments are carried out in some sort of plant, either on or off the site. After treatment, the material is either returned or disposed of in an engineered repository. A number of treatment techniques can be used for both in situ and ex situ treatments, the method of application varying in each case. Ex situ methods are discussed in Section 4.3.

Organic polymers and water glass are also used to immobilize surface contamination. The main effect is to enhance the cohesive properties of topsoils, thus preventing wind and water erosion [217] (Fig. 12). Depending on the formulation, infiltration of rainwater may also be impeded and thus the downward migration of radionuclides retarded.



FIG. 12. Binding of soil particles and entrapment of contaminants using organic polymers (S. Mikheykin, VNIICHT, Moscow, personal communication).

Over the years consultants and contractors have developed a wide range of proprietary engineering applications based on the fundamental processes outlined above (e.g. Refs [218, 219]).

5.5. BIOLOGICAL BARRIER WALLS (BIOWALLS)

A biowall is an in situ barrier that relies on biological processes to restrict the migration of radionuclides (Fig. 13). The application of the technology is most appropriate to geological formations with significant permeability (e.g. sands, sandstone and permeable limestones) and no preferential flowpaths such as open cracks and fissures. A biowall can be emplaced downstream from the contaminated site or constructed in situ via the formation of biofilms and biocolloids [220–226]. The development of a biowall requires the introduction of suitable microorganisms and the provision of nutrients and essential elements to further their propagation. Adjustments to the pH or redox potential may also be required to initiate bacterial growth.

The effectiveness of biowalls results from:



FIG. 13. The principle of a biowall.

- (a) The physical reduction of permeability and hence groundwater flow by the microbial population. This effect can be enhanced by the use of ultramicro cells (less than 100 nm). In the course of growth by metabolism they increase in size and may completely fill the pore space.
- (b) The generation of metabolites capable of restricting the migration of radionuclides through the barrier wall. Such metabolites are mainly extracellular polymeric substances (EPSs), commonly termed 'slimes', which the microbial cells use for attaching themselves to the substrate. These EPSs also fill pore spaces and thus reduce permeability.
- (c) The sequestering of radionuclides from groundwaters by complexation [227–229], although it should be noted that subsequent mobilization of these colloidal species could constitute an additional transport mechanism [230]. Microbial action can also be utilized to modify groundwater chemistry (e.g. sulphate reducing bacteria) to immobilize redox sensitive species [231] such as uranium [232, 233] or to prevent the formation of acid drainage [234]. The latter two methods would act in a similar way to an inorganic reactive wall. Several microbial strains are commercially available.

5.6. PHYTOSTABILIZATION

Phytostabilization, the development of a stable and permanent vegetation cover, reduces the risk of erosion of contaminated soil from sparsely or non-vegetated land [235], thus reducing waterborne and dustborne exposure pathways. In addition to preventing erosion, this technique may change the mobility of potentially toxic elements by reducing concentrations in the soil water and on freely exchangeable sites within the soil matrix. Both processes alter the speciation of soil metals, reducing the potential environmental impact. The technologies draw upon fundamental plant and soil chemical processes as well as established agricultural practices. The development of a stable and selfperpetuating ecosystem as a result of this type of treatment may have additional benefits, as in some circumstances plant root activity may also influence metal speciation by changes in redox potential or the secretion of protons and chelating agents. The microflora associated with root systems may also be involved in these processes. The rainwater infiltration rate is reduced by plant induced evapotranspiration, thus reducing the potential for leaching and acid drainage generation [236-238]. Some examples of phytostabilization approaches are presented below.

Soil stabilization is very important on certain types of arable land to prevent horizontal radionuclide migration due to water and wind erosion (see Fig. 14). The ¹³⁷Cs activity in topsoil in valleys may be increased by 30–80% as



FIG. 14. Phytostabilization approaches at the contaminated area of the Dnieper close to the Chernobyl nuclear power plant.

a result of run-off of fine soil particles, as shown in field experiments in Belarus [142, 150]. Crop rotation with perennial grasses covering up to 50–80% of the cultivated area and avoiding row crops reduces contaminated topsoil loss from 10–20 t/ha to 2–3 t/ha. On slopes, deep soil tillage without overturning the arable layer is needed. Conventional ploughing with overturning of the arable horizon should only be carried out to destroy and plough in old turf [239]. Good cultivation practices, such as ploughing parallel to the slope, rather than up and down, will also reduce erosion.

Wind erosion may occur on sandy soils and on drained peaty soils. It is recommended to eliminate root crops on soils for which soil loss amounts to 8–15 t/ha or more [143, 240]. The major area (50–80%) of crop rotation should be under perennial grasses. A smaller area can be allocated to winter and spring cereals and to annual grasses. In any case, soils should be under vegetation cover throughout the year, preferentially under perennial grasses. In such a manner soil loss due to wind erosion can be reduced to 2 t/ha [239].

Remedial actions are still being investigated to control the radionuclide efflux from the Chernobyl exclusion zone within the Dnieper catchment system. This and adjacent drainage basins form a wide area from which contaminated waters flow and sediments are transported downstream through the Pripyat and Dnieper Rivers across Ukraine and to the Black Sea. Phytostabilization techniques could in this context also be considered as remedial options. Three phytorehabilitation approaches involving willow plantations have been studied [127] (Fig. 14): (1) the effect of willow plantations on vertical migration of radionuclides; (2) the effect on the stabilization of the Chernobyl cooling pond sediments; and (3) for lateral erosion control.

The area of interest for studying the vertical migration control by willows was an extremely contaminated zone of 16 km² on the left bank of the Pripyat River (between 3.7 and 18.5 TBq/km² ⁹⁰Sr and ¹³⁷Cs and 0.37 TBq/km² Pu), which is partly protected from spring floods by a dam. Through modelling exercises it was shown that, due to their high evapotranspiration rate, willow SRC stands are expected to lower the groundwater table level by 100–200 cm in fertilized stands. Without fertilization, a lowering of the groundwater table level of less than 50 cm was predicted. Since the immobilization potential of ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr in the willow wood is limited, the influence of plant uptake on migration remains low.

Following the closure of the Chernobyl nuclear power plant, the water level of the cooling pond (22.5 km²; depths between 1.5 and 15 m; with about 111 TBq ¹³⁷Cs and 37 TBq ⁹⁰Sr) will drop by 4–7 m, and 15 km² of the sediments will become exposed and may be in need of stabilization. To this end the SALIMAT option was investigated [241]. SALIMATs consist of a roll of willow rods (stems) rolled around central disposable tubes that are unwound by

dragging them across the lagoon. Small scale tests have demonstrated that SALIMATs establish well on contaminated pond sediments and produce a full vegetation cover during the second year. The approximated cost of the phytostabilization option ranges between $\in 0.8$ million and $\in 1.9$ million for the reclamation of 15 km² of sediments, which is low compared with the prospected cost of removal of the sediments (\$6 million, transport and disposal costs not included) or maintenance of the present water level (\$200 000 per year).

The project area for horizontal erosion control was on the right bank of the Pripyat River, which was significantly less contaminated than the left bank and is not protected by a dam. After inundation, part of the activity is eroded and transported to the Pripyat River with the withdrawing water. It was calculated that even in the event of extremely high flooding, a dense willow plantation will effectively decrease horizontal soil erosion and the concomitant transport of radionuclides into the Dnieper River system.

Vegetation or revegetation is a commonly employed measure for the capping of engineered waste disposal facilities and mining residues such as spoil heaps [242] or tailings ponds. The final step in closing out an impoundment for uranium mill tailings is the design and placement of a cover that will give long term stability and control to acceptable levels radon emanation, gamma radiation, erosion of the cover and tailings, and infiltration and precipitation into the tailings and heaps. Surface vegetation can be effective in protecting tailings or a tailings cover from water and wind erosion. Factors affecting the effectiveness of surface revegetation on impoundments can be broadly classed into climatological and agrobiological factors. Plants should be chosen to match the local climatic conditions. From an agrobiological perspective, the nature of the ore and the milling process will largely determine whether uncovered tailings are capable of sustaining growth. Considerable efforts to improve unfavourable properties such as low or high pH values and low plant nutrient content will usually be required before tailings can sustain growth. Depending on the substrate, revegetation requires preparation and amelioration of the topsoil, including removal, for example, of acid generating minerals [243, 244]. Techniques and strategies to overcome such difficulties have been developed [245], for example hydroseeding or the use of compost from organic household refuse [246]. The method may be limited to low contaminant concentrations, owing to the (root) toxicity of higher concentrations. An adequate soil cover may need to be established.

Water and wind erosion are the primary concern at unvegetated tailings or waste rock piles. While a vegetation cover will decrease erosion, it may raise concerns that it promotes radon emanation by drying out the tailings and tailings covers. Tree roots may penetrate the contaminated material and disturb the integrity of engineered covers. Conversely, the increased evapotranspiration following vegetation establishment alters the water balance of a tailings or waste rock facility and will decrease seepage. The effect of vegetation due to the effect of plant roots on the physicochemical characteristics of tailing material has not been studied very intensively so far.

At a 35 year old reclaimed site on a uranium mining dump near Schlema, Germany, it was concluded that vegetation cover could reduce infiltration by 40–60% due to interception by the canopy (25–40%) and increased transpiration [247]. It was further found that of the 165 000 g/ha of uranium in the soil (30 cm depth), only 4 g/ha was in the above ground plant parts and 510 g/ha in the below ground plant parts. Since most (90%) of the uranium taken up during the growing season is recycled (returned to the soil) with pine needles, uranium dispersion by uptake through vegetation is minimal. It may be concluded from these preliminary results that forest vegetation may reduce the infiltration rate and will disfavour radionuclide dispersion.

The proper design of tailings covers is crucial to ensure their long term stability with respect to plant intrusion [248]. Since plant roots can penetrate compacted sealing layers (trees can have roots reaching down 3–4 m) and since trees need to have a certain degree of mechanical support in order to minimize the probability of uprooting, a vegetation substrate depth of at least 1.5 m is required. The vegetation substrate layer must be such that the critical suction is not exceeded at the top of the clay seal. It must be thick enough for plants to find sufficient water and nutrients so as to prevent the generation of a high suction at the seal. Cracks resulting from such suctions become accessible to roots and can be widened as further water is extracted.

In addition to the mechanical effects of soil stabilization and water management, revegetation has aesthetic benefits and sometimes cultural connotations, in particular on native or aboriginal lands [249]. The choice of vegetation cover may also effect some sort of institutional control; for example, converting contaminated agricultural land into forestry reserves interrupts a potential exposure pathway via the food chain. It has to be ascertained, however, that no other exposure pathway is opened up, for instance via burning contaminated firewood.

5.7. CONSTRUCTED WETLANDS

Constructed wetlands are engineered, human-made ecosystems specifically designed to treat wastewater, mine drainage and other waters by optimizing the biological, physical and chemical processes that occur in natural wetland systems (Fig. 15). Constructed wetlands can provide an effective, economical and environmentally sound treatment of wastewater, and serve as



FIG. 15. Schematic cross-section of a constructed wetland.

wildlife habitats. The conceptual design leads to either the (permanent) fixation of the contaminants in situ or to plant uptake with the view to harvesting shoots later for further treatment and disposal. The latter option is discussed in more detail in Section 6.10, while the following largely focuses on in situ fixation.

The concept for such constructed wetlands was originally developed to treat domestic effluents for residual organic material, for example following mechanical and biological (activated sludge) treatment steps [250], and has found widespread application in particular for the treatment of (acid) mine effluents [251–273]. The Chernobyl accident also prompted research in this direction [274]. A critical appraisal of this application is given in Ref. [275], and the mechanisms acting are reviewed, for example, in Refs [276, 277]. The concept was further developed to recover metals from low grade ores or mine water by a process known as phytomining (see also Section 6.10).

Constructed wetland systems are grouped into three main types [278]: (1) free water surface systems; (2) subsurface flow systems; and (3) aquatic plant systems. Free water surface systems, or soil substrate systems, consist of aquatic plants rooted in a soil substrate within a constructed earthen basin that may or may not be lined, depending on the soil permeability and groundwater protection requirements [279] (Fig. 16). Free water surface systems are designed to accept preliminarily treated, low velocity wastewater, in plug flow, over the top of the soil media or at a depth of between 2 and 45 cm. Subsurface flow systems are typically gravel substrate systems that are similar to free water surface systems; however, aquatic vegetation is planted in gravel or crushed stone and wastewater flows approximately 15 cm below the surface of the media. The aggregate typically has a depth of between 30 and 60 cm. No visible surface flow is evident in subsurface flow systems [279]. Aquatic plant systems are also similar to free water surface systems, but the water is located in deeper ponds and floating aquatic plants or submerged plants are used [281]. Where available, natural ponds may be used. Where they exist, natural wetlands and





FIG. 16. (a) Image of a constructed wetland; (b) plan view of a constructed wetland [280].

bogs can be used as traps for radionuclides and other metals [282, 283], although this might be better classed as biosorption or natural attenuation, since it is mostly the decaying organic matter that effects retention. Studies on natural analogues for radionuclide migration have demonstrated this mechanism to be effective for thousands of years [114].

Early research revealed that phytoextraction via constructed wetlands (used to purify water) was ineffective because it was difficult to remove inorganic elements that precipitated from the water into the sediments. In addition, floating plant systems, with subsequent biomass harvesting, were determined to be inefficient and uneconomic [284].

After three years of operating a pilot constructed wetland to treat the mine water from the flooded Pöhla Tellerhäuser mine at Wismut, Germany, it was shown that the system removed iron, arsenic, manganese and radium. Removal processes were based on the geochemical characteristics of the contaminants. For manganese and ²²⁶Ra, removal was also partially through biofilm formation. Uranium was not removed, given the high pH and the presence of high bicarbonate concentrations [285]. It is hence clear that process effectiveness in constructed wetlands depends on the speciation of the radionuclides concerned [286] and hence on the control of the governing parameters in the surface and pore waters, such as pH [287], and that waters may need to be subject to enhancement by additives [288] or pretreatment [289].

Wetlands may be constructed with the main objective of excluding atmospheric oxygen from material that would generate acid from the oxidation of pyrite and other sulphides [290]. This method, however, is likely to be effective only in regions where precipitation is higher than evapotranspiration (i.e. in temperate and humid tropical climates). Climatic conditions limit the general applicability of wetlands. Extended periods of deep frost as well as arid conditions are unfavourable. If, however, effluents only arise during frost free periods, it may be possible to operate wetlands in fairly high latitudes or altitudes.

Passive water treatment technologies such as constructed wetlands at abandoned mining sites may be appropriate for small contaminant loads. However, long term stability and resilience with respect to external disturbances and recovery are of major concern for both wetland operators and regulators [291]. Technical guidance for designing and operating constructed wetlands may be limited, owing to a lack of long term operational data. Potential seasonal variability and impact on wildlife may negatively affect system operation and securing permits, respectively [292]. Relatively large parcels of land are required and water consumption is high, owing to large evapotranspiration rates in some areas.

6. REMOVAL

6.1. PRECONDITIONS AND CONSTRAINTS

It must be noted that in general any method relying on the removal of contaminated soil is likely to require substitution of the removed material with clean (top)soil. Therefore, in addition to considerations with respect to technical feasibility, an economic source of clean soil will be required to make this option viable. Conversely, a precondition for any removal option is the availability of a suitable disposal site for the excavated materials, whether they are left untreated or whether they are conditioned before emplacement.

6.2. IMMOBILIZATION AND SOLIDIFICATION (EX SITU)

A wide variety of agents have been used, or proposed, for the solidification of excavated materials [212, 213, 293]. Often the objective is not only to immobilize the contaminants but to add value to the waste material by converting it into a useful product, for example for construction purposes. Use in general construction as a substitute for valuable raw materials requires special testing and licensing procedures to ensure environmental compatibility and compliance with quality criteria such as compressive strength, freeze–thaw cycle stability, leachability, etc. Solidified wastes may also be used in the construction of cappings, etc., for (hazardous waste) landfills. In cases where no further use is envisaged, minimization of the volume increase by the solidification agents is desirable to save valuable raw materials and repository space [213]. If only small volumes arise, the material may be combined with material from other waste streams requiring a similar immobilization treatment. Combining waste streams can make the process more economically viable, as products in marketable quantities are produced.

The treatment may be undertaken on or off the site at dedicated facilities. In the case of off-site treatment, the material has to comply with the applicable transport regulations and must meet the appropriate safety criteria while being handled. The additional risk from transporting material must be worked into the respective safety and cost-benefit analyses.

As for in situ immobilization, possible (cold bonding) solidification agents include OPC and other hydraulic binders such as certain fly ashes, gypsum, silicate gels (water glass) [294] and organic polymers, particularly acrylic and epoxy resins. The overall cost of treatment obviously depends on the amounts or volumes requiring treatment, and some binders are more economic in larger quantities than others. Organic polymers, in most cases, appear to be applicable only to smaller volumes of material. The conversion of gypsum (CaSO₄·2H₂O) into a semi-hydrate (plaster of Paris, CaSO₄·½H₂O) requires heat treatment in a kiln. It is only the plaster, not the gypsum, that exhibits the curing properties required of binders.

The main conclusion of a recent report [295] on the European perspective of NORM waste treatment was that immobilization is not widely used or accepted as a treatment. Many companies regard this type of technology as less feasible for NORM waste material and hence have not pursued the development of immobilization techniques as a waste treatment process. However, for treating the radioactive remainder of a separation step, immobilization is widely seen as a treatment with a high potential.

Into this latter classification would also fall ground freezing as a temporary measure to prevent the dispersal of contaminants [296, 297]. Either an impermeable screen around a contamination can be established or the contaminated material itself can be frozen in order to facilitate its handling. In either case, it is unlikely that in the present context of low level dispersed contamination this method would find a field of application.

The removal of a contaminated topsoil layer is, of course, the most effective measure, but generates large quantities of waste and is only applicable to small areas of land [138]. Moreover, the most fertile layer of the soil is removed in the process. The overall efficiency of such a measure depends very much on the operating conditions and on the distribution of the contamination in the vicinity of a critical group [151]. In Belarus, the Russian Federation and Ukraine the removal of contaminated topsoil was recommended for all settlements where the ¹³⁷Cs activity exceeded 555 kBq/m² and for 25–33% of settlements where the ¹³⁷Cs activity was in the range of 370 to 555 kBq/m². It was estimated that it would incur costs of about €325 per inhabitant [151].

6.3. SURFACE AND GROUNDWATERS: PUMP AND TREAT

Pump and treat systems (Fig. 17) were the baseline for remediating groundwaters throughout the 1990s [10, 298–301]. The technology is based on the assumption that contaminant concentrations can be reduced or removed by employing ion exchange or sorption [302] and precipitation processes [303]. Some attempts have been made to use electrolysis [304] or (reverse) osmosis in pump and treat systems. Chemicals have also been added underground in an attempt to enhance recovery rates [305].

A National Academy of Sciences report [306] provides a comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of pump and treat systems for the remediation



FIG. 17. A pump and treat system.

of subsurface contamination. The report found that pump and treat is inefficient as a source removal technology, although it can reduce source term volumes. In line with other methods based on changing the distribution between two different phases of a contaminant, this method becomes increasingly inefficient as the concentration gradient between, for example, species sorbed on the solid matrix and aqueous species diminishes. Large quantities of groundwater may have to be pumped and treated to remove only small amounts of contaminant. Removal in situ is inefficient, owing to tailing or mass transfer limitations. A further complication arises from the fact that not all pore water is mobile. Contaminants may be trapped in dead end pores and released into the mobile pore water only by diffusive processes, which is one of the mechanisms responsible for the tailing. Although various configurations of abstraction wells, etc., have been investigated with a view to increasing the degree of hydraulic connectedness and hence efficiency [307, 308], these configurations have been unable to overcome the fundamental constraints on diffusion.

Undesirable water properties, for example low pH values, as is often the case with mine effluents or disposal facility leachates, may pose special problems during processing [309]; a neutralization step might be required [310].

For these reasons it is unlikely that simple pump and treat methods will have much scope for application in situations with relatively low levels of contamination.

6.4. ENHANCED RECOVERY

It may be desirable to chemically treat aquifers in order to facilitate or accelerate the recovery of radionuclides or to lower residual concentrations in pump and treat scenarios [305]. Such methods are often termed 'soil flushing' [311]. After removal of the contaminant and before being reinjected, the pumped water is dosed with lixiviants, for example acid, surfactants [312], complexing agents such as EDTA [313, 314] or inert electrolytes, to replace sorbed radionuclides. However, unwanted side effects, such as dissolution of the rock matrix, may be difficult to predict. Some of the available extraction methods are used in hydrometallurgy to enhance metal value recovery [315, 316]. Figure 18 shows the principal layout for the treatment of an aquifer, while Fig. 19 shows the arrangement for treating the unsaturated zone above an aquifer.

Biological in situ leaching may be appropriate as a technique for enhanced recovery. More details on this method are given in Section 6.9.

Electrochemical methods for enhancing recovery of radionuclides in aqueous solutions have been proposed [304, 317–319]. If an electric field is applied to a solution, inorganic and organic ions migrate according to their charges to the respective electrodes (Fig. 20). Two primary mechanisms transport contaminants through the soil towards one or the other electrode: electromigration and electro-osmosis. In electromigration, charged particles are transported through the substrate. Electrolysis arrangements concentrate metal ions on the cathode and can aid the oxidation of organic contaminants. In contrast, electro-osmosis is the movement of a liquid containing ions relative to a stationary charged surface. The direction and rate of movement of an ionic species will depend on its charge, both in magnitude and polarity, as well as on the magnitude of the electro-osmosis induced flow velocity. Non-ionic species, both inorganic and organic, will also be transported along with the electro-osmosis induced water flow.

Different types of electrode material have been tested to improve performance, including porous ceramics and the rather novel carbon aerogels



FIG. 18. Sketch of an in situ leaching or enhanced recovery arrangement.



FIG. 19. Sprinkling of contaminated soil in the vadose zone to remove contamination.



FIG. 20. Generic layout for remediation by electrolysis and electro-osmosis.

that increase the effective surface area [302]. Electro-osmosis may be combined with other techniques to remove contaminants from low permeability geomatrices such as clays. LASAGNA is a technology demonstration project designed to evaluate a combination of techniques [168].

6.5. CHEMICAL EXTRACTION (EX SITU)

Disposal of contaminated soil is likely to be an inefficient option in most cases, owing to the large volumes involved [24], even though compaction may help to reduce the volume [320]. Separation or extraction of the contaminants is preferable where no suitable in situ technique is available, and a variety of proprietary processes have been developed over the past decade or so (e.g. Ref. [321]). Excavated soils can be treated with inorganic and organic solvents to dissolve and remove metals, including radionuclides [322]. The effectiveness and efficiency of a given solvent will depend on the type of binding between the radionuclide and the soil substrate and on the chemical species of the radionuclide. The choice of chemicals that can be applied is much more varied than for in situ treatment, given the better control of the processes and the fact that the operation can be carried out in closed reaction vessels. Considerations of environmental impact from the remediation operation, for example unwanted

effects on the groundwater and aquifers, are restricted to considerations that apply to similar industrial operations.

The solvents used can be either salt solutions that aim to replace radionuclides from sorption sites, as in backwashing ion exchangers, or acids that destroy substrates, such as carbonates, chelating agents [323–326] or surfactants [312] that bring sorbed ions into solution, or organic solvents that solubilize neutral species.

The recovery of low concentrations of uranium and other radionuclides from the process solutions can be a problem in itself. It is typically carried out by ion exchange. Suitable exchangers are synthetic organic polymers [327] or certain mineral species [328], such as zeolites.

Physicochemical methods, such as dialysis or membrane separation [329], sometimes in conjunction with electrochemical methods, have also been applied to remove radionuclides from soils.

Treatment residues themselves, such as sewage sludges, may need further treatment to remove radionuclides before they can be utilized or disposed of [330].

While being offered by a wide range of commercial contractors, it must be noted that, typically, extraction or soil washing processes destroy the soil's functionality and result in a sterile product. When reuse as topsoil is planned, addition of humus formers, for example compost, is necessary.

6.6. HYDROMETALLURGICAL METHODS

Ex situ methods to remove metals from soils and rocks, such as heap leaching, have undergone considerable development in the field of hydrometallurgy and solution mining [316, 331–333] and have been adapted to remediation problems [315, 334, 335]. Although the (bio)chemical processes are similar to those discussed in Sections 6.5 and 6.9, these methods are presented here separately because of their industrial application background. Large quantities of material are excavated and piled on specially prepared pads or polders. The leaching solution is sprayed or trickled over these 'heaps' at intervals and the leachate is collected for further processing (Fig. 21). The processing follows similar lines as that for treating pumped groundwaters.



FIG. 21. A heap leaching system.

6.7. SEGREGATION

Contamination is often associated with particular size fractions or mineral phases of a soil. Separation and segregation of the contaminated fraction will greatly reduce the amount of material requiring further treatment and disposal, while freeing the reminder for reuse. Extraction processes can therefore usually be made more efficient by a prior size fractionation of the geological materials [336–338], since contaminants tend to accumulate in the clay fraction because of the larger number of sorption sites on clay minerals and their often higher specific binding energy. Radionuclides and other heavy metals may also substitute for common ions of similar ionic radius and charge as counter ions in interlayers. In certain cases neoformation of clay minerals can incorporate radionuclides in the mineral lattice.

A variety of separation techniques have been borrowed from mineral processing, including mechanical sieving and screening, hydraulic size fractionation in, for example, settling tanks or hydrocyclones, specific gravity separators such as shaking tables or sluices, surface chemistry related processes such as froth floatation, and processes based on the different magnetic susceptibilities of different minerals. A combination of these techniques may be required to isolate the relevant fractions. Segregation is often the first step before one of the above chemical extraction methods is applied. The latter are also referred to as soil washing, if they form part of an extraction procedure.

6.8. BIOSORPTION

Scientific and technological developments over the past few decades have made possible the application of biological processes to the solution of complex

environmental problems (Refs [339–341] and the proceedings of the international biohydrometallurgy symposia). Microorganisms, that is to say single cell organisms such as bacteria or fungi, have been used as minute biological reactors that can efficiently and economically carry out specialized operations. Microbial biomass, whether living or not, has been shown to selectively sequester and retain elements from dilute aqueous solutions via a process named biosorption.

Through the process of biosorption the biosorbed species are selectively removed from the solution and are retained inside the microbial cells (biomass) in concentrations that are several orders of magnitude higher than those in the original solution. Heavy metals and radionuclides are taken up into cellular components such as the cell walls of certain microorganisms, which then can be harvested, carrying along the sequestered radionuclides. Biosorption is being explored in hydrometallurgy to concentrate metal bearing solutions, for example from heap leaching, and in the treatment of contaminated mining effluents [291, 316, 342, 343].

Engineering developments in the area of biosorption have led to the design of engineered biosorbents, microbial biomass cells or cellular components immobilized on or within various matrices, thus acquiring the form of small particles such as those of conventional adsorbents (e.g. activated carbon) or ion exchange resins. Organic cellular material derived from higher plants or algae have also been proposed as the basic material for manufacturing biosorbents that can be used for the extraction of metals, including radionuclides [344–354].

Biosorption methods are largely ex situ methods applicable for diluting contaminated solutions such as groundwaters or seepage. The contaminated solution is pumped into engineered reactors, in which it contacts the immobilized microbial biomass under optimized conditions (solution pH, flow rate, etc.). The contaminants are retained in an insoluble form by the biomass and the treated solution is let out of the reactor. The process of biosorption is reversible under certain conditions, which means that after the biosorbent is exhausted it could potentially be used for regeneration, releasing the previously held radionuclides in a small volume of the regenerating solution. Alternatively the biosorbent could be used once through and then disposed of appropriately.

Biosorption is an equilibrium process, with solution pH playing the role of the master variable, since it defines the speciation of the elements in the solution. This also means that the key driving force that dictates the biosorptive uptake capacity of the biomass in terms of mass of biosorbed species per unit mass of biosorbent (also referred to as the loading capacity) is the residual concentration of the contaminants after treatment and not the initial contaminant concentration [355].

The optimal biosorption pH depends on the biomass used and on the elements being removed; for example, the biosorption of uranium by the fungus *Rhizopus arrhizus* appears to be optimal at pH4, with significant reduction of the metal uptake capacity as the pH drops to pH2. The increased concentration of hydrogen ions at the acidic pH along with the chemical effects on the cell walls of the microorganisms are responsible for this reduction in capacity [356, 357]. However, increasing the pH towards neutral values may again create operational problems, depending on the composition of the contact solution. The hydrolysis and subsequent precipitation of ferric ions which adsorb on to (coat) the biosorbent adversely affect the biosorption process [227].

The biosorption of metals by algal biomass is another example in which the sequestering of metals such as lead, zinc or copper by microorganisms such as *Chlorella vulgaris*, *Chlorella regularis* or *Chlamydomonas* sp. is optimal in the range of pH6 to pH8. The biosorption of oxyanions such as chromates or selenates by the same type of algae has an optimal biosorption pH in the acidic range of pH2 to pH3 [358, 359].

Biosorption of ²²⁶Ra by several types of microorganisms, such as *Rhizopus arrhizus, Aspergillus niger* and *Streptomyces niveus*, exhibited an optimal contact pH in the neutral to alkaline range, with corresponding radium equilibrium uptake capacities in the range of tens of MBq/g. It is therefore obvious that optimization of biosorption processes should be made on a case by case basis and requires increased care so that the process will perform satisfactorily.

Considerable efforts have been made to understand the underlying mechanisms of biosorption and to improve the process efficiency. The available information has shown that cell walls are the major biosorption functional sites for heavy metals, uranium and thorium. It has also been shown that EPSs play a significant role in biosorption [360]. The molecular level understanding of the biosorptive processes is still limited to selected pairs of metals and microorganisms. The microbial biomass provides ligand groups on to which the metal species bind. In addition, sorptive and hydrolysis processes play a role. Three major classes of microbial biopolymers (proteins, nucleic acids and polysaccharides) provide biosorption sites. Different ionic species of a given element might exhibit preference for a different binding site. Should the preference of one metal ion for a ligand be similar to that of another ion, a biosorption competition effect might be observed if both elements are simultaneously present in the contact solution.

A model of bisorption competition effects that is based on Pearson's classification of metals [361] has been reported as a basic tool for understanding such effects. On the basis of this model, significant ionic competition effects can be observed for metals belonging to the same Pearson classification class. Elements belonging to different classes demonstrate limited competition, while elements belonging to the Pearson's classification borderline class are affected by the presence of competing co-ions [362]. Additional systematic work for the mechanistic understanding of biosorptive processes and the associated ionic competition effects is required.

Numerical simulation techniques play an important role in designing and assessing remediation processes, including those using biotechnological methods [363–365]. Although biosorption using inactive microbial biomass has been demonstrated to be effective in substantially removing (and in some cases recovering) targeted radionuclides such as uranium, radium and thorium from contaminated solutions, a full scale commercial application is not yet available. The use of living microorganisms in innovative reactor configurations has recently been under investigation for the same purposes as conventional biosorption. This approach to the biological sequestering of metals has substantially different requirements and operating conditions than conventional inactive biomass biosorption. This alternative biotechnological approach is often referred to as bioaccumulation or bioprecipitation and is showing excellent potential.

6.9. BIOLEACHING

Bioleaching occurs naturally when microorganisms assist in the slow weathering of out-cropping sulphide ore bodies. Bioleaching is an established biotechnological process for the dissolution and hence mobilization of valuable metals from ores by microorganisms [366–371]. Metals for which this technique is mainly employed are copper, cobalt, nickel, zinc, gold, silver and uranium. It is estimated that about 20–30% of the world's copper production originates from bioleaching; in the case of uranium it is judged to be about 5–10%. Bioleaching has also been promoted as a cost efficient method for metal value recovery in developing countries, and its applicability in this context has recently been reviewed [372].

Bioleaching also has scope for application in reworking waste material from mining for enhanced recovery of metals, including radionuclides, which has the potential to reduce the environmental burden. The method has been explicitly applied to the remediation of uranium and other mining legacies [373, 374]. The pathways of the resulting contaminated waters have to be

carefully controlled, for example by arrangements similar to those for heap leaching (Fig. 21). Microbially mediated leaching processes frequently have the unwanted side effect of AMD generation, for example by pyrite oxidation [375].

The types of ore that are amenable to bioleaching comprise sulphides, carbonates and oxides. The groups of microorganisms involved are mainly bacteria and fungi. In some cases algae and lichens may also play a role. Various mechanisms are involved, depending on the type of ore in question.

In the case of sulphidic minerals the predominant dissolution causing microorganisms are acidophilic (meaning organisms living between pH0 and pH5) bacteria of the sulphur and iron cycles, namely *Acidithiobacillus* (abbreviation *A.*, former name *Thiobacillus*) *ferrooxidans*, *A. thiooxidans*, *Leptospirillum* (abbreviation *L.*) *ferrooxidans*, *A. caldus*, *Metallogenium* sp., *Sulfobacillus thermosulfidooxidans*, *Sulfolobus* sp., *Acidianus brierleyi* and several others. The species of *Acidithiobacillus* live in the moderate temperature range (0–45°C), *Metallogenium* and *Sulfobacillus* thrive at elevated temperatures (40–65°C) and *Sulfolobus* and *Acidianus* are thermophiles growing from 65 to 90°C.

The dissolution is generally effected by two mechanisms, depending on the type of mineral to be dissolved:

- (a) Pyrite and molybdenite and a few other minerals of the same structure can only be dissolved by an oxidizing attack on their crystal lattice, owing to their electronic configuration (non-bonding outer orbitals) [376]. The bacteria able to do this are the Fe(II) oxidizing *A. ferrooxidans*, *L. ferrooxidans* and *Acidianus* sp. This mechanism is known as the thiosulphate mechanism.
- (b) All other sulphidic minerals possess bonding outer orbitals and thus are more or less dissolvable by a hydrolytic attack involving protons. In addition, Fe(III) ions further the dissolution by an oxidizing attack. These minerals may consequently be dissolved by all the above mentioned bacteria of the sulphur and iron cycles. This dissolution process is known as the polysulphide mechanism.

In both cases, the dissolution of the mineral is mainly effected by bacteria attached to the surface of the respective mineral. The compounds mediating such attachment are EPSs ('slimes'). The EPSs consist, from a chemical point of view, mainly of lipids, carbohydrates, sugar acids (uronic acids) and complexed, inorganic ions such as Fe(III) ions. The distance between the bacterial cell and the mineral substrate surface is of the order of 20 to 50 nm. This space is filled with the EPS, creating a reaction space with unknown

conditions of pH, redox and ion concentrations; the reaction space is an extension of the radius of action of the cell, thus allowing it to augment its food supply. As a consequence, biological leaching becomes considerably accelerated (sometimes more than 100-fold) compared with the purely chemical process utilizing Fe(III) ions and/or protons only. In the latter process the freely suspended planktonic cells also have to be considered, since their effect is mainly the reoxidation of the iron ions in solution. Bioleaching is thus an interface process and belongs to the area of nanobiotechnology.

Final products of dissolution are metal cations, Fe(III) ions, sulphate and/ or sulphuric acid. The energy of the oxidation is partially conserved by the bacteria for metabolic purposes and growth. The bacteria possess specialized cell components allowing them to conserve some of the energy in a utilizable form (ATP, NADH). Furthermore, they need only carbon dioxide from the air to build up their cell mass and inorganic trace elements. These are therefore very specialized organisms; this type of metabolism is called lithoautotrophy.

The above mentioned bacteria are generally not important for carbonate and/or oxide ores. Bacteria and fungi are used for dissolving such minerals, which, due to an unbalanced metabolism, excrete organic acids. This requires an ample supply of exogenous carbon sources, which they metabolize, and as a consequence of either too much substrate, or a lack of essential nutrients or trace elements such as nitrogenous compounds or minerals, excrete partly in an intermediate oxidation state. Excreted acids are, for example, citric, oxalic, succinic, malic, acetic and/or formic acid, and sugar (uronic acids) or amino acids. These acids dissolve and/or complex metal cations and thus solubilize them.

The bioleaching technique is employed in several forms.

In the case of low grade ores that for economic reasons cannot be (a) processed by conventional roasting or other similar processes, a heap leaching process is applied (Fig. 21). In the majority of cases in which this technique has been applied to date, the ore contained copper, zinc and trace elements. A limited number of experiments of this type have been performed for extracting uranium from low grade ores. One experiment was carried out near Ronneburg, Germany, by Wismut in the 1980s, another one at Elliott Lake in Canada. For this purpose large amounts of low grade ores are placed on leach pads (plastic liners) or dumped in valleys with a known and impermeable geological strata and sprinkled regularly with acidified bacteria-containing solution (which originates from similar operations or from acid mine waters). The dissolved metals and sulphate plus sulphuric acid are left to accumulate to a concentration at which extraction processes such as solvent extraction, ion exchange and/or electrowinning become viable. Residence times for such

operations range from several months to a few years. If these heaps are constructed without consideration of the underlying geology and/or abandoned without care, acid mine-rock drainage (ARD or AMD) may result. Abandoned mines, mine shafts, open pits, etc., might also produce and release ARD. Owing to the acidity combined with dissolved heavy metals, this might result in serious environmental damage and/or even create new ecosystems (as in Rio Tinto, Spain).

- (b) Bioleaching has been employed experimentally at the field scale in Germany to treat heavy metal contaminated sediments [377]. The generic scheme from the raw sediment to a viable soil substrate is illustrated in Fig. 22.
- (c) In the case of sulphidic concentrates, bioleaching is increasingly used for extracting precious metals. In recent years several plants have gone into operation that use acidophilic leaching bacteria for extracting gold, nickel and cobalt. The operation usually consists of stirred tanks (bioreactors) with volumes of up to 1000 m³ in continuous operation. Residence times are in the range of 3 to 7 days.

Another form of application is in situ bioleaching (see Fig. 18) [378]. This technique is applied: (1) to treat ore bodies that are located too deep underground for conventional mining; (2) to treat leftover ore from other mining activities, as was the case with the uranium bioleaching at Elliott Lake, Canada; and (3) to avoid damage to the surface environment. Consequently,



FIG. 22. The experimental process from raw contaminated sediment to reconditioned soil, after Ref. [377].

for bioleaching the host rocks are typically prepared by blasting to perforate them and by the installation of pumping in and pumping out pipe systems for the application, recirculation and extraction of leach solutions. The pregnant solution is then processed in an extraction plant to extract the valuable metals. Depending on the geological setting, such in situ leaching may pose different hazards to the environment. Sometimes, losses of the leach solution that enter unnoticed underlying aquifers via faults or fissures in the separating geological strata are encountered.

In the case of radioactive minerals, there may also be another, unwanted effect: an enhanced emission of radon. Comparison of the radon emission rates and bioleaching activity at the above mentioned leaching waste heaps near Ronneburg, Germany, has shown that high cell numbers of leaching bacteria were found at sites with high radon emissions, whereas at sites with low emissions only low cell numbers occurred. An explanation for this effect comes from the mineralogy of the ore. At Ronneburg the uranium is embedded in pyrite. Once this pyrite has been attacked by bioleaching, radon is liberated and may escape into the atmosphere. This causes an additional exposure for the local population and requires measures to reduce or even inhibit the biological process.

6.10. PHYTOEXTRACTION

6.10.1. Overview

The use of plants to remove contaminants from the environment and concentrate them in above ground plant tissue is known as phytoextraction [379–394]. Phytoextraction requires that the target metal (radionuclide) be available to the plant root, absorbed by the root and translocated from the root to the shoot; biomass production should be substantial. The metal (radionuclide) is removed from the site by harvesting the biomass, after which it is processed either to recover the metal or further concentrate the metal (by a thermal, microbial or chemical treatment) to facilitate disposal.

Research and development efforts have focused on two areas: (1) remediation of contaminants such as lead [395–397], arsenic, chromium, mercury and radionuclides [129, 386, 398–406]; and (2) mining, or recovery, of inorganic compounds, mainly nickel and copper, having intrinsic economic value.

Successful implementation of phytoextraction depends on [284]:

(a) The bioavailability of the contaminant in the environmental matrix;
- (b) Root uptake;
- (c) Internal translocation of the plant;
- (d) Plant tolerance.

Plant productivity (i.e. the amount of dry matter that is harvestable each season) and the accumulation factor (the ratio of metal in plant tissue to that in the soil) are important design parameters [406–408]. This is clearly exemplified by the following set of equations and tables [406]. The percentage yearly reduction in soil activity can be calculated as:

Annual removal (%) =
$$\frac{\text{TF} \times \text{yield}}{W_{\text{soil}}} \times 100$$
 (1)

where TF is the transfer factor or bioaccumulation factor (TF = $C_{\text{plant}}/C_{\text{soil}}$, with C_{plant} the concentration of the radiocontaminant in the plant (Bq/g) and C_{soil} the concentration of the contaminant in the soil) and W_{soil} the weight of the contaminated soil layer (kg/ha). As is evident from Eq. (1), the annual removal percentage increases with yield and TF. However, TF and yield values are not independent: a high yield is often associated with lower TFs because of growth dilution effects.

Phytoextraction typically requires several years of operation, and the future trend in radionuclide concentration in the soil can be calculated from:

$$C_{\text{soil},t} = C_{\text{soil},t=0} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{\text{TF} \times \text{yield}}{W_{\text{soil}}} + \frac{0.69}{t_{1/2}}\right) \times t\right]$$
(2)

The second term in the exponent of Eq. (2) accounts for radioactive decay ($t_{1/2}$ is the half-life of the radionuclide). For some radionuclides with long half-lives (e.g. $t_{1/2}$ for ²³⁸U is 4.5×10^9 a), this component will not affect the phytoextraction potential. For others, for example ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr, with half-lives of 30 years, the phytoextraction potential will be affected; that is, a yearly loss of 2.33% in activity occurs merely through radioactive decay. Equation (2) assumes a constant bioavailability of the contaminant (i.e. a constant TF).

Table 4 shows, for a calculated example, the percentage annual removal per hectare for different crop yields and TFs, based on a 10 cm deep soil layer that has a mass of 1500 t for a soil density of 1.5 kg/dm³. It should be borne in mind that if the contamination is spread to a depth of 20–50 cm in the soil, annual removal with the biomass is reduced by a factor of 2 to 5, respectively, compared with the figures presented in Table 6.

TABLE 4. PERCENTAGE YEARLY REDUCTION OF SOIL CONTAMI-
NATION DUE TO PHYTOEXTRACTION AND RADIOACTIVE
DECAY [406]

	A	Annual phytoe	reductio extractio	on due to on (%)		Annual reduction due to phytoextraction and decay (to y (%)	
TF (g/g)	Yield (t/ha)				Yield (t/ha)					
	5	10	15	20	30	5	10	15	20	30
0.01	0.003	0.007	0.01	0.013	0.02	2.33	2.34	2.34	2.34	2.35
0.1	0.033	0.067	0.1	0.133	0.2	2.36	2.40	2.43	2.46	2.53
1	0.33	0.67	1.00	1.33	2.00	2.66	3	3.33	3.66	4.33
2	0.67	1.33	2.00	2.67	4.00	3	3.66	4.33	5	6.33
5	1.67	3.33	5.00	6.67	10.00	4	5.66	7.33	9	12.33
10	3.33	6.67	10.00	13.33	20.00	5.66	9	12.33	15.7	22.33

Note: $t_{4/2}$: 30 a; soil depth: 10 cm; soil density: 1.5 kg/dm³.

Yields of more than 20 t/ha and TFs higher than 0.1 (Table 4) may be regarded as upper limits, except for strontium. This would result in an annual reduction percentage of 0.1% (decay excluded). When TF equals 1, the annual reduction is about 1%. Table 5 gives some ranges for TFs for the natural radionuclides uranium and radium, predominant contaminants in the NORM industries, and the long lived fission products ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr.

By rearranging Eq. (2) the number of years needed to attain the required reduction factor as a function of annual removal percentage can be calculated. Table 6 presents the number of years required to attain a reduction of the contaminant concentration up to a factor of 100, given an annual extraction

	Total range (Bq/g plant to Bq/g soil)	Comment on conditions for upper limit
Cs	0.00025-7.5	Brassica, organic soil
Sr	0.0051 - 22	Green vegetables, sandy soil
U	0.000006 - 21.13	Tubers, sandy soil
Ra	0.00029 - 0.21	Grass, sandy soil

TABLE 5. RANGES FOR TFs (RATIO) BASED ON DATA FROM REFS [122, 123, 141, 146, 402, 403, 409–416]

TABLE 6. CALCULATED NUMBER OF YEARS REQUIRED TO DECONTAMINATE A SOIL FOR A REQUIRED (DESIRED) REDUCTION FACTOR AND A GIVEN ANNUAL REMOVAL PERCENTAGE

Desired	Activity remaining,	Annual removal (%/a)							
factor	$C_{\mathrm{soil},t}/C_{\mathrm{soil},t=0}$ (%)	20	15	10	5	3	2	1	0.1
5	20	7	10	15	31	53	80	160	1650
10	10	10	14	22	45	76	114	229	2301
20	5	13	18	28	58	98	148	298	2994
50	2	18	27	37	76	128	194	389	3910
100	1	21	28	44	90	151	228	458	4603

Note: Soil depth: 10 cm; soil density: 1.5 kg/dm³.

percentage or percentage reduction in radionuclide activity varying between 0.1% and 20%. With an annual removal of 0.1% it would take more than 2000 years to decontaminate a soil to 10% of its initial activity; with an annual removal of 1%, more than 200 years are required. It is hence clear that measures would need to be taken to increase the annual removal efficiency through crop selection, or to increase the bioavailability by applying soil additives and through technical measures (e.g. decreasing the tilled soil depth).

In most cases one has limited control over the depth of the contamination, although it may be feasible and advantageous to excavate and pile the soil to the desired soil depth for phytoremediation purposes. One possibility is to excavate the soil and spread it on geomembranes, which impedes roots from penetrating to deeper layers. These membranes will also limit contaminant dispersal to the underlying clean soil, but a substantial area may be needed for treatment. Decreasing the tilled soil depth increases the removal percentage according to Eq. (1) and may intensify root–soil contact, and may result in an increased TF.

The other factors influencing radionuclide bioavailability, such as crop selection and measures to increase the bioavailability of the radionuclide of concern, are generally radionuclide specific. To maximize the metal content in the biomass, it is necessary to use a combination of improved soil management measures, for example optimizing the soil pH and mineral nutrient contents, or the addition of agents that increase the availability of metals.

Apart from the application of soil additives to increase export with the plant biomass, plant selection may also be important for improving the phytoextraction potential [417]. As already mentioned, there is a significant interspecies variability in TFs (Table 9). Since the values are seldom obtained for similar soil and growth conditions, the effect of plant species on the TFs cannot be unambiguously derived. Observed differences between plant varieties or cultivars have been up to a factor of 2 [403].

Improved genotypes with optimized metal uptake, translocation and tolerance, and improved biomass yield, may also be an approach to improved phytoextraction. Plant breeding [418] and genetic engineering may open further alleys to develop hyperaccumulating plants [419–421], but actual research and technology development is mostly limited to heavy metals.

Although positive effects have been obtained following applications of soil amendments that increase element bioavailability, the effect of continuous treatment on soil quality, plant growth and bioaccumulation is not clear. There also remains the question of long term effectiveness: will TFs remain constant or will they decrease as radionuclide concentrations decrease.

Effective extraction of radionuclides and heavy metals by hyperaccumulators is limited to shallow soil depths of up to 30 cm. If a contamination is found at substantially greater depths (e.g. 2–3 m), deep rooting perennial crops could in principle be employed, but the fraction of their roots exploring the contaminated zone would be small and hence also the phytoextraction potential.

There are concerns that contaminated leaf litter and associated toxic residues [422] may result in uncontrolled dispersion of the contaminants. Finding a safe use or disposal route for contaminated biomass will be a major element in developing a phytoextraction scheme.

Little is known about the economics of phytoextraction, which not only depends on the extraction efficiency but also on the costs associated with crop management (i.e. soil management, sowing or planting (yearly returns for annual crops), harvesting, post-harvest biomass transport, biomass treatment, potential disposal costs and site monitoring). The treatment of 1 m^3 of contaminated soil (10 m^2 for a 1 dm soil layer) will result in about 10–20 kg of biomass (~2–4 kg of ash) annually.

6.10.2. Uranium removal

Free UO_2^{2+} is the uranium species most readily taken up and translocated by plants. Since this uranium species is only present at a pH of pH5.5 or less, acidification of uranium contaminated soils may be necessary for phytoextraction [401]. The uranyl cation also binds to the soil solids and organic matter, reducing the extent of plant uptake [423, 424]. Therefore, in addition to acidification, soil amendments that increase the availability of uranium by complexation may also be required. In testing the role of acidification and chelating agents on the solubilization of uranium it was found [402, 403] that, of the organic acids and chelating agents tested, citric acid was the most effective for increasing uranium in the soil solution. Following citric acid treatment (20 mmol/kg) the uranium accumulation in Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea*) was increased 1000-fold [403] and in beet (*Beta vulgaris*) tenfold [402, 403].

Similar results were obtained when testing the potential for phytoextraction of uranium from a low level contaminated sandy soil using rye grass (*Lolium perenne* cv. Melvina), Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* cv. Vitasso) and redroot pigweed (*Amarathus retroflexus*) [129]. The annual removal of the soil activity with the biomass was less than 0.1%. Addition of citric acid increased uranium uptake up to 500-fold, and extraction percentages of 2–5% appear achievable. Citric acid addition, however, resulted in a decreased dry weight production (all plants tested) and even plant death and crop regrowth (in the case of rye grass). Depending on the desired contamination reduction factor (e.g. 5–50), it would still take between 30 and 200 years for the target to be met (Table 6).

6.10.3. Strontium removal

Table 7 shows the annual crop removal of 137 Cs and 90 Sr. It is clear from this table that in normal agricultural systems the annual caesium flux is small compared with the reservoir present in the soil. The 137 Cs removal rates are all less than 1%, and the highest removal is found for grassland. The high sorption of 137 Cs in soil and the typical potassium levels in soil required for optimal plant growth all limit removal rates.

The removal of ⁹⁰Sr with biomass is higher than that of ¹³⁷Cs because the ⁹⁰Sr availability is typically tenfold above that of caesium. The TFs of ⁹⁰Sr in green vegetables and *Brassica* plants are typically around unity and the upper levels are around 10 [409]. Phytoextraction of ⁹⁰Sr has not yet been investigated at the field scale. The high removal rates in agricultural crops (Table 7) suggest that phytoextraction may be worth while to explore.

The highest transfers of ⁹⁰Sr are typical for leguminous perennial grasses (*Trifolium* family) and *Brassica* plants [25]. Field experiments in Belarus were carried out at the Belarussian Research Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry (BRISSA) [425] on light-textured soil contaminated with ⁹⁰Sr (Table 8). It was found that cow clover (*Trifolium pratense*) has annual green mass yields of up to 65–75 t/ha (6–7 t/ha dry mass). The ⁹⁰Sr removal values were in the range 2.5–3.6% of the total radionuclide reservoir in the soil. A change of soil pH from neutral (pH6.8) to moderately acid (pH4.9) enhanced the ⁹⁰Sr transfer by a factor of almost 2, but the yield of clover was reduced, so the total

TABLE 7. ANNUAL REMOVAL BY CROP BIOMASS OF ¹³⁷Cs AND ⁹⁰Sr FOR SOME AGRICULTURAL CROPS, EXPRESSED AS A FRACTION OF TOTAL CONTENT IN THE TILLED LAYER (ARABLE CROPS) OR IN THE 0–12.5 cm LAYER (GRASSLAND)

	Yield (dry matter) (t/ha)	Caesium TF (g/g)	Caesium crop removal (% of total in soil)	Strontium TF (g/g)	Strontium crop removal (% of total in soil)
Cereals (grain)	5–7	0.0004–0.25	0.0005-0.06	0.02–0.94	0.0037-0.22
Potato tuber	6–10	0.003-0.89	0.0006-0.3	0.03-1.4	0.006-0.5
Leafy vegetables	5–10	0.008–1.7	0.001–0.6	0.45–9.1	0.07–3.0
Grassland	10–15	0.01–1.0	0.007-1.0	_	—

Note: The TF ranges were derived from Ref. [409].

accumulation of radionuclide per unit area was increased only by a factor of 1.5. It should be noted that when the clover is used as animal fodder, the greater part of ⁹⁰Sr activity will end up in dung and in normal agricultural practice would be returned back to the fields. An alternative, non-dispersive use of the biomass has not yet been developed for this example in Belarus.

It may hence be concluded that, except for ⁹⁰Sr, annual removal of contaminants with plant biomass is generally too low to allow phytoextraction to be efficient without soil additives that increase bioavailability. The high removal rates in agricultural crops for strontium suggest that phytoextraction could be explored with benefit for this element.

6.10.4. Caesium removal

Given its similarity to potassium, the soil potassium status will affect ¹³⁷Cs availability [141, 426–430]. Generally, the higher the soil potassium, the lower the TF. Extremely low soil fertility with regard to potassium may increase ¹³⁷Cs TFs tenfold to 100-fold [427, 431, 432], but will also decrease plant growth. A decrease in pH [136, 426] and decreased ammonium levels [141, 398, 433–436] generally increase caesium soil to plant transfer, but the effects are generally limited (a factor of 2).

Fertilizer treatment	Crop yield (green mass) (t/ha)	⁹⁰ Sr activity (Bq/kg)	⁹⁰ Sr accumulation in yield (kBq/ha)	⁹⁰ Sr accumulation (% of total soil concentration)
	For so	oil pH (KCl) = 4	l.9	
P ₆₀	36	243	8 809	2.4
$P_{60}K_{60}$	46	238	10 948	3.0
$P_{60}K_{120}$	54	223	12 098	3.3
$P_{60}K_{180}$	65	207	13 455	3.6
	For so	oil pH (KCl) = 5	5.9	
P ₆₀	40	198	7 871	2.1
$P_{60}K_{60}$	49	188	9 165	2.5
$P_{60}K_{120}$	57	178	10 191	2.8
$P_{60}K_{180}$	72	160	11 440	3.1
	For so	oil pH (KCl) = 6	5.8	
P ₆₀	46	169	7 732	2.1
$P_{60}K_{60}$	55	153	8 339	2.3
$P_{60}K_{120}$	64	151	9 589	2.6
$P_{60}K_{180}$	75	123	9 194	2.5

TABLE 8. STRONTIUM-90 ACCUMULATION BY CLOVER ON PODZOLUVISOL LOAMY SAND SOIL IN BELARUS (DEPOSITION: 37 kBq/m^2) [425]

The effect of ammonium addition on the phytoextraction potential of ryegrass and *Brassica* grown on caesium contaminated soil has been tested [398]. Ammonium addition increased the dry weight yield by 20% and the TF by 80%, resulting in a TF of 0.8 g/g. With a realistic yield of 20 t/ha under field conditions, this would result in an annual reduction of 3.3% (decay included). This would imply in turn that 50 years of continued phytoextraction would be needed to reach a reduction of the soil contamination level by a factor of 5 (cf. Table 6).

Amarantus species have TFs as high as 3.2 g/g [437, 438]. With a yield potential estimated at around 30 t/ha/a (based on two harvests per year) and a target fourfold reduction in soil activity, the phytoextraction process would require 16 years to complete.

In a normal agricultural land use system the annual ¹³⁷Cs removal with plant yield is rather small compared with the total amount of contamination derived ¹³⁷Cs present in the soil [439]. It is known that the highest caesium uptake typically occurs in perennial grasses. As found recently in several field experiments in Belarus, ¹³⁷Cs removal rates for perennial grasses with an annual dry matter yield of 2–5 t/ha are less than 0.1% [425]. Phytoextraction of caesium in normal agricultural practice therefore appears not to be a very efficient process.

6.10.5. Phytoextraction project in Belarus

The phytoextraction effect of rape (*Brassica* sp.) is significant. Rape has a high ability to accumulate 90 Sr [126, 239]. In BRISSA field experiments the annual accumulation of 90 Sr in pods and straw reached approximately 3% of the 90 Sr content in the soil (Table 9). Radionuclides incorporated in straw ploughed in just after harvesting will be unavailable for one to two subsequent growing seasons, until the final mineralization of the straw. The degree of 90 Sr immobilization by straw is comparable in size to the reduction of soil contamination due to radioactive decay. The phytoremediation effect of growing rape may be increased by removing straw from the field and disposing of it safely. However, the disposal option is likely to be rather expensive and will deprive the soil of the necessary raw material for humus formation. Thus while phytoremediation with rape appears feasible in principle, it might be more sustainable to operate the scheme as a means for enhanced attenuation.

Available data indicate a significant interspecies variability in the transfer of radionuclides from soil to plants. However, hard experimental data for the evaluation of phytoextraction potential and for the development of an appropriate crop rotation scheme are rather scarce. Experimental data from Belarus show differences in the accumulation of ¹³⁷Cs for 32 varieties of spring rape between years of up to 1.8–2.7 times, and for ⁹⁰Sr of up to 1.8–4.0 times. It should be noted that these differences are radionuclide specific, meaning that one variety that accumulates less ¹³⁷Cs does not necessarily accumulate less ⁹⁰Sr [126]. The experimental results from Belarus allow the identification of varieties that have the desired uptake properties: more uptake for phytoextraction purposes or less uptake for minimizing the radionuclide content in the food pathway [134, 239].

TABLE 9.	STRONTIUM-90	ACCUMULA	ATION BY	VARIETIES	OF
SPRING RA	PE RELATED TO	O PODZOLU	VISOL LO	AMY SAND S	SOIL
WITH A DE	POSITION OF 37 1	kBq/m ² (1997–	1998) [126]		

Variety	Seed yield	⁹⁰ Sr activity (Bq/kg)		⁹⁰ Sr uptake (kBq/ha)		⁹⁰ Sr uptake (% of total soil content)		
	(t/ha)	Seeds	Straw	Seeds	Straw	Seeds	Straw	Total
Hanna (standard)	1.9	265	663	514	5 141	0.14	1.39	1.53
Yavor	1.9	240	648	451	4 873	0.12	1.32	1.44
Likosmos	2.0	264	686	541	5 628	0.15	1.52	1.67
Lirovel	1.8	275	688	501	5 005	0.14	1.35	1.49
Licoll	2.2	310	868	682	7 638	0.18	2.06	2.25
PF 7118/93	2.2	314	879	675	7 561	0.18	2.04	2.23
PF 7045/91	2.1	319	479	670	4 019	0.18	1.09	1.27
PF 7056/92	1.9	322	902	570	6 383	0.15	1.73	1.88
Iris	1.9	338	744	629	5 532	0.17	1.50	1.67
Orakel	2.1	344	826	726	6 968	0.20	1.88	2.08
PF 5045/88	2.2	345	759	742	6 527	0.20	1.76	1.96
PF 7369/94	2.3	358	967	816	8 815	0.22	2.38	2.60
Lizonne	1.7	395	1 027	675	7 025	0.18	1.90	2.08
PF 7410/94	1.9	407	1 140	765	8 570	0.21	2.32	2.52
Liazon	2.0	436	1 221	855	9 571	0.23	2.59	2.82
PF 7041/91	1.8	477	1 336	844	9 456	0.23	2.56	2.78
PF 7008/91	2.4	478	1 338	1 166	13 063	0.32	3.53	3.85

6.11. RHIZOFILTRATION

Rhizofiltration is the use of plants to sequester compounds from aqueous solutions through adsorption on the roots or assimilation through the roots and eventual translocation to the aerial biomass (phytoextraction). Rhizofiltration is being investigated for the removal of radionuclides from aqueous waste streams, including groundwater and wastewater [440].

Rhizofiltration is particularly effective in applications with low concentrations and large volumes of water. Plants that are efficient at translocating metals to the shoots should not be used for rhizofiltration, since additional contaminated plant residue is produced [441].

The removal of a radionuclide from an aqueous waste stream is governed by the plant dry weight production and the concentration factor, CF (ratio of Bq/g plant to Bq/mL water or soil solution). Since adsorption in (waste)water per volume is lower than in soil, the CF is higher than the TF. This becomes clear when considering the relationship between the TF and the CF, which is TF = CF/ K_D in which K_D is the solid–liquid distribution coefficient of a radionuclide (e.g. dm³/kg) (i.e. the ratio of radionuclide activity concentration in the solid phase to that in the soil solution). Since the value of K_D for most radionuclides is generally substantially higher than 1 [27, 442, 443], it is clear that the CF exceeds the TF by the same factor and that rhizofiltration is generally more effective than soil phytoextraction.

A plant suitable for rhizofiltration applications can remove toxic metals from solution over an extended period of time with its rapid growth root system. Various plant species have been found to effectively remove toxic elements such as arsenic, copper, cadmium, chromium, nickel, lead and zinc from aqueous solutions [444, 445].

Pilot scale research on rhizofiltration has found that the roots of sunflowers (*Helianthus annuus* L.) reduced levels of lead, copper, zinc, nickel, strontium, cadmium, U(VI), manganese and Cr(VI) to concentrations near to or below regulated discharge limits within 24 h [441, 446]. Beans and mustard were less effective than sunflowers in uranium removal [447]. Virtually all uranium was concentrated in the roots, and almost none in the shoots. Removal was higher (by a factor of 2) at pH5 than at pH7.

Uranium is clearly removed much faster from contaminated pond water than caesium and strontium (Fig. 23) [447]. Sunflowers showed higher caesium and strontium removal rates than timothy, meadow foxtail, Indian mustard and peas.

However, rhizofiltration has its limits [447]. In an experiment with rather highly contaminated wastewater (1 mg/L U) and high flow rates (1.05 L/min), 95% of the uranium was removed by 6 week old sunflowers grown for 2 weeks in the wastewater, resulting in effluent concentrations of 40–70 μ g/L, which are above the 20 μ g/L drinking water limit.





FIG. 23. Removal of uranium by different sunflower cultivars (a) and removal of caesium, strontium and uranium by sunflowers (b) [447].

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Dispersed low level contamination poses a particular challenge to those charged with its remediation. Many techniques are not efficient below certain concentration thresholds or entail more severe impacts on certain environmental compartments than the contamination itself. In such cases justification for remediation may not be given on radiation protection grounds, but remediation may still be demanded by the public.

This report examines a variety of technological options for dealing with dispersed low level contamination. The objective of any technology used in a remediation project is either to remove or reduce the source term or to block exposure pathways. This can be achieved in a variety of ways and needs to be tailored to the contaminants and pathways of interest. The approaches are broadly grouped into the three categories of:

- (a) Non-intervention;
- (b) Containment;
- (c) Removal.

While this conceptual grouping is useful for understanding the objectives behind certain technologies, it may be noted that various technologies could be grouped into more than one category. The functionality of a certain technology may change over time or may combine, for example, containment with removal.

The decision of whether to remediate actively would be based on predictive modelling and a risk assessment. If there are no acute exposure pathways, the decision not to intervene may be justified. However, the effects of natural attenuation would be monitored to verify that the contamination behaves as predicted.

Reliance on natural processes may need to be complemented by a change in the use of the contaminated land in order to minimize exposures and the uptake of radionuclides. Such change in land use may extend to (temporarily) dedicating agricultural land to forestry or may simply involve a change of crops. In coping with the widespread contamination following the Chernobyl accident, such agricultural countermeasures have found wide application for retaining some use of the land.

There are various ways by which enhanced attenuation can be attempted. Typically such measures intend to change the controlling geochemical parameters, such as pH or redox potential, to values that would disfavour migration. Enhancement of sorption binding capacities and intensities by soil additives has also been attempted.

Such measures gradually lead to more invasive measures to contain a contamination. Outright containment by impermeable or low permeability barriers and liners may encounter logistic problems for dispersed contamination. Apart from the fact that this would involve major civil engineering work, the effectiveness may be difficult to maintain.

Permeable reactive barriers seem to offer a viable alternative for a wide range of contaminants. Such barriers are intended to fix in situ a contaminant passing by with the groundwater flow. The fixation mechanisms typically are sorption or precipitation, or a combination of both. Frequently, the reactants in the barrier are also meant to induce a change in the redox of the radionuclide (or heavy metal) concerned, leading to a less mobile species. Various construction methods are employed, including trenching and injection curtains. A rather more novel application are biowalls that utilize microbial processes to effect fixation.

It may also be possible to immobilize a contaminant in situ, rather than waiting for it to migrate into a reactive barrier. Technologies involve, for example, either the injection of grouts to bind contaminants and to reduce soil permeability, or the injection of reactants to precipitate the radionuclides. In the latter case, the reactant may be compressed air or another oxidant to oxidize the iron in the groundwater to ferric oxyhydroxides, which act as a soprtion substrate. Compared with reactive barriers, however, the amount of civil engineering work is likely to be higher.

In certain environments the dispersal of surface contamination in the form of contaminated dust may be of concern. Organic polymers and other binders have been successfully used to suppress dust generation. Reducing erodibility may also be an important first step in establishing a stable vegetation cover. In addition to mechanically stabilizing the topsoil, phytostabilization can establish a well determined cycling of radionuclides in a limited ecosystem, thus preventing their further dispersal.

Plant systems and more specifically aqueous plant systems are actively used to sequester radionuclides from surface waters, including mine drainage and drainage from waste disposal facilities. While such (constructed) wetlands have a certain attraction in requiring relatively little attention once established, the longevity of the solution very much depends on the stability of the ecosystem created. When, for example, the wetland dries out, there is a risk of the radionuclides trapped in the root system or the shoots becoming remobilized. In climates with severe winters, such constructed wetlands may only function during the summer vegetation period. The baseline techniques for contamination removal from soils and groundwater are excavation and pump and treat, respectively. While excavation removes the contamination, if carried out judiciously, it creates equivalent volumes of material that must be treated and disposed of. In the case of dispersed contamination this may potentially lead to large volumes of waste and hence may not be feasible. The excavated material also may have to be replaced with other, uncontaminated material, for which no resource may be available.

Pump and treat methods are based on the assumption that the source can be completely removed by physical displacement. Experience and predictive modelling of the controlling processes have, however, shown that almost always a residual contamination will remain. This residual contamination will manifest itself as a long concentration 'tail' under a steady pumping regime and may result in rising concentrations when pumping is stopped or interrupted. For this reason, nowadays pump and treat is considered more a (dynamic) containment technique than a real removal technique. This probably applies even if enhanced recovery techniques are applied, such as injection of lixiviant into an aquifer. Likely recovery rates can be estimated taking into account the experience of the oil industry and the mining industry employing in situ leaching [378]. More than half of the original concentrations of the target material (oil, metal value) may remain underground. Leaching techniques have also been applied to the vadose zone, but little information exists on their efficiency for the removal of non-biodegradable materials.

If applied, ex situ extraction techniques will be able to overcome hydrodynamic limitations, by agitating the excavated material as a slurry, etc. Arrangements such as heap leaching have the advantage that the soil or rock structure can be broken down and thus the limitations due to inhomogeneities can be overcome. This may not hold, however, at the microscopic level. Fine grained material may need to be disintegrated considerably to achieve reasonable recovery rates.

Heap leaching, like various other leaching methods, may involve (micro-) biological components. Bioleaching can be actively promoted by stimulating the growth of specialized microorganisms. These microorganisms influence their geochemical environment and may involve the radionuclides in their metabolic activity, which leads to a mobilization of the radionuclides. The main advantage of bioleaching is seen in obviating the use of large quantities of lixiviants, such as strong acids, and the ensuing need to dispose of these lixiviants once the remediation is completed.

The efficiency of any ex situ removal process can be significantly enhanced by appropriate characterization and preceding segregation of contaminated materials. Inorganic and organic contaminations tend to be preferentially associated with the fine fraction of soils, and hence a grain size separation will greatly reduce the amount of material that requires treatment.

It is important to note that any extractive technique applied to a topsoil is likely to impair seriously its functionality and fertility, resulting in a sterile material.

Over the past few decades many processes for removing radionuclides and other metals from solution have been developed. In addition to the traditional precipitation, sorption and ion exchange methods, various biotechnology methods, such as biosorption, have been developed. Although data on large scale application in a remediation context are still lacking, the experience gained from metallurgical applications is promising.

Higher plants can also be used to extract metals, including radionuclides, from soil. The uptake is very plant and radionuclide specific. After the Chernobyl accident, plant uptake by various agricultural species was extensively studied, with a view both to identifying minimal uptake conditions and to maximizing uptake in a phytoextraction context. The data showed that the rate of sequestration would be 1–2% of the total soil reservoir at best per crop cycle, resulting in proportionately long treatment times. Addition of complexing agents to the soil can help mobilize radionuclides such as uranium and facilitate plant uptake, resulting in sequestration rates of up to 5%. The potentially negative effect of such additives on plant growth and biomass yield, however, has to be carefully evaluated. The effective depth of phytoextraction is limited by the penetration depth of the roots, which is typically the tilling depth in agricultural soils. Adequate uses or disposal routes for the harvested contaminated biomass need to be found.

Another technique involving higher plants to sequester radionuclides from solution is rhizofiltration, in which the geochemical environment created by plant roots is utilized to remove radionuclides from solution. A variety of physicochemical processes may actually be at work. Radionuclides that are less mobile under reducing conditions, such as uranium, and that sorb more readily, are more accessible to fixation by rhizofiltration than radionuclides that belong to the alkaline or earth alkaline groups (caesium and strontium).

This report shows that a wide variety of remediation techniques have been developed over the years. Dealing with dispersed radionuclides in the topsoil, however, remains difficult. There are serious trade-offs to be made between the degree of invasiveness and the efficiency of a technique. The sheer volume of material to be treated often precludes the use of certain techniques known to be efficient. Where direct exposure is not a concern, techniques and strategies that prevent further dispersion, and hence limit or interrupt pathways by which the radionuclides would enter the food pathway, seem to be the most appropriate. Similarly, removal of radionuclides from groundwater tends to be rather inefficient. Containment to prevent further dispersal, for example by reactive barriers, appears to be a better choice.

In all cases where direct exposure is not a concern, monitored natural attenuation should be the baseline against which active remediation measures should be evaluated.

REFERENCES

- INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Long-term Stabilization of Uranium Mill Tailings: Final Report on the Co-ordinated Research Project 2000–2004, IAEA, Vienna (in preparation).
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Management of Radioactive Waste from the Mining and Milling of Ores, Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-1.2, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [3] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Factors for Formulating a Strategy for Environmental Restoration Activities, IAEA-TECDOC-1032, IAEA, Vienna (1998).
- [4] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, A Directory of Information Resources on Radioactive Waste Management, Decontamination and Decommissioning, and Environmental Restoration, IAEA-TECDOC-841, IAEA, Vienna (1995).
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Technologies for Remediation of Radioactively Contaminated Sites, IAEA-TECDOC-1086, IAEA, Vienna (1999).
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Extent of Environmental Contamination by Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) and Technological Options for Mitigation, Technical Reports Series No. 419, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Monitoring and Surveillance of Residues from the Mining and Milling of Uranium and Thorium, Safety Reports Series No. 27, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [8] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Characterization of Radioactively Contaminated Sites for Remediation Purposes, IAEA-TECDOC-1017, IAEA, Vienna (1998).
- [9] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Design Criteria for a Worldwide Directory of Radioactively Contaminated Sites (DRCS), IAEA-TECDOC-1251, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Technical Options for the Remediation of Contaminated Groundwater, IAEA-TECDOC-1088, IAEA, Vienna (1999).

- [11] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Remediation of Areas Contaminated by Past Activities and Accidents, Safety Reports Series No. WS-R-3, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [12] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Compliance Monitoring for Remediated Sites, IAEA-TECDOC-1118, IAEA, Vienna (1999).
- [13] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, A Worldwide Directory of Radioactively Contaminated Sites (DRCS), http://www-drcs.iaea.org
- [14] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Site Characterization Techniques Used in Environmental Restoration Activities, IAEA-TECDOC-1148, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [15] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Remediation of Sites Contaminated by Hazardous and Radioactive Substances, IAEA, Vienna (in preparation).
- [16] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Derivation of Remediation Values for Areas with Radioactive Residues from Past Activities and Accidents and their Implementation, IAEA, Vienna (in preparation).
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Non-technical Factors Impacting on the Decision Making Processes in Environmental Remediation, IAEA-TECDOC-1279, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [18] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Removal of Sites and Buildings from Regulatory Control Upon the Termination of Practices, IAEA, Vienna (in preparation).
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Planning for Environmental Restoration of Uranium Mining and Milling Sites in Central and Eastern Europe, IAEA-TECDOC-982, IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [20] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Planning for Cleanup of Large Areas Contaminated as a Result of a Nuclear Accident, Technical Reports Series No. 327, IAEA, Vienna (1991).
- [21] EARTH SCIENCES AND RESOURCES INSTITUTE, Studying Zones of Radionuclide Fast Migration in Areas Impacted by Chernobyl Fallout, ESRI, Columbia, SC,

http://www.esri.sc.edu/Projects/chernobyl/radionuclide_migration.asp

- [22] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Principles for the Protection of the Public in Situations of Prolonged Exposure, Publication 82, Pergamon Press, Oxford and New York (2000).
- [23] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Present and Future Environmental Impact of the Chernobyl Accident, IAEA-TECDOC-1240, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [24] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Disposal of Waste from the Cleanup of Large Areas Contaminated as a Result of a Nuclear Accident, Technical Reports Series No. 330, IAEA, Vienna (1992).
- [25] ALEXAKHIN, R.M., Countermeasures in agricultural production as an effective means of mitigating the radiological consequences of the Chernobyl accident, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 9–20.

- [26] RICHARDS, J.I., HANCE, R.J., Post-Chernobyl scientific perspectives: Agricultural countermeasures, Int. At. Energy Agency Bull. 38 3 (1996) 38–43.
- [27] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Guidelines for Agricultural Countermeasures Following an Accidental Release of Radionuclides, Technical Reports Series No. 363, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [28] VANDENHOVE, H., et al., Investigation of a Possible Basis for a Common Approach with Regard to the Restoration of Areas Affected by Lasting Radiation Exposure as a Result of Past or Old Practice or Work Activity – CARE, Radiation Protection 115, Final Report to the European Commission (2000), http://europa.eu.int/comm/energy/nuclear/radioprotection/publication/doc/ 115_en.pdf
- [29] DAVIDOV, J.P., VORONIK, N.I., VASILEVSKAJA, T.V., MAMAEV, L.A., JOUVE, A., "Scientific basis for decontamination of soils contaminated by radionuclides as a result of Chernobyl accident", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 2, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 1436–1441.
- [30] QUINBY, J.B., BRADLEY, D., ROBERTS, C., "Overview for decommissioning and decontamination of sites containing natural occurring radioactive materials (NORM) related to private industrial operations", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 661.
- [31] SOROKA, Y., MOLCHANOV, A., ISAYEVA, N., BEDNARIK, O., "The rehabilitation program for territory of town Zhovty Vody after 40 years of uranium ores output", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 773–776.
- [32] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, 1990 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection, Publication 60, Pergamon Press, Oxford and New York (1991).
- [33] JOHNSON, R., SMITH, K.P., QUINN, J., The Application of Adaptive Sampling and Analysis Program (ASAP) Techniques to NORM Sites, Rep. DOE/BC/W-31-109-ENG-38-9, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1999).
- [34] VOGEL, G.A., GOLDFARB, A.S., MALONE, G.A., LUNDQUIST, D.E., A survey of technical aspects of site remediation: Site remediation strategy, Waste Manage. 14 (1994) 61–66.
- [35] DYER, R.S., "Bench scale studies and pilot scale design of a modified volume reduction chemical extraction system for radiation contaminated soils", Residual Radioactivity and Recycling Criteria (Proc. Workshop, St. Michaels, MA, 1989), Rep. EPA 520/1-90-013, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC (1990) 122–131.

- [36] SCHWARZ, J., PIETSCH, J., "Methods and strategies for optimising the treatment of contaminated soils and contaminated sites within the framework of physical and environmental planning", Contaminated Soil '93 (Proc. 4th Int. Conf. Berlin, 1993) (ARENDT, F., ANNOKKÉE, G.J., BOSMAN, R., VAN DEN BRINKE, W.J., Eds), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1993) 987–988.
- [37] FELLOWS, R.L., SINGH, S.P.N., "Technology logic diagrams: Their use in nuclear and hazardous waste management", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 2, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 893–897.
- [38] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Application of Radiation Protection Principles to the Cleanup of Contaminated Areas, IAEA-TECDOC-987, IAEA, Vienna (1998).
- [39] BRICKA, R.M., et al., Technology Assessment of Currently Available and Developmental Techniques for Heavy Metals-contaminated Soils Treatment, Rep. WES: IRRP-93-4, United States Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS (1993).
- [40] BRICKA, R.M., et al., Heavy Metal Soil Contamination at U.S. Army Installations: Proposed Research and Strategy for Technology Development, Rep. TR-IRRD-94-1, United States Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS (1994).
- [41] DAVENPORT, D.T., GEORGOPOULOS, D.J., SIEGRIST, R.L., MORRIS, M.I., WEST, O.R., "Technology demonstration, assessment, and application for a RCRA closure – Observations and lessons learned in the process", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 3, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 1628–1633.
- [42] KAY, V., On the lookout for subsurface solutions The DOE's subsurface contaminants focus area, Radwaste Solutions, November/December (2000) 26– 30.
- [43] PETERSON, M., In Situ Remediation Integrated Program: Broad-based Opportunities for International Technology Exchange, Rep. DOE/EM-0196, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1994) 1–6.
- [44] SHANGRAW, W.R., SHANGRAW, R.F., Jr., MAJOR, T.S., "Measuring progress in the DOE environmental restoration program", Waste Management '93 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1993) 589–592.
- [45] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Assessment of Technologies for the Remediation of Radioactively Contaminated Superfund Sites, Rep. EPA/ 540/2-90/001, EPA, Washington, DC (1990).
- [46] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Workshop on Innovative Technologies for Treatment of Contaminated Sediments, Summary Report, Rep. EPA/600/S2-90/054, EPA, Washington, DC (1990).
- [47] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Remediation of Contaminated Sediments, Rep. EPA/625/6-91/028, EPA, Washington, DC (1991).

- [48] FEDERAL REMEDIATION TECHNOLOGIES ROUNDTABLE, Remediation Technologies Screening Matrix and Reference Guide, Version 4.0, National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA (2002) table B1, http://www.frtr.gov/matrix2/appd_b/tableB_1.html
- [49] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Status Reports on in Situ Treatment Technology Demonstration and Applications: Altering Chemical Conditions, Rep. EPA/542/K-94/008, EPA, Washington, DC (1994).
- [50] FEDERAL REMEDIATION TECHNOLOGIES ROUNDTABLE, Remediation Technologies Screening Matrix and Reference Guide, Version 4.0, National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA (2002), http://www.frtr.gov/matrix2/top_page.html
- [51] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL INFORMATION, Washington, DC, http://www.osti.gov/
- [52] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Accessing Federal Data Bases for Contaminated Site Clean-up Technologies, Rep. EPA/542/B-95/005, EPA, Washington, DC (1995).
- [53] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Completed North America Innovative Technology Demonstration Projects Database, EPA, Washington, DC (1995).
- [54] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Innovative Treatment Technologies (ITT) Database, EPA, Washington, DC (1995).
- [55] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL INFORMATION, The Office of Environmental Management Technical Reports: A Bibliography, Rep. DOE/OSTI-3411/3, USDOE Office of Scientific and Technical Information, Oak Ridge, TN (1998).
- [56] FEDERAL REMEDIATION TECHNOLOGIES ROUNDTABLE, Federal Publications on Alternative and Innovative Treatment Technologies for Corrective Action and Site Remediation, 3rd edn, Rep. EPA/542/B-93/007, EPA, Washington, DC (1993).
- [57] CLARINET, The Contaminated Land Rehabilitation Network for Environmental Technologies in Europe (2002), http://www.clarinet.at
- [58] KOSTELNIK, K., "Innovative remediation technologies", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 93–96.
- [59] LANKFORD, J.M., JACKSON, J.P., "Cost savings from technology development", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 1, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 91–96.
- [60] MALONE, G.A., LUNDQUIST, D.E., A survey of technical aspects of site remediation: Stabilization and solidification, Waste Manage. 14 (1994) 67–73.
- [61] TRAN, H., AYLWARD, R., Guide to Treatment Technology for Contaminated Soils, Rep. WSRC-IM-92-127, Westinghouse Savannah River Co., Aiken, SC (1992).

- [62] TUCKER, P.M., Demonstrating novel processes for remediation in the field, Nucl. Eng. Int., August (1993) 30–31.
- [63] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL RESTORATION AND WASTE MANAGEMENT, In Situ Remediation Integrated Program: Technology Summary, Rep. DOE/EM-0134P, USDOE, Washington, DC (1994).
- [64] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Evaluation of Subsurface Engineered Barriers at Waste Sites, Technology Report, Rep. EPA/542/R-98/005, EPA, Washington, DC (1998).
- [65] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, In Situ Bioremediation of Ground Water and Geological Material: A Review of Technologies, Rep. EPA/ 600/SR-93/124, EPA, Washington, DC (1993).
- [66] Envirotools, Hazardous Substances Research Center, Michigan State University, MI (2002), http://www.envirotools.org
- [67] Infomine, http://www.infomine.com
- [68] HEIDEN, S. (Ed.), Innovative Techniken der Bodensanierung Ein Beitrag zur Nachhaltigkeit, Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Heidelberg (1999).
- [69] JOHNSON, C.D., et al., "Overview of technology modeling in the Remedial Action Assessment System (RAAS)", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 2, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 1078–1085.
- [70] SHI, Z., ERICKSON, L.E., "Model development and simulation of in situ remediation in lead-contaminated soils", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000),

http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [71] KUTLACHMEDOV, Y.A., MICHEEV, A.N., ZEZINA, N.V., JOUVE, A., MAUBERT, H., "Comparative analyses of different methods of radionuclide contaminated soil deactivation and the creator of the optimal algorithm of methods and means of decontamination", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 2, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 1450–1453.
- [72] GOVINDARAJU, R.S., BANKS, M.K., SCHWAB, A.P., "Use of geostatistics in designing and analyzing treatment effects at the field scale", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [73] GUNN, R.D., ORR, C.H., "New approaches to monitoring and characterisation in the remediation of nuclear sites", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 761–764.

- [74] JOHNSON, G.L., "Overview of the ISO 14000 environmental management standards and their impact on waste management and remediation", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 147–152.
- [75] Historial Cost Assessment System, http://www.p2pays.org/ref/01/00047/8-04.htm
- [76] TRAVIS, C.C., et al., Evaluation of remediation worker risks at radioactively contaminated waste sites, J. Hazard. Mater. 35 (1993) 387–401.
- [77] REGENS, J.L., WHIPPLE, C., TRAVIS, C., OBENSHAIN, K.R., Risk Assessment and Multimedia Modeling, Medical University of South Carolina Press, Charleston, SC (1999).
- [78] BOARDMAN, C., HOLMES, R., ROBBINS, R., FOX, R., MINCHER, B., "Remediation of soil at nuclear sites", Waste Management 2000 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), WM Symposia, Tucson, AZ (2002) (CD-ROM).
- [79] MILLER, A., ALEXANDER, R., CHAPMAN, N., MacKINLEY, I., SMELLIE, J., Natural Analogue Studies in the Geological Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Studies in Environmental Science No. 57, Elsevier, Amsterdam (1994).
- [80] Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter (1972), http://www.londonconvention.org
- [81] Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic, OSPAR Commission, London (1992).
- [82] VAN WEERS, A.W., et al., Current Practices of Dealing with Natural Radioactivity from Oil and Gas Production in EU Member States, Rep. EUR 17621EN, European Commission, Luxembourg (1997).
- [83] STUMM, W., MORGAN, J.J., Aquatic Chemistry, 2nd edn, Wiley, New York (1981).
- [84] NORDSTROM, D.K., MUNOZ, J.L., Geochemical Thermodynamics, Blackwell, London (1994).
- [85] MILLER, W., ALEXANDER, R., CHAPMAN, N.A., McKINLEY, I., SMELLIE, J., Natural Analogues in the Geological Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Rep. DoE/HMIP/RR94.031, Department of the Environment, London (1994).
- [86] READ, D., FALCK, W.E., "Long-term uranium migration behaviour An overview of the 'natural analogue' studies carried out on the British Isles", Uranium Mining and Hydrogeology (Proc. Int. Symp. Freiberg, 1995), Sven von Loga Verlag, Cologne (1995) 473–482.
- [87] READ, D., et al., The migration of uranium into peat-rich soils at Broubster, Caithness, Scotland, U.K., J. Contam. Hydrol. 13 (1993) 291–308.
- [88] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Symposium on Natural Attenuation of Ground Water, Rep. EPA/540/R-97/504, EPA, Washington, DC (1997).
- [89] AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS, Guide for Remediation by Natural Attenuation, Rep. E 1943-98, ASTM, West Conshohocken, PA (1998).

- [90] GOLIAN, S., et al., "The Department of Energy's monitored natural attenuation initiative", Waste Management 2000 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 2000), WM Symposia, Tucson, AZ (2000) (CD-ROM).
- [91] Sandia Natural Attenuation Project, http://www.sandia.gov/eesector/gs/gc/snap.html
- [92] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Use of Monitored Natural Attentuation at Superfund, RCRA Corrective Action, and Underground Storage Tank Sites, OSWER Directive 9200.4-17, EPA, Washington, DC (1997).
- [93] SWINDOLL, M., STAHL, R.G., Jr., ELLS, S.J. (Eds), Natural Remediation of Environmental Contaminants: Its Role in Ecological Risk Assessment and Risk Management, Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Brussels and Pensacola, FL (2000).
- [94] NICOLE Project: Natural Attenuation: Guidelines for Acceptance, http://www.nicole.org
- [95] IVANOVICH, M., HARMON, R.S. (Eds), Uranium-series Disequilibrium: Applications to Earth, Marine and Environmental Sciences, Clarendon Press, Oxford (1992).
- [96] HIRNER, A.V., et al., Metal(loid) organic compounds in geothermal gases and waters, Org. Geochem. 29 (1998) 1765–1778.
- [97] BURNS, P.C., FINCH, R. (Eds), Uranium Mineralogy, Geochemistry and the Environment, Reviews in Mineralogy 38, Mineralogical Society of America, Washington, DC (1999).
- [98] GRENTHE, I., et al., Chemical Thermodynamics Series, Vol. 1: Chemical Thermodynamics of Uranium, North-Holland, Amsterdam (1992).
- [99] SILVA, R.J., et al., Chemical Thermodynamics Series, Vol. 2: Chemical Thermodynamics of Americium, North-Holland, Amsterdam (1995).
- [100] READ, D., ANDREOLI, M.A.G., KNOPER, M., WILLIAMS, C.T., JARVIS, N., The degradation of monazite: Implications for the mobility of rare-earth and actinide elements during low temperature alteration, Eur. J. Minerol. 14 (2002) 487–498.
- [101] PUTNIS, A., FERNANDEZ-DIAZ, L., PRIETO, M., Experimentally produced oscillatory zoning in the (Ba,Sr)SO₄ solid solution, Nature (London) **358** (1992) 743–745.
- [102] WARING, C.L., TAYLOR, J.R., "A new technique for building in-situ subsurface hydrologic barriers: NBT", Mine Water & Environment for the 21st Century (Proc. Int. Congress, Seville, 1999), Vol. 2 (FERNÁNDEZ RUBIO, R., Ed.), International Mine Water Association (1999) 663–665.
- [103] ZIEGENBALG, G., "In-situ remediation of heavy metal contaminated soil or rock formations and sealing of water inflows by directed and controlled crystallization of natural occurring minerals", Mine Water & Environment for the 21st Century (Proc. Int. Congress, Seville, 1999), Vol. 2 (FERNÁNDEZ RUBIO, R., Ed.), International Mine Water Association (1999) 667–672.

- [104] DACHEUX, N., PODOR, R., CHASSIGNEUX, B., BRENDEL, V., GENET, M., Actinide immobilisation in new matrices based on solid solutions: Th_{4.x} M_x^{IV}(PO₄)₄P₂O₇, (M^{IV}=²³⁸U,²³⁹Pu), J. Alloys Compounds **271–273** (1998) 236–239.
- [105] STUMM, W. (Ed.), Aquatic Surface Chemistry, Wiley, New York (1987).
- [106] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Recent Developments for in Situ Treatment of Metal Contaminated Soils, Rep. EPA/542/R-97/004, EPA, Washington, DC (1997).
- [107] URBAN, N.R., EISENREICH, S.J., GRIGAL, D.F., SCHURR, K.T., Mobility and diagenesis of Pb and ²¹⁰Pb in peat, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 54 (1990) 3329–3346.
- [108] BOYLE, R.W., Cupriferous bogs in the Sackville area, New Brunswick, Canada, J. Geochem. Explor. 8 (1977) 495–528.
- [109] GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., TANG, L., SALVADOR, J.M., "Copper adsorption by sphagnum peat moss and its different humic fractions", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [110] FIRSOVA, E.V., GERMAN, K.E., PERETROUKHIN, V.F., KHIJNYAK, T.V., "Bioaccumulation of long-lived radionuclides in freshwater silt", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998) 160.
- [111] HAIGH, D., et al., The Effect of Organics on the Sorption of Strontium, Caesium, Iodine, Neptunium, Uranium and Europium by Glacial Sand in Laboratory Experiments, Rep. DOE-RW-89.016, Department of the Environment, London (1989).
- [112] YEH, G.T., SALVAGE, K.M., GWO, J.P., ZACHARA, J.M., SZECSODY, J.E., HYDROBIOGEOCHEM: A Coupled Model of HYDROlogic Transport and Mixed BIOGEOCHEMical Kinetic/Equilibrium Reactions in Saturated-Unsaturated Media, Rep. ORNL/TM-13668, Oak Ridge Natl Lab., TN (1998).
- [113] ZHU, M., et al., "A three-dimensional numerical model for the evaluation of intrinsic biodegradation and remedial actions at groundwater-contaminated sites near Los Angeles, California", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 645–654.
- [114] FALCK, W.E., HOOKER, P.J., "Quantitative interpretation of halogen porewater concentration profiles in lake sediments", Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management (Proc. XIVth Symp. Boston, MA, 1990), Materials Research Society, Warrendale, PA (1990) 757–764.
- [115] KRAVETS, A.P., "Biological control of radionuclides migration into the soilplant system and new methods for soil restoration", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998) 45.
- [116] SALOMONS, W., FÖRSTNER, U. (Eds), Chemistry and Biology of Solid Waste: Dredged Material and Mine Tailings, Springer-Verlag, New York (1988).

- [117] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL RESTORATION, Decision-making Framework Guide for the Evaluation and Selection of Monitored Natural Attenuation Remedies at Department of Energy Sites, USDOE, Washington, DC (1999), http://www.em.doe.gov/framework/frame.pdf
- [118] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL RESTORATION, Technical Guidance for the Long-term Monitoring of Natural Attenuation Remedies at Department of Energy Sites, USDOE, Washington, DC (1999), http://www.em.doe.gov/techguide/techguide.pdf
- [119] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Natural Attenuation of Hexavalent Chromium in Groundwater and Soils, Rep. EPA/540/S-94/505, EPA, Washington, DC (1994).
- [120] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, In Situ Redox Manipulation, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0499, USDOE, Washington, DC (2000), http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr15.pdf
- [121] SEGAL, M.G., Agricultural countermeasures following deposition of radioactivity after a nuclear accident, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 31–48.
- [122] GESELLSCHAFT FÜR ORGANISATION, PLANUNG UND AUSBIL-DUNG, Belarus: Study on Alternative Biodiesel Sources in Relation with Soil Decontamination, Rep. TACIS/REG93, GOPA, Bad Homburg (1996).
- [123] NISBET, A.F., WOODMAN, R.F.M., HAYLOCK, R.G.E., Recommended Soilto-plant Transfer Factors for Radiocaesium and Radiostrontium for Use in Arable Systems, Rep. NRPB-R304, National Radiological Protection Board, Didcot, UK (1999).
- [124] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Handbook of Parameter Values for the Prediction of Radionuclide Transfer in Temperate Environments, Technical Reports Series No. 364, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [125] VANDENHOVE, H., et al., Recover-relevancy of Short Rotation Coppice Vegetation for the Remediation of Contaminated Areas, Rep. EC-DG XII, Project FI4-CT0095-0021c, SCK•CEN, Mol (1999).
- [126] BOGDEVITCHI, I., PUTYATTIN, Yu., RIGNEY, C., CHUPOV, A., "Edible oil production from rapeseed grown on contaminated lands", paper presented at the Innovationsforum Wertschöpfungsketten in der Naturstoffverarbeitung, Gardelegen, Germany, 2001.
- [127] VANDENHOVE, H., et al., PHYTOR: Evaluation of Willow Plantations for the Phytorehabilitation of Contaminated Arable Land and Flood Plane Areas, Rep. EC-DG XII, Project ERB IC15-CT98 0213, SCK•CEN, Mol (2002).
- [128] VANDENHOVE, H., GOOR, F., O'BRIEN, S., GREBENKOV, A., TIMOFEYEV, S., Economic viability of short rotation coppice for energy production for reuse of caesium-contaminated land in Belarus, Biomass Bioenergy 22 (2002) 421–431.
- [129] VANDENHOVE, H., et al., Short rotation coppice for revaluation of contaminated land, J. Environ. Radioact. 56 (2001) 157–184.

- [130] SAVUSHKIN, I.A., GURKO, O.B., SOLOVJEV, V.N., RAVKONA, E.I., "Gasification method effectiveness at radioactive wood waste treatment", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 693–696.
- [131] SAVUSHKIN, I.A., GURKO, O.B., RAVKONA, E.I., LUKJANOV, A.V., "Choice of forest harvesting and forest recovering works strategy in the forests of Belarus of the Chernobyl zone by the method of mathematical modeling of dose rate for equipment and personnel", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 685–687.
- [132] ZABUDKO, A.N., PETROV, E.E., KOZMIN, G.V., SVETOVE, V.A., "Comprehensive radiological investigations of forests in Kaluga, Tula and Or'ol regions", paper presented at the IAEA Technical Meeting on Clean-up Criteria for Forests and Forestry Products Following a Nuclear Accident, Vienna, 1995.
- [133] VANDENHOVE, H., VAN HEES, M., "The use of fibre crops for the revaluation of contaminated land", paper presented at the 7th Int. Conf. on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements, Uppsala, 2003.
- [134] DEVILLE-CAVELIN, G., et al., "Countermeasures in agriculture: Assessment of efficiency", Fifteen Years After the Chernobyl Accident. Lessons Learned (Proc. Int. Conf. Kiev, 2001), United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, New York (2001) 118–128.
- [135] RENAUD, P., MAUBERT, H., Agricultural countermeasures in the management of the post-accidental situation, J. Environ. Radioact. 35 (1997) 53–69.
- [136] KONOPLEV, A.V., et al., "Influence of agricultural countermeasures on the ratio of different chemical forms of radionuclides in soil and soil solution", Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 147–162.
- [137] LÖNSJÖ, H., HAAK, E., ROSÉN, K., "Effects of remedial measures on the long term transfer of radiocaesium from soil to agricultural products as calculated from Swedish field experimental data", Environmental Contamination Following a Major Nuclear Accident (Proc. Symp. Vienna, 1989), IAEA, Vienna (1990) 151– 162.
- [138] VOVK, I.F., BLAGOYEV, V.V., LYASHENKO, A.N., KOVALEV, I.S., Technical approaches to decontamination of terrestrial environments in the CIS (former USSR), Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 49–63.
- [139] BOGDEVITCH, I., "Soil conditions of Belarus and efficiency of potassium fertilizers", Essential Role of Potassium in Diverse Cropping Systems, Workshop C, 16th World Congress of Soil Science (Proc. Workshop, Montpellier, 1998), International Potash Institute, Basel (1999) 21–26.
- [140] BOGDEVITCH, I.M., "Economic potential of fertilizer use in Belarus with particular reference to potassium", Codes of Good Fertilizer Practice and Balanced Fertilization (Proc. 11th Int. Symp. Pulawy, Poland, 1998), International Scientific Centre of Fertilizers, Braunschweig (1998) 423–427.

- [141] LEMBRECHTS, J., A review of literature on the effectiveness of chemical amendments in reducing the soil-to-plant transfer of radiostrontium and radiocaesium, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 81–88.
- [142] BOGDEVITCH, I.M., SHMIGELSKAYA, I.D., TARASIUK, S.V., Rational use of contaminated soils after the Chernobyl accident in Belarus, Sci. J. Belarus, Natl. Resources, No. 4 (1998) 15–29 (in Russian).
- [143] VEREMEYCHYK, L.A., et al., Agronomy Background, Uradzay, Minsk (1999) (in Russian).
- [144] BOGDEVITSCH, J., et al., Natürliche Grundlagen der Pflanzenproduktion in den Ländern der Gemeinschaft Unabhängiger Staaten und des Baltikums, Agrimedia, Bergen/Dumme, Germany (2000).
- [145] KAVKHUTA, G.A., ROZDIALOVSKAYA, L.F., BASHARIN, A.V., "The role of nitrogen compounds in developing advanced chemico-biological methods of the soil decontamination", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 2, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 963–965.
- [146] VANDENHOVE, H., VAN HEES, M., DE BROUWER, S., VANDECAS-TEELE, C.M., Transfer of radiocaesium from podzol to ryegrass as affected by AFCF concentration, Sci. Total Environ. 187 (1996) 237–245.
- [147] VANDENHOVE, H., VAN HEES, M., VANDECASTEELE, C.M., Effectiveness of immediate and delayed AFCF application in reducing radiocaesium transfer to ryegrass, J. Environ. Radioact. 41 (1998) 47–63.
- [148] THIRY, Y., VANDENHOVE, H., VAN HEES, H., VANDECASTEELE, C.M., "Prospects of alternatives in agro-chemical site remediation", Biotechnology for Waste Management and Site Restoration (RONNEAU, C., BITCHAEVA, O., Eds) (Proc. Workshop, Mol, 1994), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1997) 213–219.
- [149] VALCKE, E., ELSEN, A., CREMERS, A., The use of zeolites as amendments in radiocaesium- and radiostrontium contaminated soils: A soil chemical approach. Part IV: A potted soil experiment to verify laboratory-based predictions, Zeolites 18 (1997) 225–231.
- [150] BOGDEVITCH, I.M., "Background of agricultural practice", Ecological, Medical, and Socioeconomic Consequences of the Chernobyl Accident in Belarus, Institute of Radiobiology of the National Academy of Sciences of Belarus, Minsk (1996) 52–102 (in Russian).
- [151] JACOB, P., et al., Remediation Strategies for Contaminated Territories Resulting from the Chernobyl Accident, Final Report, Rep. GSF-02/01, GSF – Forschungszentrum für Umwelt und Gesundheit, Neuherberg (2001).
- [152] JARDINE, P.M., BROOKS, S.C., Containment of Toxic Metals and Radionuclides in Porous and Fractured Media: Optimizing Biogeochemical Reduction versus Geochemical Oxidation, Rep. EMSP-55267–98, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1998),

http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/13480-F5YBCn/webviewable/13480.pdf

- [153] LOKAN, K.H., "Remediation of the Maralinga test site", Restoration of Environments with Radioactive Residues (Proc. Int. Symp. Arlington, VA, 1999), IAEA, Vienna (2000) 321–333.
- [154] SZECSODY, J.E., et al., Uranium Mobility During in Situ Redox Manipulation of the 100 Areas of the Hanford Site, Rep. PNNL-12048, Pacific Northwest Natl Lab., Richland, WA (1998).
- [155] WILLIAMS, M.D., et al., Anoxic Plume Attenuation in a Fluctuating Water Table System: Impact of 100-D Area in Situ Redox Manipulation on Downgradient Dissolved Oxygen Concentrations, Rep. PNNL-12192, Pacific Northwest Natl Lab., Richland, WA (1999).
- [156] SEIDEL, J.P., ROTHWEILER, B., GILBERT, E., EBERLE, S.H., "Use of ozone for soil remediation", Contaminated Soil '93 (Proc. 4th Int. Conf. Berlin, 1993) (ARENDT, F., ANNOKKÉE, G.J., BOSMAN, R., VAN DEN BRINKE, W.J., Eds), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1993) 1285.
- [157] ACE, M.H., In situ redox manipulation: Fierce enemy of groundwater VOCs and heavy metals, Radwaste Solutions, July/August (2001) 24–27.
- [158] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, In Situ Gaseous Reduction System, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0521, USDOE, Washington, DC (2000), http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr123.pdf
- [159] SIMONTON, S., DIMSHA, M., CATHY, G., THOMSON, B., BARTON, L., "Determination of long-term stability of metals immobilized by in situ microbial remediation processes", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [160] KNOX, A.S., ADRIANO, D.C., "Metal stabilisation in contaminated soil from Upper Silesia, Poland, using natural zeolite and apatite", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [161] LAMBERT, M., PIERZYNSKI, G., HETTIARACHCHI, G., "The use of phosphorous in sequestration of lead and cadmium in smelter slag", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Kansas City, MO, 1997), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1997), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [162] SHEVADE, A.V., JIANG, S., "Formation and stability of substituted pyromorphites: A molecular modeling approach", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000),

http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

[163] HODSON, M., VALSAMI-JONES, E., COTTER-HOWELLS, J., Remediation of heavily-metal-contaminated soils by bone meal (phosphate) additions, paper presented at the Goldschmidt Conf., Oxford, 2000.

- [164] BARGAR, J.R., et al., "Remediation and reactive transport of uranium (VI) in groundwaters", Proposal 8060M, 1997 Stanford Synchrotron Radiation Laboratory Activity Report, Stanford Synchrotron Radiation Lab., Menlo Park, CA (1997), http://www-ssrl.slac.stanford.edu/pubs/activity_rep/ar97/8060-Bargar.pdf
- [165] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, Cement Bentonite Thin Diaphragm Wall, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0623, USDOE, Washington, DC (2002), http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr51.pdf
- [166] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Slurry Walls, Rep. EPA/540/2-92/0038, EPA, Washington, DC (1991).
- [167] VOSS, C.F., CALDONAZZI, O., PERTL, K., "Evaluation of a montan-wax emulsion for constructing subsurface barriers", ER 93 (Environmental Remediation) (Proc. Conf. Augusta, GA, 1993), United States Department of Energy, Savannah River, SC (1993).
- [168] REGENS, J.L., KELLEY, L., HODGES, D.G., WILKEY, P.L., An Integrated Framework for Environmental Technology Evaluation, Medical University of South Carolina Press, Charleston, SC (1998).
- [169] BLOWES, D.W., PTACEK, C.J., "Geochemical remediation of groundwater by permeable reactive walls: Removal of chromate by reaction with iron-bearing solids", Subsurface Restoration (Proc. Int. Conf. Dallas, TX, 1992) (WARD, H., Ed.), Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC (1992) 214–216.
- [170] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, Passive Reactive Barrier, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0623, USDOE, Washington, DC (2002), http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr51.pdf
- [171] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, In Situ Remediation Technology Status Report: Treatment Walls, Rep. EPA/542/K-94/004, EPA, Washington, DC (1994).
- [172] BLOWES, D.W., et al., Treatment of inorganic contaminants using permeable reactive barriers, J. Contam. Hydrol. 45 (2000) 123–137.
- [173] POWELL, R.M., PULS, R.W., HIGHTOWER, S.K., SABATINI, D.A., Coupled iron corrosion and chromate reduction: Mechanisms for subsurface remediation, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 1913–1922.
- [174] BLOWES, D.W., PTACEK, C.J., JAMBOR, J.L., In-situ remediation of chromate contaminated groundwater using permeable reactive walls, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 3348–3357.
- [175] WAYBRANT, K.R., BLOWES, D.W., PTACEK, C.J., Selection of reactive mixtures for use in permeable reactive walls for treatment of mine drainage, Environ. Sci. Technol. **32** (1998) 1972–1979.
- [176] BENNER, S.G., HERBERT, R.B., Jr., BLOWES, D.W., PTACEK, C.J., GOULD, W.D., Geochemistry and microbiology of a permeable reactive barrier for acid mine drainage, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 2793–2799.

- [177] LUDWIG, R., McGREGOR, R.G., BLOWES, D.W., BENNER, S.G., MOUNTJOY, K., A permeable reactive barrier for treatment of heavy metals, Ground Water 40 (2002) 59–66.
- [178] CANTRELL, K.J., KAPLAN, D.I., WIETSMA, T.W., Zero-valent iron for the in situ remediation of selected metals in groundwater, J. Hazard. Mater. 42 (1995) 201–212.
- [179] GU, B., LIANG, L., DICKEY, M.J., YIN, X., DAI, S., Reductive precipitation of uranium(VI) by zero-valent iron, Environ. Sci. Technol. 32 (1998) 3366–3373.
- [180] MORRISON, S.J., METZLER, D.R., CARPENTER, C.E., Uranium precipitation in a permeable reactive barrier by progressive irreversible dissolution of zerovalent iron, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (2001) 385–390.
- [181] FULLER, C.C., PIANA, M.J., BARGAR, J.R., DAVIS, J.A., KOHLER, M., "Evaluation of apatite materials for use in permeable reactive barriers for the remediation of uranium-contaminated groundwater", Handbook of Groundwater Remediation Using Permeable Reactive Barriers: Applications to Radionuclides, Trace Metals, and Nutrients (NAFTZ, D.L., MORRISON, S.J., FULLER, C.C., DAVIS, J.A., Eds), Academic Press, San Diego, CA (2002) 256–280.
- [182] ROBERTSON, R.D., CHERRY, J.A., In situ denitrification of septic system nitrate using reactive porous medium barriers: Field trials, Ground Water 33 (1995) 99–111.
- [183] BAKER, M.J., BLOWES, D.W., PTACEK, C.J., Laboratory development of permeable reactive mixtures for the removal of phosphorous from onsite wastewater disposal systems, Environ. Sci. Technol. **32** (1998) 2308–2316.
- [184] SCHIPPER, L., VOJVODI-VUKOVI, M., Nitrate removal from groundwater using a denitrification wall amended with sawdust: Field trial, J. Environ. Qual. 27 (1998) 664–668.
- [185] GRUBE, W.E., "Soil barrier alternatives", Risk Reduction Engineering Laboratory Hazardous Waste Research Symp. (Proc. 17th Ann. Symp. Cincinnati, OH), Rep. EPA/600/9-91/002, Environmental Research Agency, Washington, DC (1991).
- [186] HANSEN, W., et al., Barriers and Post-closure Monitoring, Briefing Chart, Rep. AL-1212-25, Los Alamos Natl Lab., NM (1992).
- [187] THOMSON, B.M., HENRY, E.J., THOMBRE, M.S., "Applications of permeable barrier technology to ground water contamination at the Shiprock, NM, UMTRA site", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [188] MORRISON, S.J., SPANGLER, R.R., Chemical barriers for controlling groundwater contamination, Environ. Prog. 12 (1993) 175–181.
- [189] LEE, D.R., HARTWIG, D.J., "Wall-and-curtain for subsurface treatment of contaminated groundwater", Containment and Remediation Technology (Proc. Int. Conf. Orlando, FL, 2001), Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL (2001), http://www.containment.fsu.edu/cd/content/pdf/212.pdf

- [190] McMURTY, D., ELTON, R.O., New approach to in-situ treatment of contaminated groundwater, Environ. Prog. 4 (1985) 168–170.
- [191] BOSTICK, W.D., SHOEMAKER, J.L., OSBORNE, P.E., EVANS-BROWN, B., "Treatment and disposal options for a heavy metals waste containing soluble technetium-99", Emerging Technologies in Hazardous Waste Management (TEDDER, D.W., POHLAND, F.G., Eds), American Chemical Society Symposium Series No. 422, ACS, Washington, DC (1990) 345–367.
- [192] DEL CUL, G.D., BOSTICK, W.D., TROTTER, D.R., OSBORNE, P.E., Technetium-99 removal from process solutions and contaminated groundwater, Sep. Sci. Technol. 28 (1993) 551–564.
- [193] UNIVERSITY OF WATERLOO, Permeable Reactive Barrier for Treatment of Cr and TCE, University of Waterloo, Ontario (2001), http://www.science.uwaterloo.ca/research/ggr/PermeableReactiveBarriers/ Cr-TCE_Treatment/Cr-TCE_Treatment.html
- [194] FERRIS, F.G., Microbial Mineral Transformations at the Fe(II)/Fe(III) Redox Boundary for Solid Phase Capture of Strontium and Other Metal/Radionuclide Contaminants, Rep. EMSP-54790-98, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1998),

http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/13471-F4YTMz/webviewable/13471.pdf

[195] RODEN, E.E., URRUTIA, M.M., Advanced Experimental Analysis of Controls on Microbial Fe(III) Oxide Reduction, Rep. EMSP-55164-98, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1998),

http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/13478-5aJwS2/webviewable/13478.pdf [196] NAFTZ, D.L., et al., "Field demonstration of three permeable reactive barriers to

- control uranium contamination in groundwater, Fry Canyon, Utah", Handbook of Groundwater Remediation Using Permeable Reactive Barriers: Applications to Radionuclides, Trace Metals, and Nutrients (NAFTZ, D.L., MORRISON, S.J., FULLER, C.C., DAVIS, J.A., Eds), Academic Press, San Diego, CA (2002) 402– 434.
- [197] ALOWITZ, M.J., GETTLER, R., SCHERER, M.M., "Reduction kinetics of inorganic contaminants by iron metal", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.completenewice.com/second/s

http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

[198] MORRISON, S.J., CARPENTER, C.E., METZLER, D.R., BARTLETT, T.R., MORRIS, S.A., "Design and performance of a permeable reactive barrier for containment of uranium, arsenic, selenium, vanadium, molybdenum, and nitrate at Monticello, Utah", Handbook of Groundwater Remediation Using Permeable Reactive Barriers: Applications to Radionuclides, Trace Metals, and Nutrients (NAFTZ, D.L., MORRISON, S.J., FULLER, C.C., DAVIS, J.A., Eds), Academic Press, San Diego, CA (2002) 371–399.

- [199] MATHESON, L.J., GOLDBERG, W.C., BOSTICK, W.D., HARRIS, L., "Analysis of uranium-contaminated zero valent iron media sampled from permeable reactive barriers installed at U.S. Department of Energy Sites in Oak Ridge, Tennessee, and Durango, Colorado", Handbook of Groundwater Remediation Using Permeable Reactive Barriers: Applications to Radionuclides, Trace Metals, and Nutrients (NAFTZ, D.L., MORRISON, S.J., FULLER, C.C., DAVIS, J.A., Eds), Academic Press, San Diego, CA (2002) 343–367.
- [200] TAWACHSUPA, S., ISLEYEN, M., RAMASWAMI, A., "Zero-valent iron for treatment of high arsenic water", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [201] OTT, N., Permeable Reactive Barriers for Inorganics, Rep. for the Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Technology Innovation Office, Washington, DC (2000), http://www.clu-in.org/download/remed/ott_prb.pdf
- [202] LEE, D.R., et al., "Wall-and-curtain for passive collection/treatment of contaminant plumes", Designing and Applying Treatment Technologies: Remediation of Chlorinated and Recalcitrant Compounds (Proc. 1st Int. Conf. Monterey, CA, 1998), Battelle Press, Columbus, OH (1998) 77–84.
- [203] CONCA, J., et al., "Treatability study of reactive materials to remediate groundwater contaminated with radionuclides, metals, and nitrates, in a four-component permeable reactive barrier", Handbook of Groundwater Remediation Using Permeable Reactive Barriers: Applications to Radionuclides, Trace Metals, and Nutrients (NAFTZ, D.L., MORRISON, S.J., FULLER, C.C., DAVIS, J.A., Eds), Academic Press, San Diego, CA (2002) 222–252.
- [204] MORONEY, K., MORONEY, J., III, TURNEY, J., JOHNSON, N., "Remediation of transuranic-contaminated coral soil at Johnston Atoll using the segmented gate system", Waste Management '93 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1993) 845–848.
- [205] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, Permeable Reactive Treatment (PeRT) Wall for Rads and Metals, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0557, USDOE, Washington, DC (2002),

http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr2155.pdf

- [206] HOCKING, G., WELLS, S.L., OSPINA, R.I., "Design and construction of vertical hydraulic fracture-placed iron reactive walls", Designing and Applying Treatment Technologies: Remediation of Chlorinated and Recalcitrant Compounds (Proc. 1st Int. Conf. Monterey, CA, 1998), Battelle Press, Columbus, OH (1998).
- [207] LANDIS, R.C., "The innovative use of high pressure jetting of thin diaphragm walls to construct hydraulic control barriers", Containment and Remediation Technology (Proc. Int. Conf. Orlando, FL, 2001), Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL (2001), http://www.containment.fsu.edu/cd/content/pdf/158.pdf

- [208] PULS, R.W., PAUL, C.J., POWELL, R.M., KERR, R.S., "Remediation of chromate-contaminated ground water using zero-valent iron: Field test at USCG support center, Elizabeth City, North Carolina", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [209] MAYER, K.U., BLOWES, D.W., FRIND, E.O., Reactive transport modelling of groundwater remediation by an in-situ reactive barrier for the treatment of hexavalent chromium and trichloroethylene, Water Resour. Res. 37 (2001) 3091– 3103.
- [210] HAAS, R.F., "The EnviroWall[™] barrier system", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 3, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 2368–2370.
- [211] UNIVERSITY OF WATERLOO, Technology Transfer and Licensing Office, http://www.research.uwaterloo.ca/ttlo/
- [212] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Solidification/Stabilization and its Application to Waste Materials, Rep. EPA/530/R-93/012, EPA, Washington, DC (1993).
- [213] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Solidification/Stabilization of Organics and Inorganics, Rep. EPA/540/S-92/015, EPA, Cincinnati, OH (1993).
- [214] DWYER, B.P., Feasibility of Permeation Grouting for Constructing Subsurface Barriers, Rep. 94-0786, Sandia Natl Lab., Albuquerque, NM (1994).
- [215] FRUCHTER, J., In-situ redox manipulation immobilizes contaminants, Environ. Remediation Technol., 6 April (1994) 62.
- [216] FRANCIS, A.J., "Bioremediation of uranium contaminated soils and wastes", Uranium Mining and Hydrogeology (Proc. 2nd Int. Symp. Freiberg, 1998), Sven von Loga Verlag, Cologne (1998) 340–346.
- [217] MIKHEIKIN, S.V., et al., "Polymeric agents as toxic dust and erosion suppressants", Dust Aerosols, Loess Soils and Global Change (Proc. Int. Conf. Seattle, WA, 1998), Washington State University, Seattle, WA (1998) 71–74.
- [218] BARTH, E.F., "Summary results of the SITE demonstration for the CHEMFIX solidification/stabilization process", Risk Reduction Engineering Laboratory Hazardous Waste Research Symp. (Proc. 17th Ann. Symp. Cincinnati, OH), Rep. EPA/600/9-91/002, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC (1991).
- [219] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, International Waste Technologies/Geo-Con in Situ Stabilization/Solidification, Applications Analysis Report, Rep. EPA/540/A5-89/004, EPA, Washington, DC (1990).
- [220] JAMES, G.A., et al., "Evaluation of subsurface biobarrier formation and persistence", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [221] YANG, X., FAN, L.T., ERICKSON, L.E., "Bio-wall technology: Conceptual design and analysis", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [222] REDDI, L.N., DAVALOS, H., "Bioclogging of clay liners", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [223] KOMLOS, J., CUNNINGHAM, A.B., WARWOOD, B., JAMES, G., "Biofilm barrier formation and persistence in variable saturated zones", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 200–208, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [224] BARTON, L.L., NUTTALL, H.E., LINDERMANN, W.C., BLAKE, R.C., II, "Biocolloid formation: An approach to bioremediation of toxic metal wastes", Remediation of Hazardous Waste Contaminated Soils (WISE, D.L., TRANTOLO, D.J., Eds), Marcel Dekker, New York (1994) 481–496.
- [225] BARTON, L.L., LINDERMANN, W.C., BEARDEN, D.L., "Colloidal formation as an approach to remediate toxic wastes containing chromium and lead", Waste Management '92 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1992), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1992) 1305–1308.
- [226] BARTON, L.L., FEKETE, F.A., MARIETTA, E.V., NUTTALL, H.E., JAIN, R., "Potential for bacterial remediation of waste sites containing selenium or lead", Transport and Remediation of Subsurface Contaminants: Colloidal, Interfacial, and Surfactant Phenomena (SABATINI, D.A., KNOX, R.C., Eds), American Chemical Society Symposium Series No. 491, ACS, Washington, DC (1992) 99– 107.
- [227] TSEZOS, M., McGREADY, R.G.L., BELL, J.P., The continuous recovery of uranium biologically leached solutions using immobilized biomass, Biotech. Bioeng. 34 (1989) 10–17.
- [228] TSEZOS, M., VOLESKY, B., Biosorption of uranium and thorium, Biotech. Bioeng. 23 (1981) 583–604.
- [229] TSEZOS, M., BAIRD, M.I.H., SHEMLIT, L.W., The use of immobilzed biomass to remove and recover radium from Elliott Lake uranium tailings streams, Hydrometallurgy 19 (1987) 357–368.
- [230] CORAPIOGLU, M.Y., KIM, S., Modelling facilitated contaminant transport by mobile bacteria, Water Res. 31 (1995) 2639–2647.
- [231] GERLACH, R., CUNNINGHAM, A.B., CACCAVO, F., Jr., "Formation of redox-reactive subsurface barriers using dissimilatory metal-reducing bacteria", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/ Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 209–223, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [232] BARTON, L.L., THOMSON, B.M., "Control of uranium migration by microbial action", WERC Technology Development Conf. (Proc. 4th Ann. Conf. Las Cruces, NM), New Mexico State University/WERC Administrative Office, Las Cruces, NM (1994).
- [233] THOMBRE, M.S., THOMSON, B.M., BARTON, L.L., "Microbial reduction of uranium using cellulosic substrates", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [234] SCHIPPERS, A., JOZSA, P.-G., KOVACS, Z.S.M., JELEA, M., SAND, W., Large-scale experiments for microbiological evaluation of measures for safeguarding sulfidic mine waste, Waste Manage. 21 (2001) 139–146.
- [235] VANDENHOVE, H., "Major sources of radioactive contamination, possible remediation options and role of phytostabilisation", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 1–6.
- [236] PETRISOR, I.G., KOMNITSAS, K., LAZAR, I., "Application of a vegetative cover for remediation of sulphidic tailings dumps on a Romanian Black Sea coastal area", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [237] VIVERE, P., VAN, D.E., "Revegetation of industrial sites", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 67–68.
- [238] STANLEY, J., et al., "Developing optimum strategies for rehabilitating overburden stockpiles at the Grasberg mine, Irian Jaya, Indonesia", Peat Congr. (Proc. 11th Int. Congr. Quebec, 2000), International Peat Society, Jyväskylä, Finland (2000) 806–814.
- [239] BOGDEVITCH, I.M. (Ed.), Guide for Agricultural Practice on Lands Contaminated by Radionuclides in the Republic of Belarus for 2002–2005, Minsk (2002) (in Russian).
- [240] UKRAINIAN NATIONAL REPORT, Ten Years After the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant Accident, MinChernobyl, Kiev (1996) (in Russian).
- [241] VERVAEKE, P., MERTENS, J., LUYSSAERT, S., SPELEERS, L., LUST, N., "The SALIMAT method for phytoremediation", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 69–73.
- [242] DUDEL, G.E., et al., "Uptake and cycling of natural radionuclides in vegetation developed on uranium mining heaps and tailings", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 49–51.

- [243] JENNINGS, S.R., KRUEGER, J., "Clean tailing reclamation: Tailing reprocessing for sulfide removal and vegetation establishment", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Kansas City, MO, 1997), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1997), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [244] SCHIPPERS, A., JOZSA, P.-G., SAND, W., Evaluation of the efficiency of measures for sulfidic mine waste mitigation, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 49 (1998) 698–701.
- [245] SCHIPPERS, A., JOZSA, P.-G., SAND, W., "Überprüfung der Effizienz von Maßnahmen zur Sanierung von Bergbaualtlasten", Rekultivierung und Umweltschutz in Bergbau-Industriegebieten, Band 2 (PRZYBYLSKI, T., MERKEL, B., ALTHAUS, M., KURZYDLO, H., Eds), Towarzystwo Przyjaciól Nauk, Legnica, Poland (1999) 307–312, 357–361.
- [246] McNEARNY, R.L., "Revegetation of a mine tailings impoundment using municipal biosolids in a semi-arid environment", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 87–100, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [247] THIRY, Y., SCHMIDT, P., VANDENHOVE, H., "Uranium distribution and cycling in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) on a revegetated U-mining heap", paper presented at the 7th Int. Conf. on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements, Uppsala, 2003.
- [248] KISTINGER, S., et al., "Evaluation of the long-term durability of engineered dry covers for mining wastes, and consideration of associated design contraints", Uranium in the Aquatic Environment (MERKEL, B., WOLKERSDORFER, C., HURST, S., Eds), Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2002) 155–164.
- [249] SOBOTTA, M., BAPTISTE, K., CRUZ, R.O., "Cultural and ethical considerations in environmental restoration activities: Native revegetation at Hanford nuclear site", Waste Management 2000 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 2000), WM Symposia, Tucson, AZ (2000) (CD-ROM).
- [250] PERTTU, K., KOWALIK, P.J., *Salix* vegetation filters for purification of waters and soils, Biomass Bioenergy **12** (1997) 9–19.
- [251] COSMA, N., et al., "Pilot experiments to reduce environmental pollution caused by acid rock drainage", Biohydrometallurgy and the Environment: Towards the Mining of the 21st Century, Vol. B: Molecular Biology, Biosorption, Bioremediation (Proc. Int. Symp. Madrid, 1999) (AMILS, R., BALLESTER, A., Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam (1999) 741–747.
- [252] DOLLHOPF, D.J., et al., Hydrochemical, Vegetational and Microbiological Effects of a Natural and a Constructed Wetland on the Control of Acid Mine Drainage, Rep. RRU 8804, Abandoned Mine Reclamation Bureau, Helena, MT (1988).
- [253] DODDS-SMITH, M.E., PAYNE, C.A., GUSEK, J.J., Reedbeds at Wheal Jane, Mining Environ. Manage., September (1995) 22–24.
- [254] EGER, P., LAPAKKO, K., Nickel and Copper Removal from Mine Drainage by a Natural Wetland, Circ. 9183, Bureau of Mines, Washington, DC (1988) 301–309.
- [255] GORMELY, L., HIGGS, T.W., KISTRITZ, R.U., SOBOLEWSKI, A., Assessment of Wetlands for Gold Mill Effluent Treatment, Rep. for the Mine Pollution Control Branch of Saskatchewan Environment and Public Safety, Saskatoon (1990).
- [256] HAMBLEY, A.G., Removal of Nickel from Mine Water by a Natural Wetland in Northern Manitoba, MNRM Thesis, Univ. Manitoba, Winnipeg (1996).
- [257] HIEL, M.T., KERINS, F.J., Jr., The Tracy Wetlands: A Case Study of Two Passive Mine Drainage Treatment Systems in Montana, Circ. 9183, Bureau of Mines, Washington, DC (1988) 352–358.
- [258] HOWARD, E.A., EMERICK, J.E., WILDEMAN, T.R., "The design, construction and initial operation of a research site for passive mine drainage treatment in Idaho Springs, Colorado", Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment (HAMMER, D.A., Ed.), Lewis Publishers, Ann Arbor, MI (1989) 761–764.
- [259] JONES, D.R., RAGUSA, S., SHINNERS, S., McALLISTER, R., UNGER, C., "The construction and performance of large-scale wetlands at the Ranger uranium mine", 3rd Int. and 21st Ann. Minerals Council of Australia Environmental Workshop (Proc. Workshop, Newcastle, Australia, 1996), Vol. 2, Minerals Council of Australia, Dickson, Australia (1996) 116–128.
- [260] KUYUCAK, N., AMD prevention and control, Mining Environ. Manage., January (2001) 12–15.
- [261] KUYUCAK, N., Treatment options for mining effluents, Mining Environ. Manage., March (2001) 12–15.
- [262] KWONG, Y.T.J., VAN STEMPVOORT, D.R., "Attenuation of acid rock drainage in a natural wetland system", The Environmental Geochemistry of Sulfide Oxidation (ALPERS, C.N., BLOWES, D.A., Eds), American Chemistry Society, Washington, DC (1994) 382–392.
- [263] LACKI, M.J., HUMMER, J.W., WEBSTER, H.J., Mine drainage treating wetland as habitat for herpetofaunal wildlife, Environ. Manage. 16 (1992) 513–520.
- [264] NOLLER, B.N., WOODS, P.H., ROSS, B.J., Case studies of wetland filtration of mine waste water in constructed and naturally occurring systems in Northern Australia, Water Sci. Technol. 29 (1994) 257–266.
- [265] SHINNERS, S., "An overview of the application of constructed wetland filtration at ERA Ranger Mine", paper presented at Engineering Tomorrow Today: The Darwin Summit, Darwin, Australia, 1996.
- [266] SOBOLEWSKI, A., "Development of a wetland treatment system at United Keno Hill Mines, Elsa, Yukon Territory", Ann. British Columbia Mine Reclamation Symp. (Proc. 20th Symp. Kamloops, British Columbia, 1995), BiTech, Richmond, British Columbia (1995) 64–73.
- [267] STARK, L.R., A Study of Natural Wetlands Associated with Acid Mine Drainage, Rep. NTIS PB91176370, Bureau of Mines, Washington, DC (1990).

- [268] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Colorado School of Mines Constructed Wetlands Based Treatment, Emerging Technology Bulletin, Rep. EPA/540/F-92/001, EPA, Washington, DC (1992).
- [269] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Colorado School of Mines Constructed Wetlands Based Treatment, Emerging Technology Report, Rep. EPA/540/R-93/523, Washington, DC (1993).
- [270] WIEDER, R.K., LANG, G.E., "Modification of acid mine drainage in a freshwater wetland", Wetlands of the Unglaciated Appalachian Region (McDONALD, B.R., Ed.) (Proc. Symp. Morgantown, WV, 1982), West Virginia University, Morgantown, WV (1982) 43–53.
- [271] WIEDER, R.K., Ion input/output budgets for five wetlands constructed for acid coal mine drainage treatment, Water, Air Soil Pollut. 71 (1993) 231–270.
- [272] WOODS, P.H., NOLLER, B.N., "Medium-term performance of wetlands improving water quality of near-neutral mine drainage in the Northern Territory", Wetlands for Water Quality Control (Proc. Conf. Townsville, Australia, 1995), Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane (1995).
- [273] PIRAMID, Passive In-situ Remediation of Acidic Mine/Industrial Drainage, A Research Project of the European Commission Fifth Framework Programme, http://www.piramid.org
- [274] MIKHYEYEV, O.M., SOROCHINSKY, B.V., RUCHKO, M.V., PROKHNEVSKY, A.L., "New phytoremediation method for the cleaning of radioactive-contaminated aquatic systems", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.commun.com/www.commun.com/www.commun.com/www.commun.com/www.commun.com/www.commun.com/wwwwwww.com/wwwww.com/www.com/wwww.com/www.com/wwwwww.com/www.com/www.com/w

http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [275] JONES, D.R., CHAPMAN, B.M., "Wetlands to treat AMD Facts and fallacies", Acid Mine Drainage Workshop (Proc. 2nd Ann. Workshop, Charter Towers, Australia, 1995) (GRUNDON, N.J., BELL, L.C., Eds) 127–145.
- [276] SOBOLEWSKI, A., A review of processes responsible for metal removal in wetlands treating contaminated mine drainage, Int. J. Phytoremediation 1 (1999) 19–51.
- [277] OWEN, D.E., OTTON, J.K., Mountain wetlands: Efficient uranium filters Potential impacts, Ecological Eng. **5** (1995) 77–93.
- [278] UNIVERSITY OF HAWAII, Bioremediation Technologies, http://www.hawaii.edu/abrp/biotech.html
- [279] FREEMAN, R.J., Jr., "Constructed wetlands experience in the southeast", Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality and Improvement (MOSHIRI, G.A., Ed.), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (1993) Ch. 6.
- [280] ENVIRONMENT AUSTRALIA, Water Management, Best Practice Environmental Management in Mining, Environment Australia, Canberra (1999).
- [281] WITTHAR, S.R., "Wetland water treatment systems", Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality and Improvement (MOSHIRI, G.A., Ed.), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (1993) Ch. 14.

- [282] KALIN, M., SCRIBAILO, R.W., WHEELER, W.N., "Acid mine drainage amelioration in natural bog systems", BIOMINET (Proc. 7th Ann. General Mtg Mississauga, Ontario, 1991), CANMET, Ottawa (1991) 61–77.
- [283] TARUTIS, W.J., Jr., UNZ, R.F., BROOKS, R.P., Behavior of sedimentary Fe and Mn in a natural wetland receiving acidic mine drainage, Pennsylvania, U.S.A., Appl. Geochem. 7 (1992) 77–85.
- [284] CUNNINGHAM, S.D., SHANN, J.R., CROWLEY, D.E., ANDERSON, T.A., "Phytoremediation of contaminated soil and water", Phytoremediation of Soil and Water Contaminants (KRUGER, E.L., ANDERSON, T.A., COATS, J.R., Eds), American Chemical Society Symposium Series No. 664, ACS, Washington, DC (1997).
- [285] KALIN, M., KIESSIG, G., KÜCHLER, A., "Ecological water treatment processes for underground uranium mine water: Progress after three years of operating a constructed wetland", Uranium in the Aquatic Environment (MERKEL, B., WOLKERSDORFER, C., HURST, S., Eds), Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2002) 587–596.
- [286] SOBOLEWSKI, A., Metal species indicate the potential of constructed wetlands for long-term treatment of mine drainage, Ecological Eng. 6 (1996) 259–271.
- [287] ALBERS, P.H., CAMARDESE, M.B., Effects of acidification on metal accumulation by aquatic plants and invertebrates. 1. Constructed wetlands, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12 (1993) 959–967.
- [288] ELLESS, M.P., BLAYLOCK, M.J., Amendment optimization to enhance lead extractability from contaminted soils for phytoremediation, Int. J. Phytoremediation 2 (2000) 75–89.
- [289] SKOUSEN, J., SEXSTONE, A., GARBUTT, K., SENCINDIVER, J., "Acid mine drainage treatment with wetlands and anoxic limestone drains", Applied Wetlands Science and Technology (KENT, D.M., Ed.), Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL (1994) 263–281.
- [290] DAVÉ, N.K., Panel Wetlands A Case History of Partially Submerged Pyritic Uranium Tailings Under Water, MEND Project 3.12.2, Canada Centre for Mineral and Energy Technology, Ottawa (1993).
- [291] KUNZE, C., GLOMBITZA, F., GERTH, A., KIESSIG, G., KÜCHLER, A., "Long-term stability and resilience of passive mine water treatment facilities: A joint experimental and simulation approach", Uranium in the Aquatic Environment (MERKEL, B., WOLKERSDORFER, C., HURST, S., Eds), Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2002) 597–604.
- [292] BASTIAN, R.K., HAMMER, D.A., "The use of constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment and recycling", Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality and Improvement (MOSHIRI, G.A., Ed.), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (1993) Ch. 5.
- [293] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, Efficient Separations and Processing Integrated Program (ESP-IP) – Technology Summary, Rep. DOE/EM-0126P, USDOE, Washington, DC (1994).

- [294] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Silicate Technology Corporation – Solidification/Stabilization, Rep. EPA/540/SR-92/010, EPA, Washington, DC (1992).
- [295] WIEGERS, R., ROELOFS, L., KUGELER, E., A Feasibility Study on the Technical and Economical Aspects of Treating Natural Radioactive Waste Materials (NORM), Rep. 19130EN, European Commission, Luxembourg (2000).
- [296] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OFFICE OF ENVIRON-MENTAL MANAGEMENT, Frozen Soil Barrier, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0483, USDOE, Washington, DC (1999), http://apps.em.doe.gov/OST/pubs/itsrs/itsr51.pdf
- [297] SAYLES, F.N., ISKANDAR, I.K., "Ground freezing for containment of hazardous waste", International Containment Technology Workshop (Proc. Int. Workshop, Baltimore, MD, 1995), Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL (1995).
- [298] BUCKLEY, L.P., VIJAYAN, S., WONG, P.C., "Remediation process technology for ground water", Nuclear Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '93) (Proc. Int. Conf. Prague, 1993), Vol. 2, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1993) 33–39.
- [299] DOILNITSYN, V.A., NECHAEV, A.F., VOLKOV, A.S., SHIBKOV, S.N., "Purification of slightly contaminated low-salt water from the long-lived radionuclides", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 527–528.
- [300] LAUL, J.C., et al., "Removal of uranium, plutonium and americium from Rocky Flats Waste Water", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '92) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Boise, IH, 1992), Vol. 3, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1992) 637–642.
- [301] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT, A Process for Contaminant Removal and Waste Volume Reduction to Remediate Groundwater Containing Certain Radionuclides, Toxic Metals, and Organics, Rep. DOE/CH-9201, USDOE, Washington, DC (1992).
- [302] TRAN, T.D., FARMER, J.C., DE PRUNEDA, J.H., RICHARDSON, J.H., "Electrosorption on carbon aerogel electrodes as a means of treating low-level radioactive wastes and remediating contaminated ground water", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 547–553.
- [303] TAYLOR, R.M., ROBINS, R.G., "Treatment of Berkeley pitlake water using the green precipitate process", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 2–15, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [304] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, In Situ Remediation Technology Status Report: Electrokinetics, Rep. EPA/542/K-94/007, EPA, Washington, DC (1994).

- [305] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Chemical Enhancements to Pump-and-treat Remediation, Rep. EPA/540/S-92/001, EPA, Washington, DC (1992).
- [306] NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, Alternatives for Ground Water Cleanup, National Academy Press, Washington, DC (1994).
- [307] KORTE, N., et al., Field Evaluation of a Horizontal Well Recirculation System for Groundwater Treatment: Field Demonstration at X-701B Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant, Piketon, Ohio, Rep. ORNL/TM-13529, Oak Ridge Natl Lab., TN (1998).
- [308] QUARANTA, J.D., GABR, M.A., "Prefabricated vertical drain enhanced soil flushing field demonstration for remediation of a low-level mixed waste plume in glacial till soil", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [309] MITCHELL, P., ANDERSON, A.L., "Silica micro encapsulation: ARD treatment and beyond", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [310] ZIEMKIEWICZ, P., "Steel slag: Applications for AMD control", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 44–61, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [311] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY OHIO FIELD OFFICE, Well Injection Depth Extraction (WIDE) Soil Flushing, Innovative Technology Summary Report, Rep. DOE/EM-0577, USDOE, Washington, DC (2001), http://apps.em.doe.gov/ost/pubs/itsrs/itsr2172.pdf
- [312] ELLIS, W.D., et al., Treatment of Contaminated Soils with Aqueous Surfactants, Rep. EPA/600/2-85/129, EPA, Washington, DC (1985).
- [313] ALLEN, H.E., CHEN, P.H., Remediation of metal contaminated soil by EDTA incorporating electrochemical recovery of metal and EDTA, Environ. Progr. 12 (1993) 284.
- [314] HEIL, D.M., SAMANI, Z., HANSON, A.T., HU, S., RUDD, B., "Remediation of lead-contaminated soil with EDTA: Batch and column studies", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [315] BARTLETT, R.W., Solution Mining, 2nd edn, Routledge, London (1998).
- [316] ROSSI, G., Biohydrometallurgy, McGraw-Hill, New York (1990).
- [317] ALSHAWABKEH, A.N., YEUNG, A.T., BRICKA, R.M., Practical aspects of insitu electrokinetic extraction, J. Environ. Eng. 125 (1999) 27–35.
- [318] ACAR, Y.B., ALSHAWABKEH, A.N., GALE, R.J., Fundamentals of extracting species from soils by electrokinetics, Waste Manage. 13 (1993) 141–151.
- [319] ACAR, Y.B., et al., Electrokinetic remediation: Basics and technology status, J. Hazard. Mater. 40 (1995) 117–137.

- [320] JOHANAN, W.L., "Process for reduction of volume of contaminated soil by compaction", Waste Management '93 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1993) 1363–1367.
- [321] WINSTON, S., WADE, T.E., II, "TRUclean The production-scale soil remediation process", paper presented at the Summer School on Radioactive Waste Management and Decommissioning, Cambridge, 1992.
- [322] DEVGUN, J.S., BESKID, N.J., NATSIS, M.E., WALKER, J.S., "Soil washing as a potential remediation technology for contaminated DOE sites", Waste Management '93 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1993) 835–843.
- [323] CHAO, J.-C., HONG, A., OKEY, R.W., PETERS, R.W., "Selection of chelating agents for remediation of radionuclide-contaminated soil", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Snowbird, UT, 1998), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1998) 142–160, http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [324] HONG, P.K.A., OKEY, R.W., LIN, S.-W., CHEN, T.-C., "Structure-activity relationship of heavy metals extraction from soil by chelating agents", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/ Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [325] KEDZIOREK, M.A.M., DUPUY, A., COMPERE, F., BOURG, A.C.M., "Chemical extraction of heavy metals from a polluted soil during the percolation of a strong chelate: Column experiments modeled with a nonequilibrium solubilization step", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [326] KIRKHAM, M.B., EDTA-facilitated phytoremediation of soil with heavy metals from sewage sludge, Int. J. Phytoremediation 2 (2000) 159–172.
- [327] GOHLKE, U., OTTO, A., MEYER, J., "Separation of uranium from polluted water with polyacrylamid-oximes", Contaminated Soil '93 (Proc. 4th Int. Conf. Berlin, 1993) (ARENDT, F., ANNOKKÉE, G.J., BOSMAN, R., VAN DEN BRINKE, W.J., Eds), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1993) 1159–1160.
- [328] MacKINNON, I., Kaolinite derivative may form basis for new filter material, Environ. Remediat. Technol., 20 April (1994) 73.
- [329] KARLIN, Y.V., PROZOROV, L.B., CHUIKOV, V.Y., KROPOTOV, V.N., SCHEGLOV, M.Y., "The electromembrane method of soil cleaning from radionuclides", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 743–744.
- [330] MILYUTIN, V.V., GELIS, V.M., BARDOV, A.I., "Development and field test of technology for decontamination of special sewage water from radionuclides", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 515–518.

- [331] MINERAL INDUSTRIES RESEARCH ORGANISATION, The Use of Microorganisms in the Mineral and Metals Industries, Technical Review Series No. 6, MIRO, Lichfield, UK (2000).
- [332] READETT, D.J., "Heap leaching", Biomine '99 (Proc. Conf. Perth, Australia 1999), Australian Mineral Foundation, Glenside, Australia (1999) 61–80.
- [333] BROOKS, R.R., DUNN, C.E., HALL, G.E.M., Biological Systems in Mineral Exploration and Processing, Ellis Horwood, New York (1995).
- [334] SODERSTROM, D.J., MAY, R., MA, J., "Adaption of hydrometallurgical processes for remediating uranium contaminated site", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 1, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 681–685.
- [335] ANTIONIOLI, S., "Mining technologies applied to in situ remediation", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 1, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 661–668.
- [336] BONDAR, Y.I., SHMANAI, G.S., TSARIOV, A.V., "Efficiency of decontamination of radioactive polluted soil by method of hydroseparation of soil particles", Nuclear and Hazardous Waste Management (Spectrum '94) (Proc. Int. Top. Mtg Atlanta, GA, 1994), Vol. 1, American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, IL (1994) 656–660.
- [337] MISRA, M., NVEVE, C., RAICHUR, A., "Characterization and physical separation of radionuclides from contaminated soil", Contaminated Soil '93 (Proc. 4th Int. Conf. Berlin, 1993) (ARENDT, F., ANNOKKÉE, G.J., BOSMAN, R., VAN DEN BRINKE, W.J., Eds), Kluwer, Dordrecht (1993) 1623–1631.
- [338] NAVRATIL, J.D., GREENWELL, R.D., "Leaching or size separation for soil decontamination", Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation (ICEM '97) (Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Singapore, 1997), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York (1997) 769–772.
- [339] RAWLINGS, D.E. (Ed.), Biomining: Theory, Microbes and Industrial Processes, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1997).
- [340] EHRLICH, H.L., Geomicrobiology, Marcel Dekker, New York (2002).
- [341] RITTMANN, B.E., McCARTY, P.L., Environmental Biotechnology: Principles and Applications, McGraw-Hill, New York (2001).
- [342] BLUMENROTH, P., BOSECKER, K., MICHNEA, A., VARNA, A., SASARAN, N., "Development of a bioremediation process for mining wastewaters", Biohydrometallurgy and the Environment: Towards the Mining of the 21st Century, Vol. B: Molecular Biology, Biosorption, Bioremediation (Proc. Int. Symp. Madrid, 1999) (AMILS, R., BALLESTER, A., Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam (1999) Ch. 5.
- [343] BOSECKER, K., "Biosorption of heavy metals by filamentous fungi", Biohydrometallurgical Technologies, Vol. 2: Fossil Energy Materials, Bioremediation, Microbial Physiology (TORMA, A.E., APEL, M.L., BRIELEY, C.L., Eds), TMS Minerals-Metals-Materials, Warrendale, PA (1993) 55–64.

- [344] ARMENDARIZ, V., BESS-OBERTO, L., TIEMANN, K.J., GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., "Study of metal ion binding to chemically modified oat and wheat by-products", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [345] BENNETT, P.G., JEFFERS, T.H., "Removal of metal contaminants from a waste stream using BIO-FIX beads containing sphagnum moss", Western Regional Symposium on Mining and Mineral Processing Wastes (Proc. Symp. Berkeley, CA, 1990), Society for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Littleton, CO (1990).
- [346] GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., ARENAS, J.L., WEBB, R., TIEMANN, K.J., GONZALEZ, J.H., "Uptake of metal ions from solution by inactivated cells of cyanobacteria", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [347] GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., et al., "Ability of *Medicago sativa* (alfalfa) to remove nickel ions from aqueous solution", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [348] GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., GONZALEZ, J.H., TIEMANN, K.J., RODRIGUEZ, O., "Biosorption of cadmium, chromium, lead, and zinc by biomass of *Medicago sativa* (alfalfa)", HSRC/WERC Joint Conference on the Environment (Proc. Conf. Albuquerque, NM, 1996), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1996), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [349] RASCON, A.E., TIEMMAN, K.J., DOKKEN, K., GARDEA-TORRESDEY, K.L., "Study of the binding mechanisms of heavy metals by inactivated tissues of *Solanum elaeagnifolium*", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [350] YANG, J., VOLESKY, B., "Removal and concentration of uranium by seaweed biosorbent", Biohydrometallurgy and the Environment: Towards the Mining of the 21st Century, Vol. B: Molecular Biology, Biosorption, Bioremediation (Proc. Int. Symp. Madrid, 1999) (AMILS, R., BALLESTER, A., Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam (1999) Ch. 4.
- [351] BARTON, L.L., et al., Application of biotechnology in management of industrial wastes containing toxic metals, Radioact. Waste Manage. Nucl. Fuel 18 (1994) 13– 25.
- [352] WILKE, A., BUNKE, G., BUCHHOLZ, R., "Removal of heavy metal ions from wastewater by adsorption on immobilized microalgae", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [353] DIELS, L., et al., The use of bacteria immobilised in tubular membrane reactors for heavy metal recovery and degradation of chlorinated aromatics, J. Membrane Sci. 100 (1995) 249–258.
- [354] GARDEA-TORRESDEY, J.L., TIEMANN, K.J., GONZALEZ, J.H., HENNING, J.A., TOWNSEND, M.S., "Removal of copper ions from solution by silica-immobilized *Medicago sativa* (alfalfa)", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. 10th Ann. Conf. Manhattan, KS, 1995), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (1995), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [355] TSEZOS, M., "Engineering aspects of metal binding by biomass", Microbial Mineral Recovery (EHRLICH, H.L., BRIERLY, C.L., Eds), McGraw-Hill, New York (1990) Ch. 14.
- [356] TSEZOS, M., VOLESKY, B., The mechanisms of uranium biosorption, Biotech. Bioeng. 24 (1982) 385–401.
- [357] TSEZOS, M., VOLESKY, B., The mechanisms of thorium biosorption, Biotech. Bioeng. **24** (1982) 955–969.
- [358] DARNALL, D.W., et al., Selective recovery of gold and other metal ions from an algal biomass, Environ. Sci. Technol. **20** (1986) 206–208.
- [359] DARNALL, D.W., et al., "Recovery of heavy metals by immobilized algae", Trace Metal Removal form Aqueous Solution (THOMPSON, R., Ed.), Royal Society of Chemistry, London (1986) 1–24.
- [360] KLIMMEK, S., STAN, H.-J., "Chemical characterization of the biosorption of heavy metals", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [361] PEARSON, R.G., Hard and soft acids and bases, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 85 (1963) 3533–3539.
- [362] TSEZOS, M., DEUTSCHMAN, A., An investigation of engineering parameters for use of immobilised biomass particles in biosorption, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 48 (1990) 29–39.
- [363] VOLESKY, B., Biosorption process simulation tools, Hydrometallurgy 71 (2003) 179–190.
- [364] TRAVIS, B.J., Numerical Simulation of in Situ Bioremediation, Rep. LA-UR-98-1249, Los Alamos Natl Lab., TN (1998).
- [365] TSEZOS, M., REMOUDAKI, E., ANGELATOU, V., A study of the effects of competing ions on the biosorption of metals, Int. Biodeterioration Biodegradation 38 (1996) 19–29.
- [366] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Biorecovery Systems Removal and Recovery of Metal Ions from Ground Water (Evaluation Report), Rep. EPA/ 540/5-90/005a, EPA, Washington, DC (1990).
- [367] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, Biorecovery Systems Removal and Recovery of Metal Ions from Ground Water (Data and Supporting Information), Rep. EPA/540/5-90/005b, EPA, Washington, DC (1990).

- [368] BOCK, M., BOSECKER, K., "Bioremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals", International Biohydrometallurgy Symposium IBS 97/Biomine 97 (Proc. Int. Symp. Sydney, 1997), Australian Mineral Foundation, Glenside, Australia (1997) PE.1.1–PE.1.2.
- [369] BOCK, M., BOSECKER, K., "Bioleaching of soils contaminated with heavy metals", Environment and Mineral Processing, Part 2 (Proc. 4th Conf. Ostrava, Czech Republic, 1998), Technical University, Ostrava (1998) 357–363.
- [370] BOSECKER, K., "Microbial leaching in environmental cleanup programmes", Biohydrometallurgy and the Environment: Towards the Mining of the 21st Century, Vol. B: Molecular Biology, Biosorption, Bioremediation (Proc. Int. Symp. Madrid, 1999) (AMILS, R., BALLESTER, A., Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam (1999) 533–536.
- [371] GANDER, J.W., PARKIN, G.F., SCHERER, M.M., "Geomicrobiological interactions among iron sulfide minerals and methanogenic consortia", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [372] ACEVEDO, F., Present and future of bioleaching in developing countries, Electronic J. Biotechnol. **15** 2 (2002),

http://www.ejbiotechnology.info/content/vol5/issue2/issues/01/

- [373] FRANCIS, A.J., MATTUS, A.J., FARR, L.L., ELLESS, M.P., LEE, S.Y., "Selective leaching of uranium from uranium contaminated soils", Waste Management '93 (Proc. Int. Symp. Tucson, AZ, 1993), Arizona Board of Regents, Phoenix, AZ (1993) 679–690.
- [374] SAND, W., VON RÉGE, H., ROHWERDER, T., SCHIPPERS, A., WENTZIEN, S., "Kalorimetrische Quantifizierung der Schwermetallmobilisierung in Laugungsbiotopen", Innovative Techniken der Bodensanierung – Ein Beitrag zur Nachhaltigkeit (HEIDEN, S., Ed.), Spektrum Akademischer Verlag, Heidelberg (1999) 190–212.
- [375] SCHIPPERS, A., JOZSA, P.-G., SAND, W., KOVACS, Z.S.M., JELEA, M., Microbiological pyrite oxidation in a mine tailings heap and its relevance to the death of vegetation, Geomicrobiol. J. 17 (2000) 151–162.
- [376] ELBERLING, B., SCHIPPERS, A., SAND, W., Bacterial and chemical oxidation of pyritic mine tailings at low temperatures, J. Contaminant Hydrol. 41 (2000) 225–238.
- [377] SEIDEL, H., MacKENZIE, K., Kontaminierte Sedimente Chemische Zeitbomben?, Forschen f
 ür die Umwelt, 4th edn, UFZ Umweltforschungszentrum, Leipzig-Halle (2003) 61–65.
- [378] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, In Situ Leaching of Uranium: Technical, Environmental and Economic Aspects, IAEA-TECDOC-492, IAEA, Vienna (1989).
- [379] ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, A Citizen's Guide to Phytoremediation, Rep. EPA 542-F-98-011, EPA, Washington, DC (1998).

- [380] RASKIN, I., ENSLEY, B.D., Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean up the Environment, Wiley, New York (2000).
- [381] KUMAR, P.B.A.N., DUSHENKOV, V., MOTTO, H., RASKIN, I., Phytoextraction: The use of plants to remove metals from soils, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 1232–1238.
- [382] HAMILTON, M., Plants are new generation of remediation equipment, Environ. Remediat. Technol., 6 April (1994) 63.
- [383] MILLER, R.R., Phytoremediation, Technology Overview Report, Rep. TO-96-03, Ground-Water Remediation Technologies Analysis Center, Pittsburg, PA (1996).
- [384] LEE, S., Putting plants to work: The ANL-West phytoremediation first-year field season demonstration, Radwaste Solutions, May/June (2000) 49–54.
- [385] HARPER, J.F., Heavy Metal Pumps in Plants, Rep. DOE/ER/20252, Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA (2001), http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/769178-ZEejJx/webviewable/769178.pdf
- [386] HOSSNER, L.R., LOEPPERT, R.H., NEWTON, R.J., SZANISZLO, P.J., Literature Review: Phytoaccumulation of Chromium, Uranium, and Plutonium in Plant Systems, Rep. ANRCP-1998-3, Amarillo National Resource Center for Plutonium, TX (1998),

http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/604402-JS16aa/webviewable/ 604402.pdf

- [387] VANGRONSVELD, J., "Phytoremediation: General principles and overview of methods", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 7–9.
- [388] VANGRONSVELD, J., CUNNINGHAM, S.D. (Eds), Metal Contaminated Soils: In-situ Inactivation and Phytorestoration, Springer-Verlag, Berlin and Heidelberg (1998).
- [389] GLASS, D.J., Current market trends in phytormediation, Int. J. Phytoremediation 1 (1999) 1–8.
- [390] GLASS, D.J., U.S. and International Markets for Phytoremediation, 1999-2000, D. Glass Assoc., Needham, MA (1999).
- [391] NEGRI, M.C., HINCHMAN, R.R., "The use of plants for the treatment of radionuclides", Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean up the Environment (RASKIN, I., ENSLEY, B.D., Eds), Wiley, New York (2000) 107–132.
- [392] CHANEY, R.L., et al., Phytoremediation of soil metals, Curr. Opinions Biotechnol. 8 (1997) 279–284.
- [393] FELIX, H.R., KAYSER, A., SCHULIN, R., "Phytoremediation, field trials in the years 1993–1998", Biogeochemistry of Trace Metals (Proc. 5th Int. Conf. Vienna, 1999), International Society for Trace Element Biochemistry, Vienna (1999) 8–9.
- [394] KINOSHITA, C.M., SYLVA, T.Y., "Agriculture-based remediation program Technology development and training in bioremediation", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

- [395] KUCHARSKI, R., GRAY, L.L., KUPERBERG, J.M., DUSHENKOV, S., "A case study: Application of phytoremediation to heavy metal-contaminated soils, Katowice, Poland", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [396] KUCHARSKI, R., et al., "Technology of phytoextraction of lead and cadmium in Poland – Problems and achievments", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [397] KUCHARSKI, R., et al., "Comparison of potential for Pb and Cd removal from contaminated soils by local and introduced cultivars of crop plant species", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [398] VANDENHOVE, H., Phyto-extraction of Low-level Contaminated Soil: Study of Feasibility of the Phyto-extraction Approach to Clean-up ¹³⁷Cs Contaminated Soil from the Belgoprocess Site, Part 2: Transfer Factor Screening Test: Discussion of Results, Rep. R-3407, SCK•CEN, Mol (1999).
- [399] LASAT, M.M., BAKER, A.J.M., KOCHIAN, L.V., Physiological characterization of root Zn²⁺ absorption and translocation to shoots in Zn hyperaccumulator and nonaccumulator species of *Thlaspi*, Plant Physiol. **112** (1996) 1715–1722.
- [400] ENSLEY, B.D., RASKIN, I., SALT, D.E., Phytoremediation applications for removing heavy metals contamination from soil and water, Biotechnol. Sustainable Environ. 6 (1997) 59–64.
- [401] EBBS, S.D., Identification of Plant Species and Soil Amendments that Improve the Phytoextraction of Zinc and Uranium from Contaminated Soil, Cornell University, MI (1997).
- [402] EBBS, S.D., NORVELL, W.A., KOCHIAN, L.V., The effect of acidification and chelating agents on the solubilisation of uranium from contaminated soil, J. Environ. Qual. 27 (1998) 1486–1494.
- [403] HUANG, J.W., BLAYLOCK, M.J., KAPULNIK, Y., ENSLEY, B.D., Phytoremediation of uranium contaminated soils: Role of organic acids in triggering hyperaccumulation in plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 32 (1998) 2004–2008.
- [404] MALIK, M., CHANEY, R.L., BREWER, E.P., LI, Y.-M., ANGLE, J.S., Phytoextraction of soil cobalt using hyperaccumulator plants, Int. J. Phytoremediation 2 (2000) 19–33.
- [405] HARTLEY, J., TOKAREVSKY, V. (Eds), Chernobyl Phytoremediation and Biomass Energy Conversion Workshop (Proc. Workshop, Slavutych, Ukraine, 1998), Slavutych Laboratory for International Research and Technology, Slavutych, Ukraine (1998).
- [406] VANDENHOVE, H., VAN HEES, M., VAN WINCKEL, S., Feasibility of the phytoextraction approach to clean-up low-level uranium contaminated soil, Int. J. Phytoremediation 3 (2001) 301–320.

- [407] MILLER, R.R., Phytoremediation, Technical Overview Report, Rep. TO-96-03, Ground-Water Remediation Technologies Analysis Center, Pittsburg, PA (1996), http://www.gwrtac.org/pdf/Phyto_o.pdf
- [408] BAKER, A.J.M., McGRATH, S.P., SIDOLI, C.M.D., REEVES, R.D., The possibility of in situ heavy metal decontamination of metal-polluted soils using crops of metal-accumulating plants, Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 11 (1994) 41–49.
- [409] NISBET, A.F., WOODMAN, R.F.M., Soil-to-plant transfer factors for radiocaesium and strontium in agricultural systems, Health Phys. **78** (2000) 279–288.
- [410] WHICKER, F.W., IBRAHIM, S.A., Radioecological Investigations of Uranium Mill Tailings Systems, Colorado State Univ., CO (1984).
- [411] IBRAHIM, S.A., WHICKER, F.W., Comparative plant uptake and environmental behaviour of U-series radionuclides at a uranium mine-mill, J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 156 (1992) 253–267.
- [412] FRISSEL, M.J., VAN BERGEIJCK, K.E. (Eds), VIth Report of the IUR Working Group Soil-to-plant Transfer Factors, Rep. Working Group Mtg Guttannen, 1989, International Union of Radioecologists, Balen, Belgium (1989).
- [413] LAKSHMANAN, A.R., VENKATESWARLU, V.S., Uptake of uranium by vegetables and rice, Water, Air Soil Pollut. 38 (1988) 151–155.
- [414] MORTVEDT, J.J., Plant and soil relationship of uranium and thorium decay series radionuclides A review, J. Environ. Qual. **23** (1994) 643–650.
- [415] INTERNATIONAL UNION OF RADIOECOLOGISTS, VIIIth Report of the Working Group Soil-to-plant Transfer Factors, Rep. Working Group Mtg Madrid, 1992, Pub. R-9212-02, IUR, Balen, Belgium (1992).
- [416] SWEECK, L., ZEEVAERT, T., VOLCKAERT, G., VANDECASTEELE, C.M., Geologische Berging van Geconditioneerd Langlevend Hoogradioactief Afval: Lange Termijn Performantiestudies, Biosfeerparameters in Performantie and Veiligheidsanalyses, Deel III, Rep. R-3194, SCK•CEN, Mol (1998).
- [417] BAKER, A.J.M., "Selecting plants for phytoremediation of heavy metals and radionuclides", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDENHOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 15–18.
- [418] CHANEY, R.L., et al., "Improving metal hyperaccumulator wild plants to develop commercial phytoextraction systems: Approaches and progress", Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements (BAÑUELOS, G.S., TERRY, N., Eds) (Proc. Int. Conf. Berkeley, CA, 1997), Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Hanover, NH (1998).
- [419] HALE, K., STACK, S., PILON-SMITS, E.A.H., "Using plant biotechnology to increase the potential for phytoremediation of molybdenum and tungsten", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html

[420] OW, D.W., Molecular Genetics of Metal Detoxification: Prospects for Phytoremediation, Rep. EMSP-55278-98, United States Department of Energy, Washington, DC (1998),

http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/13717-jtV29e/webviewable/13717.pdf

- [421] PILON-SMITS, E.A.H., ZHU, Y.L., HALE, K., PILON, M., TERRY, N., "Enhanced phytoremediation efficiency through plant biotechnology", Hazardous Waste Research (Proc. Conf. Denver, CO, 2000), Great Plains/Rocky Mountain Hazardous Substance Research Center, Manhattan, KS (2000), http://www.engg.ksu.edu/HSRC/Proceedings.html
- [422] HUANG, J.W., CHEN, J., CUNNINGHAM, S.D., "Phytoextraction of lead from contaminated soils", Phytoremediation of Soil and Water Contaminants (KRUGER, E.L., ANDERSON, T.A., COATS, J.R., Eds), American Chemical Society Symposium Series No. 664, ACS, Washington, DC (1997).
- [423] SHEPPARD, M.I., SHEPPARD, S.C., THIBAULT, D.H., Uptake by plants and migration of uranium and chromium in field lysimeters, J. Environ. Qual. 13 (1984) 357–361.
- [424] SHEPPARD, S.C., EVENDEN, W.G., POLLOCK, R.J., Uptake of natural radionuclides by field and garden crops, Can. J. Soil Sci. 69 (1989) 751–767.
- [425] BOGDEVITCH, I.M., PUTYATIN, Yu.V., MALYSHKO, A.V., "Effect of acidity of sod-podzolic soils and potassium fertilizer doses on accumulation of ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁰Sr in meadow clover", Soil Science and Agrochemistry, Vol. 32, Proc. Belarussian Research Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry, Minsk (2002) 219–227 (in Russian).
- [426] NISBET, A.F., et al., Application of fertilisers and ameliorants to reduce soil-toplant transfer of radiocaesium and radiostrontium in the medium to long term – A summary, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 173–182.
- [427] CLINE, J.F., HUNGATE, F.P., Accumulation of potassium, caesium-137 and rubidium-86 in bean plants grown in nutrient solution, J. Plant Physiol. 35 (1960) 826–829.
- [428] EVANS, D.W., ALBERTS, J.J., CLACK, R.A., Reversible ion-exchange fixation of cesium-137 leading to mobilization from reservoir sediments, Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 47 (1983) 1041–1049.
- [429] SHAW, G., Blockade of fertilizers of caesium and strontium uptake into crops: Effects of root uptake process, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 119–133.
- [430] SMOLDERS, E., MERCKX, R., Some principles behind the selection of crops to minimize radionuclide uptake from soil, Sci. Total Environ. 137 (1993) 135–146.
- [431] SHAW, G., HEWAMANNA, R., LILLYWHITE, J., BELL, J.N.B., Radiocaesium uptake and translocation in wheat with reference to the transfer factor concept and ion competition effects, J. Environ. Radioact. 16 (1992) 167–180.
- [432] SMOLDERS, E., VAN DEN BRANDE, K., MERCKX, R., Concentrations of ¹³⁷Cs and K in soil solution predict the plant availability of ¹³⁷Cs in soils, Environ. Sci. Technol. **31** (1997) 3432–3438.
- [433] JACKSON, W.A., CRAIG, D., LUGO, H.M., Effects of various cations on cesium uptake from soils and clay suspensions, Soil Sci. 99 (1965) 345–353.

- [434] MINOTTI, P.L., CRAIG, D., JACKSON, W.A., High caesium uptake in wheat seedlings cultured with ammonia, Soil Sci. Soc. Proc. Notes (1965) 220–221.
- [435] BONDAR, P.E., DUTOV, A.I., "Parameters of radiocaesium transfer into oats harvest on lime soils in connection with the application of mineral fertilizers and chemical ameliorants", Collections of Scientific Works – Problems of Agricultural Radiology, Kiev (1992) 125–132.
- [436] BELLI, M., et al., The effect of fertilizer applications on ¹³⁷Cs uptake by different plant species and vegetation types, J. Environ. Radioact. 27 (1995) 75–89.
- [437] LASAT, M.M., FUHRMANN, M., EBBS, S.D., CORNISH, J.E., KOCHIAN, L.V., Phytoremediation of radiocaesium-contaminated soil: Evaluation of cesium-137 bioaccumulation in the shoots of three plant species, J. Environ. Qual. 27 (1998) 165–169.
- [438] SOROCHINSKY, B., "Application of phytoremediation technologies in real conditions in the Chernobyl zone", Chernobyl Phytoremediation and Biomass Energy Conversion Workshop (Proc. Workshop, Slavutych, Ukraine, 1998), Slavutych Laboratory for International Research and Technology, Slavutych, Ukraine (1998) 229–234.
- [439] DUSHENKOV, S., PAGE, D., "Evaluation of crop plants potential for the phytoextraction of ¹³⁷Cs", Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (4th Int. Symp. and Exhibition, Warsaw, 1998), Institute for Ecology of Industrial Areas, Katowice (1998).
- [440] DELVAUX, B., KRUYTS, N., BOUCHAMA, H., LEWYCKYJ, N., "Rhizosphere processes affecting the mobilisation of radiocaesium in forest soils", Topical Days on Phytomanagement of Contaminated Environments (VANDEN-HOVE, H., Ed.), Rep. SCK-CEN BLG-844, SCK•CEN, Mol (2000) 25–28.
- [441] SALT, D.E., et al., Phytoremediation: A novel strategy for the removal of toxic metals from the environment using plants, Nature Biotechnol. 13 (1995) 468–474.
- [442] THIBAULT, D.H., SHEPPARD, M.I., SMITH, P.A., A Critical Compilation and Review of Default Soil Solid/Liquid Partition Coefficients, K_d, for Use in Environmental Assessments, Rep. AECL-10125, Whiteshell Nuclear Research Establishment, Pinawa (1990).
- [443] WAUTERS, J., Radiocaesium in Aquatic Sediments: Sorption, Remobilization and Fixation, PhD Thesis 246, Katholieke Univ. Leuven (1994).
- [444] DUSHENKOV, V., KUMAR, P.B.A.N., MOTTO, H., RASKIN, I., Rhizofiltration: The use of plants to remove heavy metals from aqueous streams, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 1239–1245.
- [445] OTTE, M.L., KEARNS, C.C., DOYLE, M.O., Accumulation of arsenic and zinc in the rhizosphere of wetland plants, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 55 (1995) 154–161.
- [446] COONEY, C.M., Sunflowers remove radionuclides from water in ongoing phytoremediation field tests, Environ. Sci. Technol. 30 (1996) 194A.
- [447] DUSHENKOV, S., et al., Removal of uranium from water using terrestrial plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 3468–3474.

GLOSSARY

- AMD. Acid mine drainage.
- **ARD.** Acid rock drainage.
- ATP. Adenosine triphosphate.
- **CF.** Concentration factor for a radionuclide between different environmental compartments, for example soil solution and plants (ratio of Bq/g plant to Bq/mL water or soil solution).
- **electrowinning.** Concentration of metals from a pregnant solution using electrolysis techniques.
- NADH. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide.
- pregnant. Said of metal bearing leach solutions after contact with the ore.
- **TF.** Transfer factor for a radionuclide between different environmental compartments, for example soil and plants. Unit depends on the original (activity) concentration units for the respective compartments.
- **SRC.** Short rotation coppice. Woodland management scheme whereby rapidly growing tree species are cut every few years to harvest the biomass.

CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW

Blowes, D.	University of Waterloo, Canada
Bogdevitch, I.	Belorussian Research Institute for Soil Sciences and Agrochemistry, Belarus
Falck, W.E.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Jova Sed, L.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Read, D.	University of Reading, United Kingdom
Regens, J.L.	Oklahoma University, United States of America
Sand, W.	Universität Hamburg, Germany
Tsezos, M.	National Technical University of Athens, Greece
Vandenhove, H.	SCK•CEN, Belgium